Some psychological and social factors in relapse after long-term abstinence in substance use disorder

by

Fredrik D. Moe

Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of PHILOSOPHIAE DOCTOR (PhD)



The faculty of Social Sciences The department of Social Studies 2023 University of Stavanger NO-4036 Stavanger NORWAY www.uis.no

©2023. Fredrik D. Moe

ISBN:978-82-8439-165-6 ISSN:1890-1387 PhD: Thesis UiS No. 700

Scientific environment

This thesis was completed within the institutional framework of the PhD program at the Faculty of Social Sciences, Department of Social Studies, University of Stavanger. It was also done in collaboration with the Center for Alcohol and Drug Research, Stavanger University Hospital.

Acknowledgements

There are a lot of people without whom it would not have been possible to complete this thesis. First, I must express my deepest gratitude to the participants in the Stayer study. Without your hard effort and persistence, I would not have had anything to write a thesis on. Moreover, I extend my sincere gratitude to the staff of the participating clinical services, the KORFOR staff, and in particular, Thomas Solgaard Svendsen, Anne-Lill Mjolhus Njaa, and Janne Aarstad, who collected all the initial and follow-up data. I would also like to thank my co-authors and supervisors. Their detailed and precise feedback seasoned with encouragement has made these years enlightening and enjoyable. My most profound sense of gratitude and respect to my primary supervisor Jone Bjornestad. Your critical thinking, analytic ability, and devotion have not only been inspiring, but also vital to this project. My co-supervisors, Christian Moltu and Aleksander Erga. Christian you have contributed with your extensive body of knowledge, critical reflections, and your ability to connect phenomena and concepts from a lower to a higher level has been invaluable. Aleksander, your sharp pen, reflective questions, and gaze have lifted this thesis to a higher level. I would also like to thank Sverre Nesvaag, with his more than 20 years of experience in the SUD field; Jim McKay, with his always good-humoured thoroughness and frankness; Tore Tjora, with his incredible skills in statistics and theory, always asking reflective questions driving the research forward and upholding the highest of standards; and Egon Hagen with his comments and wit. I would also like to thank the University of Stavanger for their thoughtful attention and interest. I am very grateful to Linda Flygel, my new employer at child and adolescent psychiatry, for letting me take much-needed time off to work on my thesis. This has been indispensable. Lastly, I thank my two children, Georg and Lilly, and soon-to-be wife, Kari, for making my life meaningful. Thanks for all your support.

Fredrik Moe.

Abstract

Background

Knowledge about psychological and social factors in SUD recovery is scarce. There is even less comprehension of the factors associated with relapse for people in long-term recovery.

Objective

The objective of this thesis has been to investigate psychological and social factors associated with relapse after long-term abstinence. Specifically, it investigates psychological functioning and recovery over five years, and drug-free friendships and alcohol and substance use trajectories over four years. However, to achieve this aim, it was necessary to conduct a systematic review of relapse operationalisations after short-term and long-term abstinence, and remission, recovery, slip and lapse. This review provided a foundation for investigating relapse after long-term abstinence, as a better overview of previous research made it possible to operationalise the relapse concept in accordance with prior research.

Method and hypotheses

The systematic review was conducted following the PRISMA guidelines and publishing a PROSPERO protocol. Next, two quantitative analyses were conducted using statistical modelling. These studies are based on the Stayer study (n = 208) that contains measures on psychological and social factors collected annually across five years. We postulated that improvement in psychological functioning would increase the chance of recovery and reduce the risk of relapse across five years. In the third study, we hypothesised that having drug-free friendships would reduce alcohol and substance use levels. Furthermore, we postulated that debut age and gender were associated with alcohol and substance use trajectories across four years.

Results

In the systematic review (paper I), we found that there was neither consensus on relapse operationalisations nor differentiation between early and late relapse. We found that there were significantly more shortterm than long-term studies.

In paper II, we found that improvement in psychological functioning aids recovery across five years. However, we found an annual decline in recovery scores, indicating that improvement in psychological functioning may be important to obtain recovery, but not sufficient to maintain it.

In paper III, we found that alcohol and substance use trajectories were mostly stable across four years, i.e. from first to fifth follow-up. We found that neither having drug-free friendships nor gender and debut age seemed to influence alcohol and substance use trajectories across four years.

Conclusions

In our review, we conclude that there is less knowledge about relapse after long-term abstinence, i.e. relapses happening after two years of recovery. The SUD research field appears not to differentiate between early and late relapse. Moreover, there are variations in the operationalisations of relapse, as they seem to differ in degrees of detail when representing relapse. Operationalisations of remission and recovery appear to favour abstinence over other functional measures, which is contrary to the recovery literature. Relapse seems to be regarded as a static phenomenon rather than dynamic and as an endpoint and not a change point. The variation in relapse operationalisations may make it difficult to aggregate study results and build on previous research. The knowledge base on relapse prevention after two years of recovery is scarce, which may lead to suboptimal long-term treatment.

In paper II, we conclude that improvement in psychological functioning is important for obtaining recovery, but insufficient to maintain recovery consistently across five years. Hence, there is a need for other improvements in personal and social functioning to increase the chance of obtaining and maintaining recovery.

In paper III, we discuss discrepancies between our results and previous research. Contrary to previous research, drug-free relationships were found to have little influence on reducing alcohol and drug use, while debut age and gender were unrelated to use trajectories. We conclude that research and theory on social determinants and social recovery indicate that there exists such a relationship and that there are good reasons to believe that positive support from others and a positive environment aid recovery. Consequently, our findings warrant more research.

Abbreviations

SUD = Substance Use Disorder

Stayer = Norwegian Stavanger Study of Trajectories in Addiction

RC = Recovery Capital

SDMH - Social Determinants of Mental Health

OD = Open Dialogue

PROSPERO = International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews

PRISMA-P = Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analysis for Protocols

DUD = Moderate–Severe Drug Use Disorder

AUD = Alcohol Use Disorder

AA = Alcoholic Anonymous

SBNT = Social Behaviour and Network Therapy

CRA = Community Reinforcement Approach

SST = Social Support Theory

SCL-90-R = Symptom Checklist 90 Revised

MMPI = Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory

DSM-5 = Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders - version 5

DSM-IV = Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders - version IV

ICD-10 = ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders

PSUD = Polysubstance Use Disorder

SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale

SABRS = Strengths and Barriers Recovery Scale

SEM = Structural Equation Modelling

LGM = Latent Growth Curve Analysis

LCA = Latent Class Analysis

CrediT = Contributor Roles Taxonomy

KORFOR = Alcohol and Drug Research Western Norway

REK = Regional Committees for Medical and Health Research Ethics

NESH = National Committee for Research Ethics in the Social Sciences and the Humanities

GDPR = General Data Protection Regulation

SMS = Short Messaging Service

BRIEF-A = Behavioral Rating Inventory of Executive Function – Adult Version

AUDIT = Alcohol Identification Disorder Test

DUDIT = Drug Use Disorder Identification Test

RMSEA = Root Mean Square Error of Approximation

CFI = Comparative Fit Index

SDH = Social Determinants of Health

KVARUS/NQR-SAT = National Quality Register for Substance Abuse Treatment

BR-index = The Behavioral Regulations Index

MI = Metacognition Index

GEC = Global Executive Composite

PROM-data = Patient-Reported Outcomes Measures

PREM-data = Patient-Reported Experience Measures

df = Degrees of Freedom

WLSMV = Weighted Least Square Mean and Variance adjusted

M1 = Model 1

M2 = Model 2

M3 = Model 3

EU = European Union

FAB = Frelsesarmeens Behandlingssenter

Table of Contents

Scientific environmentiii							
Acknowledgementsiv							
Abstractvi							
Abbreviationsi							
1	Intro	Introduction					
2	Background						
	2.1 Substance use disorder						
	2.2	Theories of addiction and research findings					
		2.2.1	Psychological theories and research findings	17			
		2.2.1.1	Self-regulation theory	17			
		2.2.1.2	Behavioural psychology	18			
		2.2.1.3	Biological psychology	18			
		2.2.1.4	Personality psychology	18			
		2.2.1.5	Research: the individual and relapse	19			
		2.2.2	Social psychological theories and research findings	20			
		2.2.2.1	Social learning theory	20			
		2.2.2.2	Social support theory	21			
		2.2.2.3	The Community Reinforcement Approach	21			
		2.2.2.4	Social Behaviour and Network Therapy	21			
		2.2.2.5	Research: the social context and relapse	21			
		2.2.2.6	Social and recovery capital	22			
		2.2.3	"Micro" and "macro" explanations of recovery and relapse	23			
3	Relapse after long-term abstinence						
	3.2	The rela	apse concept's relation to remission and recovery	25			
	3.3	The clinical utility of the relapse concept					
4	Resea	rch focus: Recovery and psychological and social functioning29					
	4.2	ry	29				
	4.3 Psychological functioning						
	4.4 Social functioning						
	4.5	4.5 Psychological and social predictors					
5	SUD	SUD Recovery					

	5.1 Recovery and recovery research							
		5.1.2	"The lost social context"?	40				
		5.1.3	Recovery capital: the interrelationship between person, social and community	43				
		5.1.4	Positioning the project in the recovery context	45				
6	Obje	Objective						
7	Methods							
	7.1	Systematic review						
	7.2	Quantitative methodology						
	7.3	Ethical	considerations	75				
8	Findings							
	8.1	Summa	гу рарег І	83				
	8.2	Summary paper II						
	8.3	Summa	ry paper III	84				
9	Discussion							
	9.1.	. Conceptualisation of recovery and relapse						
	9.2	The social context in SUD recovery						
	9.3	Summary						
10	Stren	gths and limitations						
11	Impli	plications for research and practice						
12	Conc	oncluding remarks						
13	Refer	eferences						
14	Figur	gure 1 – flow chart						
15	Paper	apers						
List	t of Pu	blicatior	18	150				
		Paper I -	- Is the relapse concept in studies of SUD "A one size fits all" concept systematic review of relapse operationalisations	ot? A 150				
		Paper II	- The predicting role of psychological functioning in remission and	1.50				
		Dog 11	recovery in substance use disorder across 5 years	150				
		Paper III	among a cohort of individuals with multiple substance use disorders	use s 150				

1 Introduction

In order to improve the course and outcome in the treatment of substance use disorder (SUD), service users, their families, and their support system need valid and applicable evidence-based knowledge of mechanisms and mediators for reducing relapse after long-term abstinence. Relapse in SUD is common. Empirical findings indicating high-frequent relapse in SUD (McKay & Hiller-Sturmhofel, 2011) have led some researchers to classify (serious) SUD as a chronic illness (McLellan, Lewis, O'brien, & Kleber, 2000; Scott, Dennis, Laudet, Funk, & Simeone, 2011). However, there is no consensus on the definition of relapse. There is great variation in the literature when it comes to the number of years and degree of substance reduction used to define relapse (see e.g. Calabria et al., 2010; Fleury et al., 2016; Jin, Rourke, Patterson, Taylor, & Grant, 1998; Maddux & Desmond, 1986; Maisto, Hallgren, Roos, & Witkiewitz, 2018; Moos & Moos, 2006; Witkiewitz et al., 2019; Xie, Drake, McHugo, Xie, & Mohandas, 2010). Furthermore, there are few research studies extending two years on social and personal functioning in SUD (Bjornestad, McKay, Berg, Moltu, & Nesvåg, 2020; Tiffany, Friedman, Greenfield, Hasin, & Jackson, 2012), and most treatment models are based on acute care (Dennis & Scott, 2007). Thus, knowledge about factors facilitating SUD recovery is scarce, and longterm treatment perspectives seem few. Since most studies measure shortterm treatment outcomes, it is difficult to reliably infer why people relapse after several years of abstinence. This has implications for our knowledge about SUD recovery. Recovery is a long-term, protracted, dynamic, multidimensional change process in various life domains and substance use (Vanderplasschen & Best, 2021). Presumably, then, SUD research should address long-term change processes in multiple life domains involving substance use reduction. However, the scarcity of knowledge about such recovery processes, may have plausibly resulted in an incomplete assessment of treatment needs and, thus, suboptimal treatment (McKay, 2017; McLellan, McKay, Forman, Cacciola, & Kemp, 1995; Tiffany, Friedman, Greenfield, Hasin, & Jackson, 2012).

Introduction

The purpose of this thesis is to address these shortcomings by contributing with a) a systematic review of relapse operationalisations after short-term and long-term abstinence, remission, recovery, and slip/lapse; b) a statistical analysis of the predicting role of psychological functioning in remission and recovery across five years; and c) a statistical analysis of the association between having drug-free friends and alcohol and drug use, as well as how debut age and gender influence alcohol and drug use four years after treatment.

2 Background

On a global scale, one percent of deaths are attributable to substance use (Thompson et al., 2020). Mental and substance use disorders affected more than one billion people worldwide in 2016, accounting for seven percent of the total global disease burden (Rehm & Shield, 2019). After one year of treatment, almost 2/3 of SUD patients relapse (Thompson et al., 2020), and the risk of relapse looms even after four to five years of continued abstinence (White, 2007). Thus, knowledge about factors associated with relapse after short-term and long-term abstinence is essential to increase rates of lasting SUD recovery.

2.1 Substance use disorder

SUD is classified as a mental disorder involving dependence on a particular substance or substances, such as alcohol, opiate, or stimulants (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). In the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders - version 5 (DSM-5), the diagnostic assessment states that one must fulfil at least two out of 11 diagnostic criteria in the past 12 months to qualify for a SUD, such as control-loss (criteria 1 and 2), tolerance (criteria 10), withdrawal (criteria 11), or social adversaries (criteria 5-7). Depending on the number of diagnostic criteria a person fulfils, the SUD is classified as either mild, moderate, or severe. In the ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders (ICD-10), SUD is categorised as either harmful or dependent. One must fulfil three or more of six diagnostic categories within the preceding year in order to qualify for a dependence diagnosis (World Health Organization, 1993). SUD is often defined as a chronic illness (Scott et al., 2011) involving a repeating cycle of abstinence and relapse (McKay & Hiller-Sturmhöfel, 2011).

2.2 Theories of addiction and research findings

This section outlines some psychological and social theories of addiction and related research. This literature provides an explanatory outline of how some SUD patients develop dependence and what may increase relapse risk.

2.2.1 Psychological theories and research findings

There are different psychological theories for explaining why people with SUD relapse even after a long period of abstinence (Moe, 2020). According to West and Brown (2013), SUD can result from difficulties with self-regulation, mentalisation, classical or operant conditioning, changes in brain networks, or maladapted cost-benefit analysis.

2.2.1.1 Self-regulation theory

Self-regulation theory states that actions (e.g. late relapse) occur from multiple processes in competition with each other. Self-regulation involves higher processes overriding lower processes (West & Brown, 2013). Thus, late relapse as a lower process may override remission (higher process) when the person experiences lack of self-control and low self-consciousness. For example, sleep deprivation may lead to mental and physical fatigue affecting self-control and selfconsciousness, decreasing the person's ability to self-regulate and refrain/abstain from substance use. Such a perspective is close to mentalisation-based SUD treatment (Arefjord, Morken, & Lossius, 2019). Mentalisation is defined as the ability to understand the mental state of oneself and others that underlies overt behaviour (Karterud, 2011). Poor mentalisation leads to lower self-regulation, which can contribute to the development of substance use disorder (Savov & Atanassov, 2012). One possibility is that moments of lower mentalisation capacity may jeopardise abstinence maintenance in longterm recovery, leading to a late relapse.

2.2.1.2 Behavioural psychology

Classic and operant conditioning are learning theories focusing on how cues generate impulses to engage in behaviour (e.g. late relapse). Late relapse may occur when environmental cues trigger a craving for substance use based in earlier repeated pairings of environmental stimuli with the drug effect (West & Brown, 2013). According to operant conditioning (instrumental learning), SUD may develop due to rewarding behaviour from substance use, which operates outside of conscious awareness. This is known as positive reinforcement. When the individual experiences withdrawal symptoms, this functions as a negative reinforcement to continue with substance use (to escape withdrawal symptoms) (West & Brown, 2013).

2.2.1.3 Biological psychology

The dopamine theory of drug reward argues that SUD results from the drug's effect on dopamine receptors in the nucleus accumbens in the brain (Mørland & Waal, 2016). The substance influences our natural reward system and how we perceive the drug's importance. The rewarding effect of taking the drug may increase the chances of developing SUD. The theory's relationship to late relapse may be unclear as one presumes that neuroadaptation or habituation (the central nervous system seeking equilibrium) will re-calibrate the dopamine receptors back to normal when abstinent (Mørland, 2017). Such neuroadaptation stops cravings for the drug at a neuronal level. If the receptors are destroyed, however, late relapse may be caused by a need for the drug to attain adequate dopamine levels (Kuhar, Unnerstall, & De Souza, 1985).

2.2.1.4 Personality psychology

Rational choice theory claims that SUD develops from a "rational" choice that favours the benefits of substance use over its costs (West & Brown, 2013). In this thinking, late relapse results from analysing the benefits and costs of re-initiating substance use. A Lacanian theory of

addiction states that the object (drug of choice) is supposed to satisfy the subject's drive circuit, meaning that the object is not the sole cause of the addictive behaviour (Laurita, 2018). Object relation theory (Scharff, 1996) suggests that addictive behaviours function as a substitute for a parental figure based on early childhood experiences. Psychoanalytic theories highlight how SUD and relapse may be a tool to facilitate attachment and social contact with others.

2.2.1.5 Research: the individual and relapse

Research indicates that particular personality traits, such as scoring low in conscientiousness and high on neuroticism, are associated with SUD (Terracciano, Löckenhoff, Crum, Bienvenu, & Costa, 2008). This indicates that being sloppy, impersistent, anxious, and hostile are associated with relapse. Jin et al. (1998) found that late relapse (relapse after 18 months of abstinence) was associated with psychological trait problems. They found an association between late relapse and elevated scores on the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI) Scale 4 measuring psychopathic traits.

Mental disorders and depressive emotions have been associated with early relapse, that is, relapse within the first year of abstinence (Cornelius et al., 2003; Domino et al., 2005; Nordfjærn, 2011) and low internal motivation (Andersson, Wenaas, & Nordfjærn, 2019). Furthermore, SUD patients who scored higher on somatization, hostility, and paranoid ideation on the Symptom Checklist 90 Revised (SCL-90-R) have been found to relapse within the first year of abstinence compared to SUD patients scoring lower on all SCL-90-R items (Hagen, 2018). Research indicates that late relapse is associated with low self-efficacy, avoidant coping style, and not considering problematic substance use as a problem (Moos & Moos, 2006). One explanation is that low mentalisation capacity may lead to low self-efficacy and increase the probability of late relapse. However, studies deploy different abstinence time criteria for what constitutes early and late relapse. Different definitions of early and late relapse may indicate dissensus about relapse boundaries (Moe, Moltu, McKay, Nesvaag, & Bjornestad, 2021). It seems that adequate psychological functioning or health may be necessary to refrain from substance use.

Intrapsychic theories often presume, either implicitly or explicitly, that they encompass most of the explained variance. In this respect, they may be criticised for not paying enough attention to aspects beyond their core constructs or contextual aspects, and hence, they may overlook a complex understanding of the multitude of cause-and-effect relationships behind human behaviour. Clearly, an understanding of individuals' relapse and recovery only by individual or intrapsychic factors would be insufficient, as these processes do not occur in a social, societal or relational vacuum.

2.2.2 Social psychological theories and research findings

Social theories of addiction focus on how the individual is embedded in social relationships and how this influences behaviour such as substance use, relapse, or recovery.

2.2.2.1 Social learning theory

Social learning theory states that we learn new behaviours by observing and imitating others (Myers & Smith, 2012). Bandura (1978) claimed that, although inner motives are relevant, a person's behaviour depends largely on the social context. In this respect, a person's self-efficacy, that is, belief in oneself to produce desired effects based on their actions (Bandura, 1999), is influenced by the environment. Self-efficacy is claimed to be the core of the human agency. Furthermore, self-efficacy interacts within a broad network of sociocultural networks (Bandura, 1999).

2.2.2.2 Social support theory

Social support theory (SST) focuses on the positive association between social support and well-being (Cohen & Wills, 1985). SST argues that social support protects people and provides a resource to handle stressful events, e.g. exposure to substances when abstinent. In this context, SST argues that having social support and using that support creates a buffer against relapse.

2.2.2.3 The Community Reinforcement Approach

The Community Reinforcement Approach (CRA) (Meyers, Roozen, & Smith, 2011) uses operant conditioning principles to rearrange the lifestyle of people with addiction, making a drug-free lifestyle rewarding or at least competing with the lifestyle of drug-taking. CRA focuses on gradually involving people with addiction in pleasant social activities and increasing the enjoyment of community activities, such as work (Meyers et al., 2011).

2.2.2.4 Social Behaviour and Network Therapy

Social Behaviour and Network Therapy (SBNT) (Copello, Williamson, Orford, & Day, 2006) regards social network support as the hallmark of remission and recovery maintenance. SBNT aims to enhance the contact between the SUD patient and family and friends in order to mobilise and develop social network support for changing SUD behaviour. A common feature of all the social theories is that they favour social relations as the factor improving SUD.

2.2.2.5 Research: the social context and relapse

People with SUD have sustained abstinence for more extended periods if they have social support, such as Alcoholic Anonymous meetings (AA) (Nesvåg & McKay, 2018) and recovery-oriented social networks, including an explicit focus on employment and contact with friends and family (Hendershot, Witkiewitz, George, & Marlatt, 2011; Weisner, Ray, Mertens, Satre, & Moore, 2003; Aakerholt & Nesvåg, 2012). Furthermore, positive change in social contact has been associated with increased quality of life and possibly decreased substance use (Muller, Skurtveit, & Clausen, 2019; Vigdal, Moltu, Bjornestad, & Selseng, 2022).

2.2.2.6 Social and recovery capital

Social support may be related to increased social capital (Bourdieu, 1977; Davidson et al., 2010). Social capital refers to the social investments an individual can make for herself and others, including trust, emotional support, integration, identity, social interaction, reciprocity, and community (Maddux, 2017). Presumably, social capital is essential to people with SUD as recovery involves reintegration into the community and establishing a new identity, new social networks, and trustful relationships with others. In addition to social capital, Bourdieu distinguishes between economic and cultural capital (Aanesen, 2021). Economic capital refers to an individual's economic resources, while cultural capital is the cultural characteristics and skills that provide access to work, education, and prestigious social networks. The concept of social capital is related to recovery capital (RC) in SUD research (Hennessy, 2017).

RC refers to personal, social, and community dimensions where each dimension comprises assets aiding an individual's recovery (Best & Hennessy, 2021). These dimensions are interrelated and may influence the capacity for social adjustment, which may reduce the chances of late relapse. Poor social adjustment is related to substance use (Hagen, 2018), and SUD patients who do not relapse have sufficient social support (Nesvåg & McKay, 2018). Studies on short-term relapse indicated particular risk factors such as unemployment and lack of social support (Nordfjærn, 2011), while protective factors included social support and 12-step affiliation (Laudet & White, 2008). In this context, it is suggested

that social support acts as a buffer against stress which again protects the individual against relapse (Laudet, Morgen, & White, 2006).

Interpersonal theories often presume, either implicitly or explicitly, that the social context accounts for most of the observed behaviour. For example, Durkheim's theory of suicide has been criticized for giving too much explanatory weight to societal aspect when explaining individual behaviour (Mueller, Abrutyn, Pescosolido, & Diefendorf, 2021). There is also the risk of considering the observed behaviour to mainly be a result of the treatment intervention (Kverme, Natvik, Veseth, & Moltu, 2019) or to study it primarily through a particular construct; social network theory states that interpersonal bonds are information-carrying connections between people. Evidently, the individual may have their own reasons or feelings or idiosyncrasies to why they relapsed or are in recovery that may not be wholly explained by the person's social and material context.

2.2.3 "Micro" and "macro" explanations of recovery and relapse

When seeking to understand complex aspects of human behaviour such as relapse and recovery, intra- and interpersonal explanations should supplement one another. It is, however, not possible to conduct a comprehensive and exhaustive study of such a complex phenomenon within the scope of one PhD-thesis. I have investigated changes in participants' characteristics and their relationships which are claimed to be associated with recovery from a professional-led perspective. This may give insight into which individual characteristics are particularly important for obtaining and maintaining recovery from SUD on a grouplevel. Such research may provide important insights for clinical practitioners tailoring care. My choice of studying relapse and recovery in these ways influence my position as a researcher. I approach my research object from a "quantitative gaze" that does not take the participants' view into account. In other words, I investigate recovery from a researcher-defined perspective with objectified outcomes which exclude the first-person perspective. Community aspects could arguably have been taken more into consideration. In chapters four and five, I will elaborate on how my choice is connected to the clinical recovery tradition.

3 Relapse after long-term abstinence

3.2 The relapse concept's relation to remission and recovery

'Relapse' refers to a return to a previous level of substance use after a period of considerable reduction or abstinence from substance use. Miller (1996) argues that the dichotomous classification of abstinence and relapse is too simple for such complex phenomena. He shows that the definition of the 'relapse' concept is elusive and does not adequately reflect how behaviour change occurs in SUD. For example, research shows that recovery and remission include periods of abstinence with gradual reduction of substance use along with improvement in other psychosocial areas (Miller, 1996; Witkiewitz et al., 2019) in cases where periods of substance use and abstinence are common (for some people but not all). Thus, a binary dichotomy between abstinence and relapse does not capture that recovery is an ongoing dynamic behaviour change process including diverse pathways to obtain and maintain recovery (Witkiewitz, Montes, Schwebel, & Tucker, 2020). In this regard, Miller (1996) shows how the 'relapse' concept is related to recovery and remission, and in turn, that they are dynamic rather than static phenomena. Likewise, a standard definition of relapse might be challenging to pinpoint, and thus specific definitions might be more helpful. For example, a relapse might differ depending on the type of substance use, demographic group, and context. Additionally, a binary definition of relapse may leave out the subtle difference between a relapse and a slip or lapse, i.e. a minor setback not as severe as a relapse.

Moreover, research on relapse, remission, and recovery, both in SUD and in related fields, demonstrates that there is a plausible difference in causal factors between relapse after short-term abstinence (hereafter: early relapse) and long-term abstinence (hereafter: late relapse). In the long term, positive changes in functioning, including social and professional functioning, as well as a sense of community belonging and identity change, are more protracted processes than symptomatic relief or symptomatic remission (Bjornestad et al., 2020; Davidson et al., 2007a; Leamy, Bird, Le Boutillier, Williams, & Slade, 2011; Price-Robertson, Obradovic, & Morgan, 2017). Martinelli et al. (2020) found that recovery is a gradual, long-term process that includes distinct phases involving various life domains beyond abstinence. Such results indicate that recovery is an ongoing dynamic process of behavioural change (Witkiewitz et al., 2020). Individuals in long-term recovery typically have fewer problems related to housing, criminality, and substance use and are more likely to be employed or attend education than individuals early in recovery (Martinelli et al., 2020). Thus, late relapse plausibly involves other challenges in social behaviours and functioning compared to early relapse. Furthermore, studies on first-year abstinence suggest that cognitive functioning and learning ability are significantly reduced during the first year of abstinence, likely making these factors more prominent in early relapse (Ersche et al., 2005; Hagen et al., 2017). Moreover, the early physical demands induced by symptoms of withdrawal (Li, Caprioli, & Marchant, 2015) and the need for change in nutrition and physical exercise are more prominent in early relapse (Brady, Gray, & Tolliver, 2011). Thus, early relapse will plausibly involve reduced cognitive and physical capacity. In sum, these findings indicate that early and late relapse are related to different life domains, and hence that they are different phenomena.

Based on the discussion above, late relapse may differ from early relapse. SUD research also seems to substantiate such distinction. Early relapse seems to be associated with depressive emotions, mental illness, unemployment, and lack of social support (Cornelius et al., 2003; Domino et al., 2005; Nordfjærn, 2011). Late relapse appears to be associated with the use of avoidant coping style, low self-efficacy, and not considering problematic substance use as a problem (Moos & Moos, 2006). However, there seems to be no consensus on operationalisations

of 'early and 'late' relapse nor on the application of time criteria. For early relapse, some studies used 2–6 months (Cornelius et al., 2003), while others used 3–12 months (Nordfjærn, 2011). For late relapse, some studies used 18 months (Jin et al., 1998), while others used three years (Moos & Moos, 2006). Thus, the existing literature makes it difficult to establish whether a relapse is, in fact, early or late. This thesis distinguishes late relapse by operating with a five-year time scope.

3.3 The clinical utility of the relapse concept

Previous research (Maisto, Witkiewitz, Moskal, & Wilson, 2016) suggests that the concept of relapse in AUD has low heuristic value, i.e. that it is poorly equipped to advance clinical research and practice. Hence, it is uncertain if current relapse operationalisations have clinical utility, which touches upon the translation of results from SUD research into SUD practice. According to Maisto et al. (2016), the clinical utility of the relapse concept was low because it is operationalised differently in different studies and is not based in theory. This makes it challenging for SUD research to advance clinical knowledge because it is cumbersome to build on results across research.

A suggested solution to this problem is to define relapse as an absence of abstinence (Sliedrecht, de Waart, Witkiewitz, & Roozen, 2019). However, a too narrow or too broad definition of relapse may hide phasespecific needs and challenges during the course of recovery and thus make it more difficult to implement well-timed and tailored treatment efforts. Furthermore, without a coherent operationalisation of the relapse concept, there will be a risk that the phenomenon is inadequately represented, making it difficult to compare study results and implement relapse prevention. This resonates with what Hagger (2014) denotes as the 'déjà-variable' phenomenon and the 'jingle' fallacy. Taken together, they refer to the presumption that the same construct has similar meaning across studies when, in fact, different terminology has been applied to the same construct. This might lead reviewers to conclude that findings of relapse are inconsistent when, in fact, the inconsistency is due to differences in terminology.

One possible solution to the problem of translating SUD research findings into SUD practice and increasing clinical utility may be to include functional and recovery measures when studying relapse. This may be possible if we view relapse as a process rather than as an endpoint (Chung & Maisto, 2006; Maisto et al., 2016), i.e. as a process of behaviour change rather than an outcome. In this perspective, relapse is seen as a setback to a problematic pattern of use rather than any return to use. If SUD research views 'relapse' as a problematic pattern of use, it might be easier to include other features pertinent to the setback. At least it will perceive 'relapse' as a dynamic rather than static process.

These challenges correspond to the conceptual issues that led schizophrenia research to expand its outcome measures. The field received criticism for relying too much on symptom scales as a measure of efficacy when, in fact, it had low effectiveness, i.e. the translation of results from randomized clinical trials into clinical practice was poor (Friesen, 2019). Additionally, there was increasing awareness of the difference between factors considered by symptom scales and the factors thought of as essential for those diagnosed with schizophrenia. The latter has been seen as promoted by the recovery movement and their demand to include more meaningful outcomes in research (Friesen, 2019). These criticisms lead to the development of recovery measures focusing on personal, professional, and social functioning, such as work, school, hope, and relationships, rather than symptom scales which focus on, e.g. the presence of hallucination.

4 Research focus: Recovery and psychological and social functioning

This thesis investigates whether improvement in psychological functioning aids clinical recovery and whether drug-free friendships influence alcohol and drug use and recovery across five years. I postulate that this will be related to late relapse risk. In this section, I will elaborate on this choice of focus.

4.2 Recovery

Recovery is a protracted, heterogeneous, multidimensional process (Witkiewitz et al., 2020). It is common to separate recovery into clinical, personal, and relational recovery. A conceptual difference is often explained by demarcating between recovery in and recovery from a health problem. *Recovery in* falls within personal and relational recovery frameworks. From this perspective, substance misuse (or mental health) suffering is understood as experiences that constitute challenges for the person trying to live well, and health is understood as finding meaningful ways of living with, rather than getting rid of, these experiences (Davidson, 2016; Davidson & Roe, 2007). Recovery from falls within a clinical recovery framework where substance misuse suffering is understood within a medical meta-model. Here, the focus is on alleviating symptoms and helping the individual to return to a healthy state after the onset of illness. There is a tendency in the recovery from perspective not to problematise illness or disease conceptualisation. Such problematisation seems to be more prominent in recovery in.

Clinical recovery refers to SUD as a distinct disorder containing specific core symptoms. The symptoms are based on researcher-derived thresholds, predefined objectives, and time criteria to decide stable recovery (Bjornestad et al., 2020). It focuses on *recovery from* SUD. The traditional view of clinical recovery seems to be too narrow and have too short temporal criteria. Often it appears to conflate recovery with abstinence (see paper I).

Within a personal recovery framework, recovery is treated as an individualised process that goes beyond reducing symptoms, focusing on personal identity change, community belonging, and the ability to build a life even though one's condition may impose limitations (Davidson et al., 2007b). Five long-term processes recognise personal recovery: identity, hope and optimism, connectedness, empowerment, and meaning in life (Leamy et al., 2011). Relational recovery is a critique of clinical and personal recovery based on the claim that these frameworks are too focused on recovery as an individualised process and thus fail to capture the interpersonal embeddedness and social contexts of recovery (Price-Robertson et al., 2017). Personal and relational recovery frameworks fall within recovery in. These frameworks seem to have challenges with a consistent conceptualisation of recovery. One possible weakness is that the five long-term processes mentioned by Leamy et al. (2011) are based on samples with vague recovery criteria, such as "defined themselves to be in recovery" or "not hospitalized during the last 12 months". It is challenging to assess what these criteria reflect and, thus, how the research results may apply to others in recovery. Concerning the relational recovery framework, what may be challenging is how to include recovery's intersubjectivity when conducting quantitative research. For instance, a person's well-being or identity may be inconceivable outside a social and material context, but this context may be difficult to implement when creating variables or conducting statistical analysis. Given these reflections, and this project's aim to contribute to improved measurable operationalisations, I considered the clinical recovery framework as a constructive foundation to depart from. Research on clinical recovery may progress clinical practice. However, the clinical recovery tradition needs to discuss how it constructs disease, which may result from how psychiatry conceptualises psychopathology (Moe & de Cuzzani, 2022).

Although the three recovery definitions focus on different aspects, they all consider symptom reduction significant to obtaining and maintaining recovery. A critical distinction between *recovery in* and *recovery from* is that *recovery in* focuses on both living well despite ongoing symptoms in addition to treating the condition (Davidson & Roe, 2007).

Clinical recovery includes a temporal criterion indicating stability in behavioural change. Although there is no clear consensus on the temporal criterion, a minimum duration of two years has been suggested (Liberman, Kopelowicz, Ventura, & Gutkind, 2002). Presumably, after two years of stable change, including a decrease in symptoms and an increase in functioning, change has begun to consolidate despite the experience of relapse or lapse (Liberman et al., 2002; Slade et al., 2012). However, temporal criteria range from three to five years (White, 2007). At least for serious addictions, addiction research suggests a temporal criterion of five years to be necessary to reflect the extensive changes in personal identity needed to manage a drug-free lifestyle (Chappel, 1993; el-Guebaly, 2012; White & Schulstad, 2009). In this context, there is a need for long-term SUD research on personal and social functioning, clarifying the extent to which they influence SUD patients' ability to attain and sustain clinical recovery.

The three recovery frameworks overlap to some degree but contain important distinctions. In chapter five, I will elaborate on why my position mostly falls within clinical recovery in this thesis. It has been demanding to settle on a particular position.

4.3 Psychological functioning

The above sections have discussed different psychological theories and research. This literature illustrates how inadequate psychological functioning may be related to SUD in various degrees. Psychological functioning is the individual's capacity to overcome everyday life obstacles, promote well-being and capacity to recover, and take part in and contribute to the community (Johannessen, Nordfjærn, & Geirdal, 2019; World Health Organization, 2014). Improvement in psychological functioning is associated with SUD recovery (Mericle, Cacciola, Carise,

& Miles, 2014; Polcin, Korcha, Gupta, Subbaraman, & Mericle, 2016). A recent systematic review suggested that decrease in psychological distress and increase in psychological functioning, among other psychosocial factors, were associated with better coping behaviour and RC after SUD inpatient treatment (Johannessen et al., 2019). However, the authors concluded that there was a lack of knowledge on the long-term effects of how these factors are associated with coping behaviour after SUD treatment.

Psychological functioning increases after treatment entry and continued abstinence maintenance (Andreas, Lauritzen, & Nordfjærn, 2015; Booth et al., 2010). Contrary, relapse to drug use predicted decreased psychological functioning at six and twelve months of follow-up (Grella & Shi, 2011). Similarly, Erga et al. (2020) found that poor psychological functioning is associated with drug use and relapse risk. Thus, poorer psychological functioning seems associated with relapse and *vice versa*.

4.4 Social functioning

In this thesis, social functioning is understood in a broad sense, including relational and community features. This perspective acknowledges humans as social and bodily beings living in a material and social world (Fjelland, 2020). Human psychology does not operate in a vacuum. Hence, it may be presumed that improvement in psychological functioning requires a nurturing environment, in social relationships and in the community in general. The American academic Theodore Roszak elucidates this relationship through a thought example: Imagine watching a psychiatrist at work who is gifted, hardworking, and caring. His waiting room is full of patients. The practice is going well. The patients struggle with all sorts of troubling symptoms: emotional disorders, suicidal depression, horrific nightmares, and paranoid thoughts of persecution, surveillance, and harm. The psychiatrist listens attentively to each case and does his best to heal them without much success. Alas, they seem to be getting worse. Now, Roszak asks us to take a step back and view the scene from a larger context. The psychiatrist's office is in a building, and the building is in a place called Buchenwald. In this concentration camp, the patients are prisoners (Roszak, 2001). This example suggests that in order to understand how improvements in psychological functioning come about, it is necessary to include a broader perspective.

Research on social determinants of health (SDH), i.e. non-medical factors that affect health outcomes, illustrates this (World Health Organization, 2017). SDH refers to the conditions in which people are born, grow up, and live. SDH research shows that the lower the socioeconomic position, the worse the health (World Health Organization, 2017). In other words, illness and health follow a social gradient. Thus, increased well-being and psychological functioning rely on social and political structures. These structures form the conditions of everyday life.

There are similar social determinants of mental health (SDMH). A recent review of SDMH shows that positive family relationships, social support, community belonging, and trust in others are associated with mental health outcomes (Alegría, NeMoyer, Falgàs Bagué, Wang, & Alvarez, 2018). Additionally, perceived emotional support may protect against the development of mental disorders. Moreover, in Norway, there is an association between unemployment, having mental challenges or physical disabilities, and being unsatisfied with life (Statistisk sentralbyrå, 2020, 2021). Thus, the individual's life situation is related to their satisfaction with life. In this regard, it seems that a particular life situation, i.e. an individual's material, cultural, social, economic, and political context, influences satisfaction with life, mental health, and physical health. Why do these features matter for people in general and maybe in particular for people in recovery? One reason is that social circumstances may shape behaviour and influence the health of people with SUD (Galea & Vlahov, 2002), while another is that there is a relationship between increased vulnerability to substance use and exposure to toxic childhood environments (Amaro, Sanchez, Bautista, &

Cox, 2021). Thus, socially based stressors, both early and ongoing, seems to influence people's vulnerability to substance use.

Contributory citizenship and community belonging may provide an explanation to why structural aspects influence recovery. A citizen is a member of a political community and have particular rights and obligations, and citizenship is viewed as the relationship between the state and the individual (De La Paz, 2012). Rowe and Davidson (2016) discuss 'recovery citizenship' in relation to how an individual may be provided access to fundamental rights and obligations despite being ill, such as supported employment or housing. This type of support may contribute to a sense of duty or obligation to society and, thus, a sense of participation and inclusion in society. I would argue that employment may create a sense of duty to society, e.g. through paying taxes that contribute to welfare goods for all citizens, that may strengthen an individual's sense of citizenship. In Norway citizens have a right to unemployment benefit if they are unemployed, but they are obliged to find new employment. This exemplifies the reciprocal relationship between the state and the individual. However, there is also a need to experience belonging in society and be validated by others (Quinn, Bromage, & Rowe, 2020). This may be related to Prilleltensky's (2021) concept of *mattering*, i.e. people's experiences of feeling valued and adding value. In order to be a contributory citizen and experience a sense of belonging in the community, people need to experience 'mattering'. Di Martino and Prilleltensky (2020) showed that social capital and social justice in 28 European countries were related to national life satisfaction. Their finding emphasises that friends and family, social networks, trust, and participation in society (social capital), and equal access to welfare and participation in society, such as work, and health (social justice), are associated with life satisfaction. Adequate social capital and social justice seem essential in mattering. Prilleltensky (2020) underscores a balance between adding value to others, such as the community, work,

relationships, and oneself and experiencing being valued by others, such as the community.

Mattering appears essential to SUD recovery. A recent review suggests that social support facilitating healthy community belonging is essential to obtaining and maintaining SUD recovery (Vigdal et al., 2022). People in SUD recovery described how important it was for them to experience a sense of value to others and be valued in order to sustain recovery (Veseth et al., 2021). Moreover, personal, social, and community resources (RC) have been consistently shown to reduce the risk of relapse while promoting recovery (Vanderplasschen & Best, 2021).

A person might have limited capacity to enter into social arenas that would be helpful or supportive, but the issue might also be reversed. There may be structural limitations for persons who need it to access important social arenas, for example through stigma processes. Stigma might constitute a significant challenge for those in recovery. For instance, people in recovery who perceived themselves to be stigmatised had less RC and self-esteem compared to those who did not have this belief (Ashford, Brown, Canode, McDaniel, & Curtis, 2019). Such perceptions may hinder access to the social environment which, according to the relational recovery framework, is pivotal to recovery. Additionally, clinical and personal recovery frameworks suggest that social factors are essential to recovery. There is also the possibility that people who have not integrated stigma may be denied access to social arenas, i.e. it may be the case that stigma is not caused by something within the person but by structural discrimination such as denied access to employment because of criminal history (van Olphen, Eliason, Freudenberg, & Barnes, 2009).

4.5 Psychological and social predictors

SUD recovery criteria are operationalised in research in various ways (Best & Hennessy, 2021). Recovery criteria typically include stable

substance abstinence and adequate personal and social functioning such as housing, drug-free friends, attending work or school, and income (Moe et al., 2021; Svendsen et al., 2020), but may also include criminality, role functioning, global functioning, satisfaction with life, and mental health (Bjornestad et al., 2020; Witkiewitz et al., 2019). SUD recovery predictors are suggested to be meaning in life, social networks, 12-step affiliation, social support, spirituality, mental health, employment, coping style, and self-efficacy (Cornelius et al., 2003; Domino et al., 2005; Kelly, Stout, Greene, & Slaymaker, 2014; Laudet & White, 2008; Moos & Moos, 2006; Nordfjærn, 2011). However, there is a lack of longitudinal studies on SUD recovery extending two years of follow-up, and studies mainly focus on substance use reduction rather than functioning (Bjornestad et al., 2020; Tiffany et al., 2012).

Drug-free friendships are suggested as essential part of the recovery process (McKay, 2017; Vigdal et al., 2022). Supportive friendships in recovery networks, such as Alcoholics Anonymous or non-drug using social networks, are related to sustained abstinence (Best et al., 2016; Drake, O'Neal, & Wallach, 2008; Nesvåg & McKay, 2018; Weisner et al., 2003) and reduced relapse risk (Ness, Borg, & Davidson, 2014; Nordfjærn, 2011). Through social support, drug-free friendships facilitate sustained recovery (Lookatch, Wimberly, & McKay, 2019). Having supportive friendships is proposed as crucial to recovery (Vigdal et al., 2022), while it is indicated that having unsupportive drug-free friendships negatively affects recovery (Dennis, Foss, & Scott, 2007; Groh, Jason, & Keys, 2008). It is suggested that SUD patients in recovery spend more time with peers in recovery than those not in recovery, which is associated with reduced relapse risk (Ellis, Bernichon, Yu, Roberts, & Herrell, 2004; van Melick, McCartney, & Best, 2013). However, studies have found that some people in recovery keep in touch with peers who are still using illegal substances (Flaherty, Kurtz, White, & Larson, 2014; Gueta, Chen, & Ronel, 2021). Having friends who are addicted may compromise one's recovery, i.e. increase the risk of relapse (Havassy,
Hall, & Wasserman, 1991). In general, research indicates that social support may be positive, negative, or mixed in promoting recovery (McCrady, 2004). Moreover, it seems that the quality of drug-free relationships trumps the size of the social networks and whether they support abstinence or substance reduction.

In this section I will address concerns in recovery conceptualisation and recovery research. In my discussion of SUD and recovery, I will focus on the interdependency between the individual and the social.

5.1 Recovery and recovery research

As mentioned above, few longitudinal studies focus on functional measures and substance reduction (Bjornestad et al., 2020). However, there are also few studies on mechanisms and mediators of recovery (Vanderplasschen & Best, 2021). Recovery mechanisms refer to active interventions such as treatment or mutual aid groups or changes in the persons' lives that facilitate recovery, while recovery mediators are fixed characteristics such as gender, social positions, or age (Vanderplasschen & Best, 2021). Additionally, as Best and Hennessy (2021) argue, there is an urgent need for conceptual and operational development of RC, i.e. of a clarification of how to conceptualise and measure recovery gains and assets. Topor, Boe, and Larsen (2022) discuss the 'psychiatrisation' of recovery. They argue that clinical and personal recovery frameworks disregard social recovery, i.e. the social and interpersonal context of individuals' recovery processes. 'Psychiatrisation' refers to psychiatry's position in society and to the complex relationship between people, society, and psychiatry, where psychiatric institutions, practices, and knowledge affect an increasing number of peoples' lives (Topor et al., 2022). In this context, RC may reduce 'psychiatrisation' as RC broadens our understanding of recovery.

Best and Hennessy (2021) state that there are two understandings of SUD recovery. One, promulgated by e.g. The Betty Ford Institute Consensus Panel (2007), claims that abstinence is a necessary part of recovery, while the other, represented by the UK Drug Policy Commission (2008) and White (2007), focuses on quality of life and life functioning. In paper II, the focus is on clinical recovery, which may be said to be too objectivist or based on researcher-derived criteria, I nonetheless consider

this framework as valuable when it includes functional measures. However, such a stance may lead to methodological individualism, i.e. focusing too much on effect of respectively inner qualities (psychological functioning) or external aspects (work or drug-free friendships) on the recovery process. Methodological individualism mainly focuses on individual explanations and may regard recovery as detached from social factors. This is exactly what the relational recovery framework criticises (Price-Robertson et al., 2017). This framework argues that recovery is inconceivable outside of social, material, and economic contexts, a framework which I endorse. This latter perspective is more in line with methodological collectivism.

It is also important to recognise that people may be in the process of recovery, while having ongoing symptoms (Friesen, 2019) and that people with addictions may function well even in the case of inebriety (Witkiewitz & Tucker, 2020; Witkiewitz et al., 2019). For instance, a recovery framework that mainly promotes abstinence is too narrow for patients in Methadone Maintenance Treatment as this treatment often focuses on harm reduction (Frank, 2019), which inevitably involves varying degrees of substance use. Lancaster, Duke, and Ritter (2015) have examined how British and Australian drug policy describe and represent recovery, suggesting that they frame drug users as either responsible individuals or as patients. The authors argue that this is infused by implicit neoliberal (Britain) and medical (Australia) discourse and include "morally-weighted" concepts such as individual responsibility or what it means to live a productive life. Thus, we should be aware of how recovery frameworks may not be all-encompassing and that they are likely to include taken for granted assumptions. This is not special to recovery research; all sciences rests on philosophical preconditions (Andersen, Anjum, & Rocca, 2019). In their everyday scientific inquiries, scientists are guided by what they perceive the world to be (ontology), what they think they can know about it (epistemology) and how they think science should be practised (normative). These

preconditions are normally implicit. When it comes to the psychiatrisation of recovery, it seems Topor et al. (2022) argue that clinical and personal recovery typically rests on a philosophical precondition of putting the individual in the foreground, and not paying enough attention to its social context, i.e. recovery as interpersonal and intrapersonal. However, this is a matter of degree, as clinical and personal recovery may include a social context (Price-Robertson et al., 2017; Slade, 2009).

5.1.2 "The lost social context"?

Although the psychiatrisation of recovery focuses on mental health (Topor et al., 2022), its critique appears equally pertinent to the SUD field as it has adopted mental health recovery frameworks, although with some modifications. Topor et al. (2022) extend the critique put forward by relational recovery frameworks by including how current recovery perspectives and research on recovery perpetuates a distinction between clinical and personal recovery through psychiatrisation. Topor et al. (2022) borrow the concept of 'psychiatrisation' from Beeker et al. (2021) who claim that psychiatry affects peoples' lives to a larger degree than before. Psychiatrisation is related to similar societal critiques of psychiatry and medicine through concepts such as medicalisation, pathologization, psychologisation, and individualisation (Brinkmann, 2016; Conrad, 1992; Madsen, 2018b; Whitaker, 2010). These concepts have in common the critical perspective that psychiatry has individualised mental disorders, or mental problems, pathologized normal behaviour, sought to understand human suffering mainly from a biomedical framework, and excluded the social environment. Beeker et al. (2021) have observed that psychiatry has increased its influence on several societal dimensions even though the prevalence of mental disorders has been stable. The same has been stated about psychiatric disorders in Norway; the prevalence has been stable while the reporting of mental trouble has increased (Madsen, 2018a). One possible reason

for the increased reporting of mental troubles is that a therapeutic or psychiatric discourse is dominating in Western society (Madsen, 2018a).

Topor et al. (2022) suggest that the individualisation and 'responsibilisation' in Western society through neo-liberal politics and de-psychiatrisation of the patient, amongst other things, have affected the understanding of recovery. Karadzhov (2021) claims that most of the personal recovery literature on mental health has disregarded the impact of diverse socio-structural inequalities in the recovery process. It should be mentioned that Karadzhov (2021) refers to qualitative addiction studies that consider socio-structural aspects such as homelessness to a larger degree compared to mental health studies. SUD studies that neglect the social context of SUD patients risk upholding an atomised view of recovery as a result primarily of individual factors. According to Topor et al. (2022), this view distanced itself from the social, contextual, and material aspects of an individual's recovery. This led to a focus on individual and medical solutions to their illnesses rather than sociostructural ones. In this regard, the Open Dialogue (OD) approach is promising. OD is a psychosocial approach to treating mental illness which is less 'psychiatrising' as it may limit the use of neuroleptics, reduce mental illness problems, and reduce the use of psychiatric services (von Peter et al., 2021). Additionally, it is possible to receive treatments not solely based on a bio-medical framework (Cooper, Mason, Calton, Richardson, & Moncrieff, 2021).

Adhering to this recovery framework implies that SUD treatment and research risk being too individualised and decontextualised and may thus disregard the social dimension of people. Consequently, the SUD field may neglect social determinants' role in recovery and how recovery is inconceivable without social context. Moreover, such disregard may influence the type of research methodology researchers choose and what they look for; it may favour narrative and hermeneutical qualitative research frameworks of recovery focusing on a personal journey and personal turning points (Bøe, Bertelsen, Larsen, & Topor, 2021). The

post-qualitative framework criticises narrative and hermeneutical methods, which presumes the possibility of attaining experiential knowledge but overlooks that subjective and phenomenological experience may not follow such narratives (Brinkmann, 2015, 2017). Furthermore, it seems to presume an interpretive and chronological order of recovery that could possibly lead to overlooking other aspects not conveyable into the dimension of meaning (Bøe et al., 2021), but that are still important to the recovery process. This has been coined as the qualitative fallacy, which occurs when researchers overlook aspects of human experience such as bodily and material sides of being human that may not be conveyed into narrative and hermeneutical meaning frameworks (Bøe, Larsen, & Topor, 2019). I consider both sides as important to understanding human living, and SUD patients experiences of their recovery process may give us valuable insights into the recovery phenomenon. Thus, it is not that hermeneutics and narrative frameworks are unimportant, but that they may neglect other ways of understanding people's recovery. In this thesis, however, the quantitative fallacy may be more relevant as two of the present studies use statistical modelling rather than qualitative methods. The quantitative fallacy refers to trusting our measures and models too much (Bøe et al., 2019). Although the postqualitative critique is justifiable, it nevertheless appears challenging for researchers to investigate a given phenomenon without assuming prior theory, preconditions, and preconceptions (Fjelland, 1991; Popper, 2014). Scientific enquiry is necessarily theory-laden.

It is possible that the SUD field also uses a recovery conceptualisation that favours an individuals' attitude while overlooking individuals' life conditions. For example, Larsen, Friesinger, Strømland, and Topor (2021) found that people with service user experience within mentaland/or addiction services describe their recovery as assemblages where humans and their environment are interdependent and co-exist, thus, indicating that SUD recovery involves individual and environmental dimensions. In the case of the qualitative fallacy, the study by Veseth et al. (2021) on how meaningful activities contribute to recovery may be seen as an example of combining a narrative and hermeneutical approach while at the same time acknowledging other dimensions than 'meaning'. These other dimensions, so-called *small things*, are micro-affirmations that positively affect recovery (Topor, Bøe, & Larsen, 2018). Microaffirmations are small and prosaic gestures of compassion that confer dignity and shared humanity (Davidson, 2020; Topor et al., 2018; Veseth et al., 2021). Veseth et al. (2021) relate micro-affirmations to the act of engaging in meaningful activities, although they argue that the latter is probably not as involved as the former in restoring personhood. Nonetheless, the authors appear to conclude that meaningful activities play an essential role in providing social affirmation, which is pivotal to individuals' recovery, and seemingly, small things facilitate this. In this context, it seems that recovery is inconceivable outside of work or meaningful activities, or more specifically, outside the social web.

5.1.3 Recovery capital: the interrelationship between person, social and community

SUD research has sometimes used the term RC to measure recovery, consisting of three domains: personal, social, and community (Best, Vanderplasschen, & Nisic, 2020). Personal capital refers to inner qualities such as skills and capabilities, while social capital refers to the strength of the individual's association with positive social networks. Community capital indicates the availability and accessibility of resources such as housing or employment. RC generally represents all external and internal resources that individuals have access to and which support their recovery process. These three domains are interrelated but kept separate for practical purposes: recovery research reduces the recovery phenomenon into manageable parts in order to represent, observe, and study it. While reduction is a scientific necessity (Fjelland, 2002), a systematic review has shown that RC measurement reduces the process of recovery to the point where it may not pay adequate attention

to community aspects and particular populations (adolescents), which may result in inconsistent conceptualisation (Hennessy, 2017). Furthermore, research on RC is limited.

In the context of this thesis, RC may refer to key social and personal resources that people can access to overcome substance misuse (Cloud & Granfield, 2008). For example, Laudet and White (2008) operationalised RC as spirituality, social support, meaning in life, 12step affiliation and religiousness. However, such operationalisations may risk overlooking the community aspect. Community capital may be e.g. living in surroundings where stigma about addiction is actively lowered or where easy access to recovery mutual aid resources is in place (White & Cloud, 2008). Taking a conceptual perspective, Cloud and Granfield (2008) propose that RC exists on a continuum, i.e. from negative to positive capital. In this respect, it is possible to pinpoint barriers and aids to recovery. The examples of community capital mentioned previously would be viewed as positive, while living in a community with limited access to recovery centres or high degrees of stigma towards addiction would be negative. Another example may be debut age. Debut age may be regarded as a form of negative capital in the sense that a young debut age when beginning regular substance misuse is associated with more severe substance misuse later in life (Cloud & Granfield, 2008).

Recently, Best et al. (2020) have developed the "Strengths and Barriers Recovery Scale" (SABRS) to assess barriers and strengths to recovery, focusing on negative and positive experiences and events. These events or experiences are translated into positive and negative RC. The SABRS consists of items with yes/no answers, such as "have good nutrition" (recovery strength item) or "smoke" (recovery barrier item). This scale represents a valuable way of empirically measuring different strengths and barriers to recovery at different stages of the recovery process. Although the SABRS does not represent RC on a continuum as proposed by Cloud and Granfield (2008) as the items have binary answers, it still captures particular strengths and barriers in a meaningful way. For

instance, the SABRS has been used to investigate the ratio of recovery strengths and barriers for people in active addiction versus those in recovery (Best et al., 2020). The findings suggest that different kinds of close social relationships were associated with greater reductions in barriers to recovery and more positive changes in recovery strengths (Best et al., 2021). Best et al. (2020) and Best et al. (2021) emphasise that a limitation to these studies is that the sample is self-selected, meaning that the participants' recovery status and previous substance use experience are unexamined. Thus, it is uncertain whether the results apply to SUD patients in recovery. Self-selection bias is considered a common challenge to social sciences, such as psychology (Ziliak & McCloskey, 2008).

A strength of RC is that it may be used regardless of which definition of addiction recovery one uses (Best & Hennessy, 2021). Currently, there is no consensus on the operationalisation of recovery. Some define recovery as the total absence of substance use, while others allow for various degrees of use. Furthermore, operationalisations vary in the extent to which they focus on different aspects such as personal functioning, social functioning, well-being, and other factors (Best & Hennessy, 2021; Bjornestad et al., 2020).

5.1.4 Positioning the project in the recovery context

In this thesis, I understand recovery as including a considerable reduction in substance use and improved functioning and well-being. However, as recovery is a complex phenomenon, it is necessary to reduce it in order to measure it empirically. In this thesis, I mostly employ a clinical recovery framework. There are three main reasons for my choice: a) I use quantitative data; b) there is no consensus on recovery operationalisations; and c) the thesis should be relevant for clinical practice. Since I used quantitative data, I found it more appropriate to use a definition closer to clinical recovery than to personal and relational recovery. Clinical recovery has clearer criteria for recovery which are more readily operationalised compared to personal and relational recovery. However, I considered operationalisations of clinical recovery that only included abstinence and did not include time criteria as too narrow. Therefore, I included functional measures and temporal criteria in addition to substance use reduction. Overall, this means that this thesis operates with a definition of SUD as a disorder with distinct symptoms.

My approach has certain limitations. A main limitation is that the subjective and personal view of recovery remains unexamined. I also encountered a challenge when including other recovery measures, such as meaning in life, as the statistical models collapsed. The data quality simply was not good enough.

I chose the clinical recovery framework because there is no consensus on recovery conceptualisation. I found it more appropriate to apply measures showing reduction in substance use and changes in functioning rather than focusing on functional measures alone, which I find personal and relational recovery frameworks to primarily do. As mentioned above, this is a matter of degree. Nevertheless, my thesis may be criticised for being caught in a medical framework and focusing too much on the *inner* qualities of recovery rather than recovery as an inherently social process.

I believe that the clinical recovery framework has something to offer therapeutic practice, in the sense that it may contribute to improve the course and outcome of SUD treatment. Research on clinical recovery may contribute evidence to support effective treatment interventions that may provide insights into how care could be tailored to individuals. Thus, it may provide clinicians, as well as service users and their families and support systems with valid and applicable evidence-based knowledge about what type of treatment may facilitate recovery. Clearly, psychiatry should offer the best-studied and best-tested treatment currently available.

The clinical recovery framework does not necessarily promote a medicalised view of recovery although it might be at risk to do so. For instance, the disease concept in the DSM-5 seems at times to be based on a far-fetched rationalism which may neglect subjectivity and its context (Moe & de Cuzzani, 2022). I consider the clinical recovery framework to have a more consistent terminology compared to personal and relational recovery, which enables a conceptually transparent investigation. This may in turn make the research findings easier to implement in, and to inform, clinical practice.

In general, clinical recovery is considered as an outcome, and one that is invariant across individuals, based on objective and researcher-derived criteria (Slade, 2009). Liberman and Kopelowicz (2005) emphasise that symptom remission alone is an inadequate understanding of recovery and that it should therefore include functional measures, such as employment or school and supportive friendships. Although clinical recovery does not include a subjective view of recovery, it may include functional aspects and encompass variation between individuals. As I agree with Liberman and Kopelowicz (2005), I included measures of personal and social functioning in our operationalisation of clinical recovery. If this had not been included in papers II and III, these studies would mostly have been reiterations of previous SUD research that has mainly focused on substance use outcomes rather than functioning and well-being. Additionally, clinical recovery may include a temporal criterion, often suggested to be two years of stable change. For research purposes, researcher-derived and temporal criteria are helpful in creating an empirical definition to measure clinical recovery consistently.

The concept of clinical recovery is useful from a clinical perspective. In my experience as a clinical psychologist treating SUD patients, I have found it helpful to track patient progress while simultaneously seeking to include subjective and objective aspects of recovery. Patient lack of insight is suggested to be common for many psychiatric conditions, such as SUD (Thirioux, Harika-Germaneau, Langbour, & Jaafari, 2020). Thus, objective and subjective criteria for measuring patient progress seem beneficial to track treatment progress, especially when providing specialised health treatment services.

I do not put forward a particular operationalisation of recovery in paper III. However, I consider this paper's focus to be positioned within a clinical recovery framework. I should emphasise that the inclusion of functional measures does not imply I studied personal and relational recovery in papers II and III, in the way that they are normally conceptualised (see e.g. (Leamy et al., 2011; Price-Robertson et al., 2017)). For instance, I included psychological functioning in paper II, and this variable does not entirely reflect *personal recovery*. The focus on drug-free friendships in paper III was an attempt to acknowledge SUD recovery's relational aspects. However, looking at the definition of relational recovery, it is safe to say that my paper does not encompass this phenomenon in its entirety.

The use of the recovery concept in this thesis resonates with the Betty Ford Institute Consensus Group's definition of recovery as a process which consists of maintained voluntary lifestyle changes involving sobriety, (personal) health, and citizenship (The Betty Ford Institute Consensus Panel, 2007). Moreover, I focus on different stages in recovery, which resonates with The Betty Ford Institute Consensus Panel's categorisation of early (<1 year), sustained (1-5 years), and stable (>5 years) recovery. In this thesis, I focus more on early and late relapse. I understand remission and recovery as interconnected: SUD patients must fulfil some remission criteria in order to be classified as in recovery. More specifically, I consider it necessary to show sustained reduction or cessation in the frequency/intensity, quantity, and risky substance use for at least two years. Presumably, after two years of tracking stable change, including decreased symptoms and increased

functioning, change has begun to consolidate, despite the possible experience of relapse or lapse (Hegelstad et al., 2012; Liberman et al., 2002). Although this mainly applies to clinical recovery, I consider stable change critical to personal and relational recovery too as this is relevant for the conceptualisation of *recovery from* as well as for *recovery in*. Thus, I consider functional improvement relevant for personal and relational recovery apart from clinical recovery is that the former implies an understanding where symptom reduction is understood to be of less importance and the focus is more on functioning and well-being and intersubjectivity.

I do not consider recovery to be only a subjective phenomenon, meaning that one is in recovery if one feels like one is. In any case of recovery without symptom reduction, I consider it essential to show improved functioning (Harding, Brooks, Ashikaga, Strauss, & Breier, 1987) or norm-producing capabilities (Canguilhem, 1991). Here there might be convergence between recovery in and recovery from. Recovery in does not necessarily include symptom reduction but often includes improvement in functioning and well-being (Davidson & Roe, 2007). Recovery from presumes improvement in symptoms and returning to a healthy state of living after a disease. Thus, they convergence in terms of focusing on improved living, i.e. 'functioning and well-being' and 'healthy state of living'. However, while not everyone who suffer from severe SUD may be symptom-free in the near future, they may still seek improved well-being or wish to be a contributory citizen, i.e. exhibit recovery. My approach may fail to acknowledge this aspect. By choosing to focus on clinical recovery, my position becomes anchored in a medical framework. In this respect, my research may risk focusing too much on SUD rather than the whole person.

A possible consequence of this is that my thesis may overlook those who are in partial recovery. I have clear cut-offs of recovery, at least in terms of relapse. Most studies indicate that about 50% of patients partially recover (Davidson & Roe, 2007). A further limitation to my approach is that it does not provide insights into how recovery evolve for this group.

Even in the case of clinical recovery, as postulated by Liberman et al. (2002), recovery is not merely a matter of symptom reduction. The inclusion of other aspects evaluated to be essential to healthy living (or not too much suffering) is needed. In relation to SUD recovery, I consider abstinence or reduced substance use as necessary components to obtain and maintain recovery. In the DSM-5, SUDs refer to a problematic pattern of substance use leading to clinically significant impairment or distress (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). In a sense, I find it somewhat counterintuitive for a person to be in recovery and have a problematic pattern of (any) substance use leading to clinically significant impairment or distress (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). If a person has such a problematic pattern of substance use leading to clinically significant impairment, it may indicate that their life is dominated by substance use. I consider all three recovery frameworks relevant and interrelated, and likewise for the three dimensions of RC. However, in this thesis I focus mostly on clinical recovery.

In the initial research phase, my understanding of recovery was that it was a complex and multidimensional field. I still consider this to be the case, but in the progression of this research project it has shown me that I am also anchored in a clinical recovery framework. I believe that one factor that led me more towards a clinical recovery framework is its focus on measuring phenomena consistently and thoroughly. Working with statistical modelling, I believe solid measures to be critical. This was something I felt was lacking in the field after finishing paper I. Furthermore, I consider clinical recovery to be more advanced in terms of conceptualising recovery compared to personal and relational recovery frameworks.

However, one problem with clinical recovery is that it tends to operate with too short time spans and a too narrow conceptualisation. I hoped to mitigate these shortcomings with this thesis. Hence, I wanted to develop the definition of clinical recovery and include a longer time period as well as functional measures and well-being. I believe I have partly accomplished this. The findings of this thesis may thus be of value to clinical practice, but perhaps not to patients who are in partial recovery.

Other key SUD concepts: abstinence, remission, relapse, lapse or slip

Clinical recovery is reminiscent of remission. *Remission* is defined as a reduction or significant decrease in symptoms of a disease or disorder (VandenBos, 2007). The DSM-5 divides remission into early and sustained (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Early remission is defined as being symptomless for at least three months but less than 12 months after receiving a SUD. Sustained remission is defined as being symptomless; none of the criteria for SUD is present for 12 months or longer after receiving a SUD. However, the definitions state that it is possible to have criteria A4, craving, or a strong desire or urge to use a substance and still be in sustained remission.

Abstinence refers to the act of refraining from using something, often illegal substances or alcohol (VandenBos, 2007). *Relapse* is the recurrence of a disorder or disease after a period of improvement (VandenBos, 2007). For SUD, the definition implies a return to previous levels of symptoms after considerable substance use reduction or abstinence. *Slip* or *lapse* is a momentary loss of deliberate control (VandenBos, 2007). None of these three include a time criterion. Without a temporal criterion it may be more challenging to distinguish between short-term and long-term abstinence and early and late relapse. Slip is supposed to be "momentary", i.e. brief or short. It may be difficult to distinguish between different slips in relation to severity (e.g. how much one uses and how many substances). Moreover, "momentary" may be too ambiguous. In this thesis, I have no clear definition of these three

terms. However, I consider long-term abstinence to be two years or longer, and I employ the same time span for late relapse, since it is plausible that after two years of stable behavioural change, this change has begun to consolidate (Hegelstad et al., 2012; Liberman et al., 2002).

Relying mainly on the DSM-5's definition of remission may be too narrow since it focuses on symptoms rather than on what makes a drugfree life worth living (e.g. focusing on the quality of life; acknowledging broader functional outcomes (Friesen, 2019)). In this thesis, clinical recovery includes more extended temporal criteria and functional measures compared to the definition of remission. Presumably, having (supportive) drug-free friendships and employment or another meaningful activity aids recovery. However, as shown above, the definition of clinical recovery does not capture all aspects that may be essential for successful recovery. Comprehensive and exhaustive explanations are not the goal, but to measure (clinical) recovery empirically and reliably. Slade et al. (2012) argue that the scientific foundation of recovery frameworks mainly consists of expert opinion and qualitative studies. Consequently, more quantitative evidence is needed to support the development of recovery frameworks.

Operationalising a phenomenon includes reducing it in order to measure it empirically. My operationalisation of clinical recovery is no exception. My definition of clinical recovery neither includes meaning in life (personal recovery) nor social determinants (relational recovery). Therefore, it is vital to include these frameworks in the discussion section of this thesis. In science, contaminating factors are often removed to study specific relationships. If specific relationships are found, the task involves adding back contaminating factors (more on this in section 9.1). In relation to this, if I find specific relationships in my analyses, it is a matter of adding back factors that were removed or that were not included.

6 Objective

Primary objective

In order to achieve the secondary objective (specified below), it was essential to examine the current knowledge base of late relapse. This is a underresearched field and there is no consensus on operationalisations and temporal criteria. Therefore, we conducted a systematic review of relapse operationalisations after short-term and long-term abstinence, remission, recovery, and slip/lapse. We included these other phenomena in our review since they are closely related to late relapse. The objective was to provide knowledge about how these concepts are operationalised in SUD research in order to be observed and measured. Further, the review aimed to enhance the chance of deploying a 'late relapse' operationalisation consistent with current research in our studies.

Secondary objective

The secondary objective has been to investigate how psychological functioning and drug-free relationships, gender, and debut age are associated with alcohol and drug use trajectories, symptomatic remission, functional remission, and clinical recovery annually across four and five years after SUD treatment. I consider positive drug-free relationships vital to obtain and to maintain recovery due to previous research findings and the fact that humans are relational beings. Moreover, I regard psychological functioning as pivotal to obtaining and maintaining recovery as it is associated with mental health and SUD recovery. In the Stayer project, it is possible to assess changes in these aspects naturalistically.

Research question study II: I hypothesised that improved psychological functioning would predict the likelihood of obtaining and maintaining clinical recovery across five years. My rationale was that improvement in several psychological abilities, such as: controlling impulses and changing behaviour; shifting between activities; and regulating emotions

appropriately (tolerating change); as well as initiating or being proactive in new activities, making plans and setting goals for the future, and monitoring and assessing one's recovery progress, would be associated with a greater likelihood of clinical recovery attainment and maintenance after SUD treatment. Specific hypotheses were:

- 1) Participants are more likely to obtain and maintain symptomatic remission over five years if they experience improved psychological functioning.
- Participants are more likely to obtain and maintain clinical recovery over five years if they experience improved psychological functioning.

Research question study III: I hypothesised that having drug-free friendships would be associated with a reduction in alcohol and drug use and that debut age and gender would be associated with use trajectories across four years. The recovery literature and research mostly suggest that there may be a positive association between individuals' recovery and supportive drug-free friends. However, as mentioned previously, this may differ over an extended period. Moreover, it may not be the case for persons having problematic polysubstance use. Longitudinal research on these parameters has been scarce. Although there are few longitudinal studies on gender, debut age, and use trajectories, the recovery literature indicates that males and females have different recovery needs. Moreover, early onset of substance use is associated with more severe substance use later in life compared to late onset. Therefore, I thought it would be interesting to investigate if this is the case for a Norwegian PSUD sample across four years. Specific hypotheses were:

 Participants having drug-free friends would have lower drug and alcohol use annually across four years compared to those who had not.

Objective

- 2) Earlier debut age (below 13) of drug and alcohol use would be associated with drug and alcohol use trajectories across four years compared to those with later debut age onset of drug and alcohol use.
- 3) Male participants would have a greater chance of being in drug and alcohol use trajectories than would female participants.

7.1 Systematic review

Objective

To investigate the knowledge base of operationalisations of relapse after long-term abstinence. To this end, we examined operationalisations of abstinence, remission, recovery, slip or lapse, and relapse as we believe they influence the conceptualisation of 'relapse after long-term abstinence.' A systematic review is a great way to inform the design and objective of new research (Nørgaard et al., 2022).

Introduction

An essential aspect of systematic reviews is that they are transparent and concise. Groves (2008) stressed that unclear reporting has been a problem in systematic reviews and that specific guidelines are needed regarding how to conduct and report research. We will accommodate this challenge by using recommended guidelines. Moreover, we used the PROSPERO international prospective register of systematic reviews, a registration form for the review we were planning. The University of York is responsible for safeguarding and approving the registration form. PROSPERO includes protocol details for systematic reviews relevant to health-related outcomes. Our protocol was registered in the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO) in October 2019 (registration number: CRD42020154062). We used the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement (Liberati et al., 2009; Moher et al., 2015; Shamseer et al., 2015). PRISMA-P consist of a 17-item checklist envisioned to assist the preparation and reporting of a proper protocol for systematic reviews.

Assessment and selection of research literature

Two researchers (FM and JB) independently searched the literature using the following databases: Epistemonikos, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL and DARE), MEDLINE, EMBASE, Google Scholar, CINAHL, Web of Science, and PsycINFO. Variations and combinations of terms targeting five main concepts were used in the search: relapse, abstinence, remission, recovery, and slip. An information scientist reviewed the search queries. A manual literature search was also performed using reference lists of reviews and metaanalyses identified in the main search. In cases of doubt, the full-text paper was read to determine eligibility. There was no time limit for the included studies. The last search was conducted on January 8th, 2021.

We included articles meeting all of the following criteria:

- Empirical study published in English in peer-reviewed journals.
- Study sample meets diagnostic criteria for dependence syndrome in ICD-10 (World Health Organization, 1993) or moderate–severe drug use disorder (DUD) or alcohol use disorder (AUD) in DSM-IV (American Psychiatric Association, 1994) and DSM-5 (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).
- Reports relapse, abstinence, recovery, remission, short- or long-term, slip or lapse.

We excluded all articles meeting the following criteria:

- Studies reporting on smoking and/or smoking and alcohol/AUD only.
- Animal studies.
- Case studies.

Handling the research literature

All potential studies were exported into a reference citation manager (Endnote) before duplicates were removed. Two reviewers (FM and JB) independently performed the screening of titles and abstracts and full-

text analysis. In cases of doubt, the full-text paper was read to determine eligibility. The synthesis of the definitions and selection of outcomes were developed during 11 consensus meetings. Disagreements were resolved through discussion until consensus was reached. A third reviewer (JRM) was available to resolve disagreements and provide critical feedback.

Narrative synthesis of the research literature

A narrative synthesis was performed for the included articles. A narrative synthesis is a textual approach seeking to 'tell a story' about the findings from the included studies focusing on questions beyond the effectiveness of a particular treatment (Popay et al., 2006). The purpose was to assess different levels of detail in operationalisations and discuss the implications of comparing and implementing studies deploying different operationalisations of the same concepts. We aimed to use this analytic approach for mapping the diversity in the field. Hence, the synthesis focused on the separate elements building up the whole of the empirically based operationalisation.

The first step for each included article was to assess sample description and substance type; length of follow-up; study aim; frequency of measuring points; operationalisations of *abstinence*, *remission*, *recovery*, *relapse*, and *slip*; measuring instruments; and other relevant information for relapse assessment. The second step was to tabulate the articles' primary findings, focusing on the operationalisations of *abstinence*, *remission*, *recovery*, *relapse*, and *slip*. In step three, we conducted a stepby-step thematic classification of each of the five groups of operationalisations, and operationalisations were subdivided into separate categories/themes based on similarity; for example, every operationalisation of *relapse* that primarily used urine analysis, breathalyser, or blood sample to assess relapse was grouped under the theme 'biomarker'. In step four, we grouped themes from step three into overarching themes. Thus, operationalisations of *relapse* that used biomarkers or other measuring instruments, such as DUDIT¹ or AUDIT,² were grouped together under the overarching theme *measure*. The rationale was that *measuring* was a primary theme in the operationalisation of relapse (see Limitations for further elaboration).

Since each operationalisation was divided into several themes, the result was more themes than operationalisations. For example, relapse operationalisations often contained different time criteria and use criteria for assessing a relapse, and these criteria were subdivided into separate themes. This process led to several themes of both time criteria and use criteria. For example, when grouping time criteria together, we assessed similarity in length. Further, we determined which subdivided themes were more frequent than others. As there were several subdivided themes relating to time, time was chosen as an overarching theme, based upon for agreed similarities. The rationale subcategorising the operationalisations was to obtain a thorough overview of the relevant components of each operationalisation.

To assess long-term studies and the frequency of measuring points that were used to define 'relapse' after long-term abstinence, the cut-off was set to studies with a follow-up of at least two years. Following cut-offs in remission according to diagnostic guidelines in DSM-5 and ICD-11 (12 months) (American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Basu & Ghosh, 2018) and research (three years) (Calabria et al., 2010; Fleury et al., 2016), our two-year criterion may be regarded as a practical tool and a minimum criterion for identifying long-term studies. To determine factors relevant for defining 'late relapse', we investigated time criteria for abstinence, remission, and recovery since these factors are used to define periods of non-use and may be used to distinguish early from late relapse.

¹ Drug Use Disorder Identification Test.

² Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test.

7.2 Quantitative methodology

The Norwegian Stavanger study of Trajectories of Addiction

The Norwegian Stayer project is a naturalistic, prospective cohort study aimed to shed light on cognitive, psychological and social recovery processes over a period of ten years. The Stayer project includes measures of substance use, satisfaction with life, psychological distress, and ADHD symptomatology, as well as neurocognitive functioning to ensure that it captures most of the relevant dimensions underlying recovery. The Stayer project is a data platform enabling several studies on the cohort, including this thesis. Thus, like most longitudinal cohort studies, the Stayer project serves as a foundation for conducting several studies.

As a cohort study, the Stayer project follows SUD patients' who started a new treatment sequence in the Stavanger University Hospital catchment area. Prof. Sverre Nesvåg, Egon Hagen, PhD, and the Center of Alcohol and Drug Research Western Norway (KORFOR) initiated the project in 2012.

Data was collected from SUD patients admitted to outpatient and residential treatment facilities. Participants were tested after two weeks of abstinence to minimise contamination from drug withdrawal and acute neurotoxic effects from psychoactive substances (Miller, 1985). The first two years consist of quarterly measures (follow-up), while years three to ten consist of annual measures (follow-up). Data collection will be completed in 2025. This thesis is not related to prior publications based on the Stayer project dataset, and my thesis is not a secondary analysis of the Stayer project. Although some of the measures have been used in other studies with different research questions, they have yet to be used across four and five years. For example, measures in the first year of follow-up have been used before (see e.g. (Hagen et al., 2017)), but not across four or five years, as these data became available during my PhD period. Between the fall of 2019 and 2021, the raw data was processed and made available for my analyses.

The STAYER project's relation to SUD recovery

The project focuses on cognitive, psychological, and social recovery processes related to changes in substance use among people with SUD. The aim of the project is to describe the trajectories of addiction and the recovery of addiction and to identify clinical markers that can help predict these trajectories. Measures included in the Stayer-project relevant to this thesis are: the Symptom Check List-90-R (SCL-90-R), the Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS), the Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function (BRIEF-A), Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT-C), Drug Use Disorders Identification Test (DUDIT-C), age, gender, job status, and social functioning.

As mentioned above, the Stayer project was developed to investigate cognitive, psychological, and social recovery processes related to changes in substance use among people with SUD who started a new addiction treatment. Moreover, the project is a prospective naturalistic follow-up cohort study (longitudinal and observational), i.e. it follows a SUD patient sample who started a new treatment sequence across ten years with very little interference to observe recovery processes in its natural setting. The Stayer project is neither a treatment study nor a study of treatment effects. Although I do not have information about each patient's treatment goal, I will suggest that the patients may have wanted to get treated for their SUD. However, this neither indicates that they seek recovery nor that they were in treatment by choice. For example, others may have motivated them to seek treatment while they themselves did not want to get treated, or they may have been convicted for a misdemeanour or felony resulting in that they served their time in treatment. Notwithstanding, I considered the project an opportunity to investigate SUD patients' recovery processes after their treatment, even though I cannot infer the effect of the treatment on their recovery.

The participants were recruited from several public and private treatment centres in the Helse Stavanger region. These include outpatient and inpatient clinics from Stavanger University Hospital (public, three outpatient and two inpatient clinics), Rogaland A-senter (private, two inpatient and one outpatient clinic), Frelsesarmeens behandlingssenter (FAB) (private, two inpatient clinics), Fjordhagen (private, one inpatient clinic) and K46 (public, one inpatient and one outpatient clinic). All private clinics delivered clinical services to the Western Norway Regional Health Authority by contract. Unfortunately, we do not know how long each participant stayed in treatment. The limitation of not knowing how long participants stayed in treatment and how much treatment they received will be discussed in the limitations section below (Chapter 10). See Figure 1 (Chapter 14) for a flow chart of the treatment characteristics and dropout during the follow-up period. In the flow chart, fewer research participants are available than in our research papers. This is due to having applied missing data imputation techniques (specified below in the sample section: "Sample in papers II and III"). Our sample included 164 participants after the exclusion criteria assessment.

The candidate's role in papers I, II and III

In paper I, my role was to set the research aim and determine how to complete it. I made the study protocol that was registered in the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO). I made a list of variations and combinations of terms targeting the five main concepts in the database search, which was quality controlled by an information scientist (for specifics, see section 7.1 systematic review).

Assessing recovery variables for papers II and III

In papers II and III, my role was to organise and quality control the dataset to ensure it was ready for statistical analysis, i.e. choosing which

variables to include in the study based on the research questions. This part of the dataset had not been used in prior analyses and was not processed before I started my analyses (see specifics below in the next section). Before my PhD project was announced in public, the dataset was controlled to ensure that it contained recovery variables. Based on the available variables, I selected those I deemed most appropriate to illuminate social and psychological factors related to relapse occurring after two years of abstinence. I also had in mind which factors would be more fitting in a personal and relational recovery framework.

Statistical analyses of recovery variables

Based on the dataset, I made several hypotheses which I considered possible to analyse based on the available dataset. I presented these to my supervisors and Dr Tore Tjora, who, together with me, had the primary responsibility for statistical analysis, i.e. applying statistical techniques to analyse the dataset (see co-author statement appendix). We discussed my suggestions and what was possible to accomplish with the dataset and specific statistical modelling techniques. In the pre-analysis phase, we discussed several longitudinal approaches, such as structural equation modelling (SEM), latent growth curve modelling (LGM), and latent class analysis (LCA), as these methods have been deemed suitable for analyses of similar longitudinal data. LGM is suitable for studying developmental processes, while LCA is suitable for studying different subgroups in a sample sharing particular characteristics and how they change over time. I then made several hypotheses that could be analysed statistically.

Challenges with statistical analyses of recovery variables

Together with Dr Tjora, I tested different LGMs and LCAs. However, it was only possible to use LGM to investigate the hypothesis in paper III. There may be several possible explanations as to why the LGMs and LCAs did not work. First, it may be a result of too few participants, a probable explanation as the sample size is considered to be small for both

LGM (Shi, DiStefano, Zheng, Liu, & Jiang, 2021) and LCA (Weller, Bowen, & Faubert, 2020). Second, it may result from too low a temporal resolution since we used yearly measures. We tried using the quarterly data, but the data quality on the quarterly measures was too poor for this purpose. Third, it may be possible that drug use development does not fit an LGM over time, e.g. the development of drug use does not correspond to the simple postulated growth curve models. Further, it is conceivable that the lack of good LCA models may be a result of drug use development does not fit in latent classes either. Due to the small sample size and relatively low temporal resolution, we are not able to conclude either way, as the poor fit may have all the above-mentioned explanations and most likely combinations thereof.

Therefore, we chose to use simpler methods. We explored the use of logistic regression analysis and multiple imputation to investigate social predictors of early and late relapse, i.e. whether having drug-free friendships and employment would reduce relapse risk after one and two years of abstinence. However, this model did not work, possibly due to the above-mentioned reasons. Since the variables in papers II and III are mostly dummy variables that can be analysed at an interval level, we tried to use regression analysis. This would have enabled us to investigate how much the given variables interact and how much they could have explained recovery and relapse. We applied regression analysis to our data, but it was not possible to analyse the research questions, which may be a result of having a too small sample size and too low temporal resolution. In paper III, we tried to do a correlation analysis rather than a chi-square analysis to get a more precise measure of strength and direction in addition to the deviation between statistically expected and observed frequencies. However, the data was not suitable for correlational analysis.

To summarise, although the data quality was too poor to conduct particular complex analyses and include relevant covariates, it was

deemed good enough for conducting other analyses and generating hypotheses.

Sample in papers II and III

Sample

We recruited the study sample (n=208) from the ongoing Norwegian Stavanger Study of Trajectories in Addiction (STAYER) – a prospective naturalistic follow-up study of change trajectories among people diagnosed with SUD, investigating the course and timing of neurocognitive and psychosocial factors, including recovery (Hagen et al., 2016; Svendsen et al., 2017). Participants were recruited from SUD treatment programmes carried out between March 2012 and December 2015. They were recruited at the start of their treatment in the outpatient or residential treatment facilities in the Stavanger region of Norway. The sample consists of patients with SUD, alcohol use disorder, and behavioural addictions. The STAYER study has been approved by the Regional Ethical Committee (REK 2011/1877). All participants provided written informed consent. Studies II and III were not preregistered, and the results should be considered exploratory.

We included individuals who met the following criteria: starting a new treatment sequence within addiction treatment services; age ≥ 16 ; and enrolled in a treatment programme to which they were admitted for at least two weeks. The treatment programs varied in content. Two hundred and eight participants were eligible for inclusion. Of these, 44 (22%) had only alcohol use disorder or behavioural addiction. They were excluded from this study as it focuses on poly-substance use. Thus, 164 participants were included. In paper II, we used an imputation method to impute missing data (detailed below) and were able to use all 164 participants in the annual follow-ups, from baseline to the fifth year. In paper III, due to missing data, 155 participants were included in most

analyses. Details on the STAYER study methodology and retention have been published previously (Svendsen et al., 2017).

Method and measures: Paper II

Objective

We investigated the predicting role of psychological functioning on symptomatic remission and clinical recovery annually across five years. We also assessed the influence of gender and age on symptomatic remission and clinical recovery.

Measures

Age was calculated by subtracting birth year from the year of inclusion in the study at baseline. Gender was reported at baseline. Demographic data were collected using a semi-structured interview made for the Stayer project. The semi-structured interview schedule was part of the National Quality Register for Substance Abuse Treatment (KVARUS/NQR-SAT) (Stavanger University Hospital, 2020).

Clinical measures

Drug and alcohol use – We used the Drug Use Disorders Identification Test (DUDIT) (Voluse et al., 2012) and the Alcohol Identification Disorder Test (AUDIT) (Babor, De La Fuente, Saunders, & Grant, 1992; Berman, Bergman, Palmstierna, & Schlyter, 2005) to assess drug and alcohol use. Both DUDIT and AUDIT have been found to have good reliability and validity (Bohn, Babor, & Kranzler, 1995; Hildebrand, 2015; Meneses-Gaya, Zuardi, Loureiro, & Crippa, 2009; Voluse et al., 2012). We used DUDIT-C, which consists of the four consumption items measuring drug consumption, to measure drug use (Basedow, Kuitunen-Paul, Eichler, Roessner, & Golub, 2021; Berman et al., 2005), while we used AUDIT-C, which consists of the three AUDIT consumption items, to measure alcohol use (Campbell & Maisto, 2018). We made composite variables of DUDIT-C and AUDIT-C scores.

Psychological functioning – We used the Behavioral Rating Inventory of Executive Function — Adult Version (BRIEF-A) (Gioia, Isquith, Guy, Kenworthy, & Baron, 2000; Roth, Isquith, & Gioia, 2005) to measure psychological functioning. This 75-item self-report measure assesses everyday executive and self-regulatory functioning. For patients with SUDs, BRIEF-A scores also correlate with psychological distress scores on a scale and case level (Hagen, Sømhovd, Hesse, Arnevik, & Erga, 2019), making it well-suited to assess psychological functioning for this study. The BRIEF-A is composed of nine subscales and three composite scores. The Behavioral Regulations Index (BR-index) consists of the subscales: Inhibit, Shift, Self-Monitor, and Emotional-Control. The Metacognition Index (MI) consists of the subscales: Initiate, Plan/Organise, Working Memory, Organisation of Materials, and Task-Monitor. When combined, the BRI and MI produce the overall Global Executive Composite (GEC). Responses are scored on a scale of: 'never' = 1, 'sometimes' = 2, and 'often' = 3. The recommended clinical cut-off score is BRIEF-A GEC \geq 65 (Roth, Isquith, & Gioia, 2014), where higher scores represent poorer executive functioning.

Predictor - The predictor variable was the patient's level of psychological functioning measured by the BRIEF-A GEC score. This variable enabled us to independently test the contribution of psychological functioning for symptomatic and functional remission and clinical recovery status at six different points in time. We defined 'high BRIEF-A' as BRIEF-A GEC ≥65, based on previous research (Roth et al., 2014). We constructed a dichotomous, crude longitudinal BRIEF-A variable by comparing participants with 'high-BRIEF-A' from baseline through third annual follow-up with participants' 'high-BRIEF-A' from fourth through fifth annual follow-up. We also analysed a one standard deviation reduction on BRIEF-A GEC between baseline and fifth follow-up, as we believe this may reflect a considerable increase in psychological functioning.

Outcome measures

Symptomatic remission – Symptomatic remission was operationalised as DUDIT-C scores equal to 0 and AUDIT-C scores ≤ 2 . We defined five different 'remission lengths' as having one to five subsequent remission scores. We did not consider when the participants had their remission during the course.

Functional remission – Functional remission was operationalised using two variables related to social functioning status. The first was 'employment or having other meaningful activities'. This self-report questionnaire has been implemented in the National Quality Register for Substance Abuse Treatment (KVARUS/NQR-SAT). The KVARUS relates to SUD patients enrolled in treatment and has previously been used for research purposes (Carlsen, Lunde, & Torsheim, 2020). KVARUS gathers Patient-Reported Outcomes Measures (PROM-data) and Patient-Reported Experience Measures (PREM-data) (Carlsen, Lunde, & Torsheim, 2019). PROM-data contains patient perceptions of their health, while PREM-data contains patient perceptions of their experience of health care or treatment (Carlsen et al., 2019). We measured 'employment or having other meaningful activity' using the same question at baseline and all follow-ups: 'Are you engaged in paid work or other meaningful activity?' together with the responses 'No,' 'Yes,' and 'Other meaningful activity'. These questions were used to make dichotomous variables on employment and other meaningful activity as compared to no employment or other meaningful activity.

The second variable used to measure functional remission was 'drug-free friends'. We used 'drug-free friends' to measure social support, collected by way of a self-report questionnaire (KVARUS). 'Drug-free friends' has previously been used in research to measure social resources (Carlsen et al., 2020). Having 'drug-free friends' was measured using the same question at baseline and all follow-ups: 'Do you have friends

without a history of substance use?' together with the responses 'Yes' and 'No'. We further constructed a dichotomous variable ('functional remission') for the combination of having 'drug-free friends' and 'employment or having other meaningful activity' – having both 'drug-free friends' and 'employment or other meaningful activity' were coded as 1, while all other combinations were coded as 0. Thus, participants scoring 'yes' on both social variables were categorised in functional remission.

Clinical recovery – Clinical recovery was coded as a single variable of 'yes' for all individuals who met both criteria for symptomatic and functional remission. Similar to symptomatic remission, we defined five different 'recovery lengths' as having one to five subsequent recovery scores. As with remission, we did not consider when the participants obtained their recovery scores during the course of the follow-up period, just that they were defined as recovered for a given number of subsequent follow-ups. Housing was excluded from the recovery measure. All participants had housing, which is the rule in this catchment area and for SUD populations generally in Norway. Hence, this variable was omitted as it did not add substantial value to our recovery analysis.

Missing data

We used the Caret version 6.0.90 running on R version 4.1.2 (2021-11-01) in RStudio 2021.09.1 Build 372 for Windows for bagged imputation based on multiple trees. This is a single-based imputation technique. Like other imputation techniques it uses information and relationships from the non-missing variables/predictors to provide an estimate to fill in the missing value (Kuhn & Johnson, 2019). Single-imputation techniques are more reliable than deletion techniques but less reliable than multiple imputation (Enders, 2010).

We exported all six measurement occasions of DUDIT-C, AUDIT-C, SCL-90-R, BRIEF-A, having drug free-friends and employment or other

meaningful activity in addition to id and gender from Stata. Gender, having drug-free friends and employment or other meaningful activity were defined as factor variables in R. We ran the imputation with all aforementioned variables and default settings before exporting the result back to STATA.

Data analysis

Statistical analyses were computed using Stata/IC 15.1 for Windows, with the exception of missing imputation described in detailed above. Stata/IC 15.1 is a statistical software package that helps users analyse, manage, and produce graphical visualisations of data material. Stata may be used to analyse data patterns between variables (Acock, 2008). Stata contains several options for statistical analysis and modelling. The aim of a given statistical model is to explain the data based on a hypothesis.

First, we made descriptive statistics for symptomatic remission, functional remission and clinical recovery over baseline and five-year follow-up. Second, we performed multiple T-tests, chi-square tests and Fisher's exact tests examining distribution of symptomatic remission and clinical recovery across gender and age for each of the five follow-ups. A T-test may be used to assess whether the means of two sets of data are significantly different, such as between gender and symptomatic remission. We used cross-tabulation to examine the difference between expected and actual frequencies between different combinations and a chi-square statistic to assess if the difference was significant. A high numeric value for the chi-square depending on the number of degrees of freedom (df) yields a low P-value. Df depicts the maximum number of independent values in the sample. Our null-hypothesis was that there was no difference, and our null-hypothesis stands for the expected frequencies. The chi-square increases when the difference between expected and actual frequencies is larger depending on df. If the chisquare goes above a specific threshold, then the relationship is significant. We also used Fisher's exact test to test whether there were

non-random associations between our categorial variables. This test is useful for small sample sizes.

Third, we performed multiple chi-square tests and Fisher's exact tests to examine the distribution of symptomatic remission and clinical recovery across having four or more BRIEF-A scores ≥ 65 . Lastly, we performed multiple chi-square tests and Fisher's exact tests to examine a one standard deviation reduction or more on BRIEF-A between baseline and fifth follow-up across various lengths of symptomatic remission periods and clinical recovery.

Method and measures: Paper III

Objective

We used participants' reports of drug-free friendships and alcohol and drug use to investigate polysubstance use disorder trajectories annually across four years after SUD treatment and the association between these trajectories and drug-free friendships, debut age and gender.

Measures

Age was calculated by subtracting birth year from inclusion year at baseline. Gender was reported at baseline. Age and gender were reported in descriptive statistics but were not used in the latent growth curve analyses.

Drug and alcohol use

See paper II above. However, we used DUDIT-C and AUDIT-C scales (ranging from 0 to 8 and 0 to 12), merging AUDIT-C and DUDIT-C by adding them together after dividing DUDIT-C scores by eight and AUDIT-C scores by 12. Further, we multiplied the result by four and rounded the result to whole numbers, making a scale from zero (no drug and no alcohol) to eight (max on both DUDIT-C and AUDIT-C scales). This new composite variable was termed 'alcohol and drug use'. For participants missing AUDIT-C, we used only DUDIT-C, and vice versa.

Participants with missing scores on both AUDIT-C and DUDIT-C were coded as missing at that timepoint. We calculated 'alcohol and drug use' for five yearly follow-ups. Previous research suggests that early treatment response measured at first follow-up is a good predictor of long-term treatment response (McKay, Lynch, Shepard, & Pettinati, 2005; McKay et al., 2013). Therefore, we excluded baseline measures from the latent growth models.

Drug-free friendships See paper II above.

Data analysis

Descriptive statistics, data preparation and export were computed using Stata/IC 15.1 for Windows. Mplus version 8 for Windows was used for the latent growth curve models (LGM). We defined the 'alcohol and drug use' scale as continuous variables and used the standard maximum likelihood estimator in Mplus. As the 'drug-free friendships' measures were categorical, we used the Mplus standard for categorical dependent variables: the weighted least square mean and variance adjusted estimator (WLSMV-estimator) (Brown, 2015). To evaluate the fit for the tested models, we used the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) and Comparative Fit Index (CFI). Both measures indicate the degree to which a model fits data. CFI scores closer to 1 and RMSEA scores closer to 0 indicate better model fit (Bollen & Curran, 2006). More specifically, CFI scores \geq .95 and RMSEA scores between .05 and .08 have been deemed acceptable (Kim, Ku, Kim, Park, & Park, 2016).

First, we examined the association between 'alcohol and drug use' and 'drug-free friendships' across the last five follow-ups. We tested if these associations were significant using chi-square χ 2-tests. Second, we ran multiple longitudinal models to examine possible models for understanding the association between 'alcohol and drug use' and 'drug-
free friendships'. We developed three LGMs. Model 1 (M1) investigated to which degree the LGM on longitudinal development in alcohol and drug use fits the data.

LGM is based on SEM and is used to measure development or growth processes or trajectories (Bollen & Curran, 2006; Duncan & Duncan, 2004). It is suitable for studying longitudinal data and annual change processes across time. LGM analyses latent (unobserved) variables, e.g. intercept and slope, which describe the trajectory of change over time in the observed variable (e.g. substance use) (Greenwood et al., 2019). The intercept and slope are growth factors based on the individual trajectories. The intercept represents the initial level, while the slope refers to the rate of change (Felt, Depaoli, & Tiemensma, 2017). They reflect growth patterns estimated on all the trajectories in the sample (per individual). This is why they are coined 'latent' since they are not variables in the dataset but based on these estimations.

We divided M1 into two groups based on gender. As the unconstrained model was not significantly better than the constrained model (χ 2 difference = 11.32, df difference = 8, p = 0.18), we rejected gender groups in M1. Further, we divided M1 into two groups based on drug debut prior to the age of 13 versus debut at 13 and older. The unconstrained model was not significantly better than the constrained model (χ 2 difference = 8.31, df difference = 8, p = 0.40). Hence, we kept M1 without groups (M1). However, as participants were selected based on alcohol and drug use at baseline, we removed baseline from the LGM and used this LGM as a predictor (M1 revised).

Model 2 (M2) investigated the degree to which an LGM fits the development of 'drug-free friendships'. The model was an LGM with two latent variables (intercept and slope) reflecting 'drug-free friendships' development based on five dichotomous variables. Hence, the model 'drug-free friendships' had too few degrees of freedom to

estimate model fit. Further, the variance on the slope was not significant. We therefore made a new model with intercept only (M2 revised). We chose to use the initial model (M2) because M2 fits conceptually better with 'M1 revised' when making model 3 (M3).

M3 was constructed by combining M1 revised and M2. Thus, M3 was a growth model for two parallel processes with categorical outcomes, 'alcohol and drug use' and 'drug-free friendships'. We allowed association between the two intercepts. Furthermore, we added a regression from the 'alcohol and drug use' intercept to the slope on 'drug-free friendships'. We also added a regression from the 'drug-free friendships'. We also added a regression from the 'drug-free friendships'. We also added a regression from the 'drug-free friendships' intercept to the slope on 'alcohol and drug use'. Finally, we made a figure for the final model, M3, reporting only significant and standardised weights (Figure 1 in paper III).

Relapse cut-off in study II and III

A cut-off value of 2 on DUDIT-C has been shown to be optimal when differentiating between patients without a SUD and those with mild or moderate SUD (Basedow et al., 2021). Although there is greater variation in the cut-off values used for AUDIT-C, it is suggested that the most accurate cut-off value, i.e. the value correctly classified as risky, is \geq 4 for females and \geq 5 for males. High-risk drinking, is classified as \geq 8 for females and ≥ 9 for men (Khadjesari et al., 2017). In our quantitative studies, the relapse cut-off value for DUDIT-C scores equals 0 and AUDIT-C scores ≤ 2 . One may reproach our suggested cut-off values for being lower than some previous research, as they seem to set higher requirements than what is the case for the general population (AUDIT-C), and that we seemingly promote an abstinence-based recovery understanding with such conservative cut-off values. This last point is particularly pertinent considering that recovery may be seen as including some use (Witkiewitz & Tucker, 2020) and symptoms (Friesen, 2019). This choice was motivated by a rationale to build on cut-off values from previous studies on the Stayer sample (Bjornestad et al., 2019; Svendsen Methods

et al., 2021), as relapse cut-off values are suggested to be inconsistent in addiction research (Maisto et al., 2016).

7.3 Ethical considerations

The norms and values of research ethics may be thought of as integral to scientific practice and conduct. In Norway, there are three research ethic guidelines developed by the Norwegian National Research Ethics Committees. One of them is the National Committee for Research Ethics in the Social Sciences and the Humanities (NESH). NESH acts as an impartial advisory body that provides guidance and advice on research ethics. One aim of the guidelines is to promote good scientific practice.

When conducting research, several ethical considerations may be raised. These considerations may be placed within *normative ethics* which is concerned with how people *ought* to act. Normative ethics focuses on values, norms, and prescriptions of how researchers ought to practice. A value is a standard for evaluation, and norms presupposes values, e.g. "it is wrong to kill a human being or any being at all because humans or all life are valuable." Norms are rules for conduct or behaviour. In this sense, research practice and researcher conduct also belong to *applied ethics*, i.e. the analyses of the application of ethical knowledge. Applied ethics often includes several schools of normative ethics, such as duty, virtue, and utility ethics. Typically, these different schools of ethical thought discuss moral values concerning personal characteristics and interpersonal standards, i.e. people and actions.

Virtue ethics is concerned with what types of virtues researchers should have. Duty ethics asks whether researchers have (absolute) duties, while utilitarianism focuses on what kind of utility research is committed to produce. The NESH states both virtues and duties that researchers should follow and possess, such as "truth and method norms" (duties) and being responsible and having integrity (virtues) (NESH, 2022). NESH's focus on truth combines virtues and duties into *truthfulness* in order to avoid e.g. scientific fraud. Evidence-based policies is an example of science as an instrument for policymaking - a perspective which is based on utilitarian ethics.

In this thesis, ethical considerations concern norms of truth and method, truthfulness, integrity, and responsibility, to mention some. I have the responsibility to communicate my research in a truthful manner both to the scientific community and society. As the Stayer study has been approved by the Regional Ethical Committee (REK 2011/1877) and all participants provided written informed consent, I will discuss ethical consideration about research participants, such as storage of data and confidentiality below. Nevertheless, I would already like to mention that in such cases, it is pivotal to have respect for individuals and human dignity and never use people only as means to an end but as an end in themselves.

In this thesis, it is furthermore relevant to mention co-authorship, as all papers in this thesis have been written with others. All co-authors must have contributed substantially to the studies such as in conceptualisation, data analysis and interpretation, and drafting and writing the manuscripts. Additionally, the co-authors must approve the final version of the manuscripts and take responsibility for them as a whole. In order to assess author contribution, we used the Vancouver recommendations for authorship (Fees, 2022) before and after each manuscript was completed. This ensured that each author had something to contribute both in the initial phase of each paper and their contribution thereafter. I have also used the Contributor Roles Taxonomy (CRediT) to highlight my contribution to each paper and my co-authors. The CRediT for each paper and co-author is highlighted in the co-author statement.

Finally, I will address transparency and data analyses and handling. In the systematic review as well as in the quantitative papers, it was important to reflect upon the ethical aspect in reporting of how we obtained our results. Such reflections entail transparent reporting of methods used and how the analyses were conducted that led to the final results. When communicating my research (in the research community and in public), I should express clearly the boundaries and limits of our studies and their implications.

In research, data storage and sharing should be done responsibly. The dataset in the Stayer project is stored in a research server at the Stavanger University Hospital to ensure secure and legal storage. The data is stored pseudo-anonymously, meaning that each participant has been given a study code. One needs an attachment key or coupling key stored separately in another location than the study code to gain access to identifying participants. Key access is restricted to three researchers (the principal investigator and two research assistants). This is in line with current laws and regulations for data storage and handling, which state that health data must be stored in a de-identified form at a secure database, and if not stored in a secure location, it must be encrypted. For instance, if one wishes to share the data, it must be encrypted to secure anonymisation. I applied to the principal investigator, who granted me access to parts of the data material. The process involved two applications, one for paper II and one for paper III. In these contracts, the date for deletion of the data is specified. After my project period, all of the data must be transferred back to KORFOR for "cold storage" on the research server. How the data is stored has been communicated to the participants before they have given their consent, and they have also received feedback. Following the completion of data collection (31.12.2025), data will be curated and anonymized. All data will be anonymized by 31.12.2028 and stored for an additional five years. All data will be destroyed following these five years.

Issues concerning data sharing in the Stayer project include laws and regulations protecting the research participants, such as the Personal Information Act and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). In the Stayer project, the Personal Information Act is followed by having

pseudo-anonymisation, which safeguards the participants' privacy. The GDPR is legislation that updated and unified data privacy laws across the European Union (EU) coming into force in May 2018. One important principle is *storage limitation* stating that personal data must be kept only as long as needed. This resonates with the REK guidelines, which emphasise a time limit when data must be destroyed.

In the Stayer project, the participants had the right to access personally identifiable health data about themselves and the security measures used in the project to process personal data as long as such access did not jeopardise security. This is in accordance with the Health Research Act (Health Research Act, 2008). The data that the research participants are granted access to must be in a format that is accessible to the individual, i.e. it must be written in a way which is understandable to the particular person at hand. The participants may demand that the project manager explain the data thoroughly to ensure that the participants can protect their interests. In the Stayer project, participants could retract their data from the dataset if they withdrew from the study, and if so, the data had to be deleted within 30 days.

The Stayer project aimed to conduct recovery analyses of cognitive, psychological, and social recovery processes related to changes in substance use among people with SUD. In this respect, the primary goals of the data collection are related to the goals of this thesis. However, some measures are more simplistic than others; e.g. the variable 'drug-free friends' is binary. As it is based on a "yes" and "no" answer from the participants it is possible that this variable is neither sensitive enough to capture associations with other variables in the dataset nor able to reflect supportive friendships. Dichotomous variables make it challenging to assess the type of friends the participants refer to and how often they meet, which probably influences recovery maintenance. This is a general challenge with dichotomous variables. However, these types of variables are frequently used in the SUD literature and may still give

insight into the problem at hand, but they contain limitations that must be discussed. I will discuss the limitations below.

Informed consent from the research participants is pivotal to a research study. Participation consent should be voluntary, informed, unambiguous, and documentable (NESH, 2022). The researcher has the responsibility to make sure that the participants have the capacity to give consent. This is essential for maintaining human dignity and privacy. The principle of consent revolves around ethical principles such as freedom of choice (voluntary), the duty to not mislead people (informed), clearly expressing participation (unambiguous dialogue), and emphasising the researcher's responsibility and securing the rights of the participants (documentable).

Participants' confidentiality and anonymisation are crucial to the collection of data and recruiting process, and a central part of the information participants are given when asked for informed consent. Confidentiality refers to the researcher's responsible handling of the data and the duty to not disseminating it in ways that violate this contract (NESH, 2022). In the Stayer project, participants were given prewritten information and a short description of the project during the first treatment session (1-3) by their counsellor. The counsellor then asked if a research staff member could make contact to get informed consent to participate in the study. If the patient accepted this, a research staff member phoned the patient and scheduled an appointment to obtain written informed consent. Patients were offered a compensation of NOK 400 for the annual testing and NOK 200 for quarterly sessions. This is regarded as compensation for lost income during testing and interview sessions. Upholding confidentiality agreements is essential to the researcher's credibility and the participant's trust in the research. In such situations, informing participants about exemptions from this obligation is crucial.

Methods

Ethical permission is essential in research to safeguard good scientific practice and protect research participants' interests, safety, and rights. Research involving human participants must be ethically approved before the study begins. This is important to protect human dignity, rights, safety, and well-being. However, it may also reflect preventive measures to reduce reiterating previous misdeeds in research, where respect for participants has been absent, i.e. the Dachau hypothermia experiments (where Jews were submerged in ice cold water to investigate how long they could survive) or the Tuskegee syphilis study (where treatment was withheld from African Americans). In these studies, participants were used *only* as a means to an end which deviates from Kant's humanity principle mentioned above and the Helsinki declaration stating that respect for persons should take precedence over the interests of science (and society). In science, research participants are used as a means to an end, such as increasing knowledge, and may sometimes be asked to take risks. It is, therefore, pivotal that we have ethical guidelines that safeguard their interests.

Researchers must follow particular laws and rules, e.g. the Health Research Act, international conventions (Nürnberg, Helsinki, Oviedo), and research committees (Norwegian Centre for Research Data, the Regional Committees for Medical and Health Research Ethics) to be able to do research on human beings. In Norway, research projects on human beings must be pre-approved by REK before starting.

To obtain ethical approval or permission, the researcher has demonstrated that s/he has adhered to the accepted ethical standards, rules, and laws of a genuine research study. Thus, when applying for permission in clinical studies, one must take into account participants' consent to participate in research and the legal requirements concerning the storage of personal data/data protection, but also access to and sharing of such data, and issues of confidentiality and anonymity mentioned above. In addition, I will mention issues related to vulnerable groups, direct involvement, and risk of harm and disadvantage. SUD Methods

patients may be regarded as belonging to a vulnerable group. They often have poorer socio-economic status and a higher disease burden, such as a higher risk of contracting Covid-19 (Hiller-Sturmhoefel, 2021). In this respect, researchers have the responsibility to protect their interests and integrity, such as making sure that they do not experience pressure to consent to participation (e.g. monetary pressure) and do not have impaired capacity to consent (NESH, 2022). The participants in the Stayer project are directly involved and affected by the research; therefore, the researchers have a responsibility towards them. Furthermore, such involvement may also lead to participation bias that may impede the project results. For instance, participants may change their behaviour if they know that they are being watched. This is called the Hawthorne effect. If participants behave differently than usual, this reduces the validity of the study results. However, participants studied for a more extended period, such as in longitudinal studies, tend to habituate to being observed and, as a result, behave as they usually would. When studying human beings, researchers are responsible for ensuring that the participants are not exposed to harm and unreasonable disadvantage. In the Stayer project, I will suggest that one possible (although maybe not unreasonable) disadvantage was the quarterly follow-ups which may have been too demanding for some participants during the first two years of follow-up. However, some participants states this was not the case (Svendsen et al., 2020).

Service users have been involved in planning the Stayer-project, such as research design and monitoring, contributing to research questions and hypotheses, and data collection. In the Stayer project, providing feedback to the participants was relatively easy (Svendsen et al., 2017). Biweekly short messaging service (SMS) monitoring and regular phone calls helped retain the participants in the project. The participants also received reminders for appointments and flexible procedures for follow-up, and there was a focus on the early establishment of working alliances and providing individual follow-up adaptations to increase motivation

(Svendsen et al., 2017). Ongoing monitoring and feedback seem to have positively influenced the retention rate, i.e. potentially decreased dropout rate.

Since the beginning of the Stayer project in 2012 to the present, there have been changes concerning some of the above-mentioned regulations and rules in Norway and the EU. One change affecting Norway and the EU is the new legislation following GDPR. However, GDPR did not affect the protocol with regard to informed consent. GDPR views pseudo-anonymisation differently than Norwegian law, i.e. it is stricter than in Norway. However, pseudo-anonymisation and encryption following Norwegian law are still regarded as safeguarding the participants, e.g. through the Health Research Act. The Stayer study's latest REK approval was received in January 2021 for the collection of data from 2022-2025.

8 Findings

8.1 Summary paper I

The title of the paper is "Is the relapse concept in studies of substance use disorders a 'one size fits all' concept? A systematic review of relapse operationalisations". Relapse is both a theoretical construct and an empirical object of inquiry. It is unclear how relapse is operationalised with regard to the various phases in SUD. The objective was to investigate *relapse* operationalisations in SUDs studies after short-term and long-term abstinence, and remission, recovery, and slip. We found that 89 out of 276 studies mentioned relapse but provided no definition of relapse. Moreover, 70% of the studies had a follow-up duration of less than two years. The remaining studies had either two or more years of follow-up. Our narrative analysis suggests that the operationalisations of abstinence, remission, recovery, relapse, and slip mainly focused on time, use, diagnostic criteria, amount and frequency, psychosocial, and measure. Moreover, there are different levels of detail in the operationalisations. Of the 16 studies with a follow-up duration of up to two years, one (six percent) contained a definition of 'long-term abstinence'. Of the 64 studies with a follow-up duration of more than two years, four (six percent) contained a definition of 'long-term abstinence'. Of those, one (two percent) mentioned 'early relapse', and one (two percent) mentioned 'late relapse'. We identified no consensus on *relapse* operationalisations nor agreement on the differentiation between early and late relapse. In this regard, the clinical utility of current relapse operationalisations seems low and may compromise knowledge accumulation about relapse and implementation of research into treatment. The paper was published in Alcohol and Drug Review.

8.2 Summary paper II

The title of the paper is "The predicting role of psychological functioning in remission and recovery in substance use disorder across 5 years." Findings

Longitudinal studies on mechanisms and mediators in SUD recovery research are sparse, especially on psychological and social factors. Thus, knowledge of what psychological mechanisms support or impede the recovery processes is needed. The objective was to investigate the predicting role of psychological functioning in symptomatic remission and clinical recovery annually across five years. While psychological functioning did predict long-term stability in symptomatic remission over the long term, a significant loss of remission also occurred within the group with the greatest change in this domain. For instance, in year three, 23 out of 113 participants achieved remission, while in year five, there were nine. There was a similar relationship between psychological functioning and clinical recovery. Whereas 16 out of 113 participants obtained recovery in year three, 12 did in year four. In year five, three participants obtained recovery, but the result was non-significant. We obtained comparable results when investigating a one standard deviation improvement in psychological functioning from baseline to the fifth year. Six out of 45 obtained symptomatic remission, while three out of 45 obtained clinical recovery. Improvement in psychological functioning seems important to obtain recovery but insufficient to maintain SUD recovery across several years, suggesting that other functional and social aspects must be included to sustain recovery. This paper is resubmitted.

8.3 Summary paper III

The paper's title is "Changes in the trajectories of drug-free friendships and substance use among a cohort of individuals with multiple substance use disorders." Longitudinal studies of the association between polysubstance use disorder trajectories and alcohol- and drug use, debut age and gender are scares. The objectives were to investigate alcohol and drug use trajectories annually across four years, i.e. from first to fifth follow-up, and how such trajectories may be associated with drug-free relationships, gender, and debut age. The main finding is alcohol and drug use stability across four years, i.e. from first to fifth follow-up. Furthermore, drug-free friendships were fairly constant across four years Findings

and did not affect alcohol and drug use in four of the five follow-ups. We found that neither gender nor debut age had any significant association with drug use trajectories. The paper discusses how the findings deviate from previous research on gender, debut age, and drug-free friendships. *This paper is in review*.

The main objective of this thesis was to investigate some psychological and social factors in relapse after long-term abstinence (late relapse). To achieve this, we first completed a systematic review of how the SUD field operationalises relapse after short-term and long-term abstinence, remission, recovery, and slip or lapse. This provided us with an overview of how relapse has been operationalised during the various phases of substance use disorder and what the SUD field considers to be a late relapse. Second, we investigated the predicting role of psychological functioning in symptomatic remission and clinical recovery annually across five years. Third, we investigated alcohol and drug use trajectories annually across four years and their association with drug-free friendships, debut age, and gender. Taken together, we could say that the three studies relate to what Ian Hacking (1983) calls 'representing and intervening'. SUD science not only represents its scientific objects, such as theory and operationalisation of recovery and relapse but also uses these to intervene in the world through quantitative or qualitative experiments. Recovery and relapse are complex issues in SUD theory and science. What is evident from recent studies on these topics, is that broader social context has been neglected in SUD research. Furthermore, there is a lack of knowledge about recovery measures, mechanisms, and mediators. I will now discuss these issues in relation to the three papers. I will first discuss these issues on a *conceptual* level focusing on paper I. Second, I will address the experimental level focusing on papers II and III.

9.1. Conceptualisation of recovery and relapse

Although we investigated abstinence, remission, and slip/lapse in paper I, this part of the discussion will focus mostly on recovery and relapse, mainly because our review implies that there is no consistent use of 'late relapse' and 'recovery' which are core concepts in SUD research.

SUD recovery is characterised as a protracted developmental change process consisting of trajectories with different transitions and stages, such as early (< 1 year), sustained (1-5 years), and stable (> 5 years) recovery (Martinelli, van de Mheen, Best, Vanderplasschen, & Nagelhout, 2021). Presumably, this suggests that relapse may be different in early, sustained, and stable recovery stages as these phases involve different developmental change processes and transitions (Martinelli et al., 2020). However, our review suggests that SUD research largely does not distinguish between late and early relapse, consists of more short-term studies than long-term studies, and uses different operationalisations of the same key concepts to understand SUD relapse. This suggests that SUD research does not consistently integrate relapse with recovery.

Variation in operationalisations is not only a problem in SUD research The variation in the operationalisation of key concepts may imply that SUD research does not agree on how to represent them. It may also indicate that the concepts are challenging to pinpoint due to their complexity. In the latter case, different operationalisations may imply different decisions on how to represent. We mention in our review that it may be a case of different levels of detail in operationalisations, such as in the representation of 'relapse.' Most of the operationalisations of relapse involve consumption of substance use. Based on this, we may claim that most of them overlap. Hence, the operationalisations are not incommensurable in terms of comparability. In this context, we may argue that the challenges presented by Hagger (2014) are common in the translation of scientific results into practice (Young & Borland, 2011) and not particular to SUD research (e.g. the same challenge exists in social psychology (Skinner, 1996) and neuropsychology (Barkley, 2014)). Nevertheless, different operationalisations of the same construct may make it more challenging to aggregate research findings, i.e. conducting traditional systematic reviews and meta-analyses.

Scientific studies operate in a different context than do practice and interventions. One may conjecture that science, to various degrees, removes contaminating factors to investigate relationships. Afterwards, if specific relationships are found, the task involves adding back contaminating factors (Fjelland, 2002). In our case, this recontamination would refer to the process of translating the findings into practice. Archie Cochrane mentioned a similar distinction when differentiating between efficacy and effectiveness (Berg, 2021). Efficacy refers to the scientific merits of a treatment, while effectiveness denotes the translation of scientific research into practice. Berg (2021) points out that whereas science reduces complexity, the reduction of complexity is in clinical practice related to the risk of suboptimal treatment services. This thesis suggests that relapse and recovery are dynamic and complex phenomena which are not easily conceptualised. Research reduces these phenomena in order to study them and may only capture some parts of the whole. Service providers should be aware of this reduction in research when they implement the findings in practice.

Moreover, the scarcity of long-term studies and limited focus on functional measures (Bjornestad et al., 2020) in SUD recovery research may have contributed to overlooking this complexity. A similar incident occurred in schizophrenia research and practice: As mentioned in section 3.2, Friesen (2019) argues that there was a narrow focus in schizophrenia recovery research focusing on symptoms rather than functional measures. Although these studies showed some efficacy, they generally had low effectiveness. After a while, it was recognised that one possible reason for low effectiveness was the research favouring symptom measures rather than functional ones. This realization, and that service-users expressed that recovery research focused on factors that were not relevant for their recovery, led to a change in focus.

The cyclic nature of SUD and the necessary inclusion of complexity SUD is typically cyclical (Arria & McLellan, 2012; McKay & Hiller-Sturmhofel, 2011), and therefore remission, recovery, and relapse are

interrelated. This indicates that studies of relapse should include remission and recovery to highlight the nature of SUD. Paper II in this thesis shows that there is a difference between obtaining symptomatic remission and clinical recovery. Although we found that improved psychological functioning aids remission and recovery, it was insufficient to maintain recovery across five years. Paper I finds that some of the operationalisations of remission and recovery presume that abstinence is the primary goal. Such operationalisations appear not to consider that SUD is often a cyclic process (McKay & Hiller-Sturmhöfel, 2011). Thus, it may be that such operationalisations reduce the complexity of the phenomenon too much, in the sense that abstinence gets more focus compared to other aspects of remission and recovery. Even though SUD research should reduce complexity, such reduction may pulverise the phenomenon and possibly narrow representation. In such instances, it becomes crucial to include theory and previous research to contextualise findings.

SUD research, it seems, should to a higher degree juxtapose the importance of personal (Davidson et al., 2007a; Leamy et al., 2011) and social (Price-Robertson et al., 2017) functioning in recovery research and the challenge of reducing these concepts in order to measure them. In summary, the operationalisations of remission and recovery do not adequately reflect that they are long-term processes, including profound behavioural changes across different life domains. As with 'relapse,' they seem to mostly favour abstinence, but not the contextual dimension.

Relapse is a change point and not an end outcome

Paper I highlights that relapse is part of a dynamic change process. Relapse is a matter of problematic patterns of substance use, not a matter of returning to any use of a substance whatsoever. However, addiction research has not properly distinguished between relapse as a dynamic rather than static event (Chung & Maisto, 2006; Maisto et al., 2016). If a relapse is mostly understood as a discrete outcome, i.e. any substance use, it overlooks how common relapse is in SUD recovery (Miller, 1996).

Conceptualising 'relapse' in a binary fashion might substantiate 'relapse' as a static phenomenon that is the same whenever it happens in recovery and that recovery is about abstinence. Several studies indicate that abstinence or being symptom-free is not the sole criteria, maybe even not necessary, for recovery (Friesen, 2019; Witkiewitz et al., 2020; Witkiewitz & Tucker, 2020; Witkiewitz et al., 2019). A binary conceptualisation hides that 'relapse' is a dynamic phenomenon influenced by the duration of abstinence and behavioural changes. Thus, a relapse is influenced by when it happens in the recovery process (Martinelli et al., 2020). A central implication of this realization is that it may be necessary for SUD recovery research to acknowledge that relapse is part of the SUD cycle and an integral part of recovery. Hence, rather than reaching a consensus on relapse operationalisation, although higher agreement on defining relapse is warranted, the focus should be an increased focus on integrating recovery measures with substance use measures and viewing relapse as a clinical marker representing a change point.

Late relapse or just 'relapse'

Our systematic review found neither evidence of differentiation between early and late relapse nor consensus on relapse operationalisation. Additionally, there were fewer long-term than short-term studies, implying that the knowledge base on recovery extending two years is scarce compared to the knowledge on short-term recovery. Furthermore, the lack of differentiation of when relapse happens in the recovery process seems to imply that relapse is a static phenomenon, while research suggests that it is dynamic (Chung & Maisto, 2006; Maisto et al., 2016; Miller, 1996).

As mentioned above, SUD research rarely uses recovery measures in longitudinal studies (Bjornestad et al., 2020). This may indicate that relapse and recovery stages are not integrated, i.e. understood as events that are related to each other. If SUD research uses both recovery and substance use measures, it may be easier to incorporate recovery stages (Martinelli et al., 2020) and relapse, i.e. early (< 1 year), intermediate (1-5 years), and late relapse (> 5 years). Differentiating between relapses may make it possible to construct phase-specific treatments depending on when relapse happens in recovery. Moreover, it may provide the necessary framework for SUD research to focus on specific mechanisms and mediators in the recovery stages.

9.2 The social context in SUD recovery

In section 9.1, I discussed how science reduces complexity. Papers II and III are examples of this. It is therefore of vital importance to discuss them in relation to a larger context in order to ensure that the findings are interpreted contextually and in order to handle contaminating factors that are added back in the process of translation from research to practice.

Recovery occurs in a larger context suffusing individuality

As already argued, SUD recovery involves other factors than substance use, including changes in social and professional functioning and other life domains (Martinelli et al., 2020; White, 2009). Moreover, SUD is embedded in a larger social context (Price-Robertson et al., 2017) involving places, materialities, social living conditions, and social relations (Alegría et al., 2018; Doroud, Fossey, & Fortune, 2018; Larsen et al., 2021; Mezzina et al., 2006; Topor et al., 2022; Topor, Borg, Di Girolamo, & Davidson, 2011; World Health Organization, 2017). Previous research has shown that personal and social functioning measures are related to stable outcomes in recovery (McKay, 2017; Slade et al., 2012; Sobell, Ellingstad, & Sobell, 2000; Tiffany et al., 2012).

The findings in paper II suggest that improvement in psychological functioning is associated with obtaining clinical recovery and maintaining it over five years. This is in line with previous research stating that improvement in psychological functioning reduces the risk of relapse (Andreas et al., 2015; Booth et al., 2010; Erga et al., 2020;

Grella & Shi, 2011). However, there is an annual decline in recovery. Our findings do not suggest that improvement in psychological functioning is associated with clinical recovery maintenance (Mericle et al., 2014; Polcin et al., 2016) over time. Although improvement in psychological functioning may be associated with short-term clinical recovery (Johannessen et al., 2019), our findings suggest that this is not the case for long-term clinical recovery. Indirectly, our findings indicate that other factors are relevant to obtaining and maintaining recovery (since not all participants attained nor sustained recovery). It could also be the case that the association between psychological functioning, substance reduction, having drug-free friends, and employment or having other meaningful activities influence each other in ways that are not detectable in our analyses. For instance, in paper III, drug-free friendships do not seem to influence substance use reduction. This may be due to the measure being dichotomous, and therefore it may not be sufficiently sensitive. However, in our operationalisation of recovery in paper II, we presume that having drug-free friends influences the participants' recovery process, which may not be the case.

In line with previous research (Sobell et al., 2000; White, 2007), our results substantiate the claim that the temporal criterion in recovery should be longer than two years. The annual decline of recovery across five years may suggest the need for longitudinal research extending two years, including personal and social mechanisms and mediators. This is in line with current SUD research (Vanderplasschen & Best, 2021). Our study is narrow in the sense that it focuses on psychological functioning and clinical recovery. As mentioned above, these concepts are highly complex. For instance, our study does not include how people with SUD are often marginalised and suffer from social inequality (Room, 2005). In general, studies show that social determinants influence health and mental health (Alegría et al., 2018; Ramon, 2018; World Health Organization, 2017) and that the need for mattering is essential to the

quality of life and health (Prilleltensky, 2020). Presumably, these social factors influence recovery.

"Friends have no influence?"

The results in paper III are surprising given that they are mostly contrary to all we know about positive social recovery factors. As stated above, social support seems to be essential to recovery (Ellis et al., 2004; McKay, 2017; Ness et al., 2014; Nesvåg & McKay, 2018; Nordfjærn, 2011; van Melick et al., 2013; Vigdal et al., 2022; Weisner et al., 2003). Previous research has typically indicated either a positive, negative, or mixed association between drug-free friendships and recovery (McCrady, 2004). It seems that friendships did not influence the alcohol and substance use of the participants in our study. Generally, research suggests that positive drug-free friendships facilitate recovery maintenance (Lookatch et al., 2019), while having unsupportive drug-free friends deteriorate recovery (Dennis et al., 2007; Groh et al., 2008). Thus, there is good reason to include supportive social networks in the aiding of SUD recovery (Martinelli et al., 2021).

Interviews with individuals from the Stayer study who had been in recovery for two years or more suggested that family and friends played a key role in their recovery (Veseth et al., 2019). Based on this knowledge, treatment services should try to include supportive social networks, (re)establish positive relations with friends and family and try to facilitate such a social foundation in a long-term perspective. However, they should be aware that some friendships may not aid recovery. Treatment may use RC as a theoretical framework to highlight recovery assets in personal, social, and community domains. For instance, economic resources may be important for SUD recovery as poverty is linked to poor mental health (Ramon, 2018). Additionally, social isolation is related to poverty (Topor et al., 2022). This means that the three domains should be distinguished in order to divide recovery

into more manageable parts, but that they should not be regarded in isolation.

Long-term follow-up and treatment and welfare

Acknowledging these social factors and considering SUD as a long-term disorder have implications for SUD research, treatment, and health and welfare services. As I have already discussed the implications for SUD research, I will here focus on treatment and welfare. SUD treatment and health services should provide long-term follow-up focusing on psychological functioning and other social factors, such as supportive friends and networks, employment, meaningful activities, places, and materialities. Social equality (social determinants) should also be addressed as their impact on well-being and mental health is evident (Di Martino & Prilleltensky, 2020). This will potentially mitigate psychiatrisation (Topor et al., 2022) as recovery is placed in a larger context.

Such a focus is an opportunity to teach SUD patients about what contributes to citizenship, and how treatment and service providers may contribute to SUD patients obtaining them. For instance, are civil, political, and social rights equally attainable for SUD patients as they are for others? Moreover, people need to feel valued and add value, and experience belonging in society (Prilleltensky, 2020; Quinn et al., 2020). It may be that including this knowledge in SUD recovery underscores how important relationships and social environment are for recovery, as it is for any individual's well-being and health (Von Heimburg & Ness, 2021).

Gender does matter in SUD recovery

There is a paucity of SUD recovery studies focusing on gender differences (Kougiali, Pytlik, & Soar, 2021; Van Steenberghe, Vanderplasschen, Bellaert, & De Maeyer, 2021). Collinson and Hall (2021) seek to fill this knowledge gap. They consider recovery to be a

socially mediated process and claim that gender is a central mediator in SUD, showing that women and men are likely to have different recovery mechanisms and mediators. Research has found differences between men and women in terms of mental health and relational needs suggesting the need for gender-specific recovery interventions (Andersson, Wincup, Best, & Irving, 2021). Moreover, females are more likely to maintain abstinence over five to eight years compared to men (Dennis et al., 2007; Weisner et al., 2003). It is therefore interesting that we did not find gender differences in alcohol and drug use trajectories in paper III. Our finding implies that gender may not influence alcohol and drug use trajectories. Hence, there may be equal opportunities for both genders to achieve recovery. However, previous research shows that females have lower risks of relapse after recovery than men (Grella, Scott, Foss, & Dennis, 2008) and that there is a gender difference in substance use levels (Riley, Hempel, & Clasen, 2018; Salom, Betts, Williams, Najman, & Alati, 2016; Zakiniaeiz & Potenza, 2018). Consequently, there seems to be evidence for recommending treatment interventions that take gender into account.

9.3 Summary

Papers II and III in this thesis suggests that there is no explicit (single) dependent variable affecting recovery and remission. This is also the case in previous research – paper I found that conceptualisations of key concepts vary, and there is no real consensus in research operationalisations; there is a scarcity in longitudinal research focusing on personal and social functioning. This adds to the theoretical literature on recovery, RC, and remission, as various definitions of critical concepts may make conceptual development challenging. Fewer longitudinal studies suggest a knowledge gap with regard to what increases the likelihood of recovery, what types of RC are relevant to the different phases of recovery, and whether they differ from remission. Lastly, there is a lack of knowledge about the interaction between

functional measures and recovery and how RC may be related to this process.

In section 9.1 *Conceptualisation of recovery and relapse*, I discussed the implications of the lack of consensus on the definition of recovery and remission in SUD research and treatment. Limited consensus may influence RC conceptualisation. For instance, the field does not consistently integrate relapse with recovery, which may make it challenging to know the strengths and barriers to RC, such as what prevents relapse in the different recovery phases, but more positively, what advances recovery. Moreover, various operationalisations of recovery and remission may make it more challenging to develop RC concepts such as personal and social capital. Additionally, a scarcity of longitudinal research limits our knowledge of which RC components are relevant to long-term recovery.

This thesis further implies that being remitted for 12 months appears to be no guarantee for obtaining and maintaining recovery. Previous research suggests that recovery lasts for several years. This thesis supports this finding and emphasises that functional measures are a critical part of recovery and, thus, remission. Hence, this thesis suggests that it may be helpful to implement functional measures in treatment to track remission progress.

The findings from papers II and III emphasise that recovery and remission are complex, i.e. there is no single dependent variable for obtaining and maintaining recovery. This influences RC since it indicates that several key components must be present to facilitate recovery. For example, paper II suggests that psychological functioning aids recovery and seems to increase the chance of recovery. However, more aspects than psychological functioning alone appears to be needed. Other resources may be necessary, e.g. accessibility to recovery centres, reduced stigma, and positive social networks, for obtaining and

maintaining recovery. Consequently, my findings suggest that improvement in psychological functioning may be a form of personal capital (for some people but not all). Results from paper III indicate that drug-free friendships may not be as an important form of social capital (for some people but not all), which is contrary to the findings of previous research. My papers do not elaborate on how community capital may have influenced the results.

10 Strengths and limitations

Strengths

There are two notable strengths to this project. First, the systematic review's detailed field description of operationalisations, the amount of short-term versus long-term studies, and the representations of early and late relapse. Paper I emphasises that operationalisations vary. Knowledge about this variation is essential for traditional systematic reviews and meta-analyses as they often deal with numbers and not definitions. Hence, our review may provide a background for interpreting possible discrepancies in accumulating research on abstinence, relapse, remission, recovery, and slip or lapse. Furthermore, it highlights the need for more long-term studies. We argue for the possibility of differentiating between early and late relapse in terms of recovery research and theory and other research emphasising that relapse in early recovery may differ from later relapses. Second, the quantitative studies are based on one of the few longitudinal datasets with more than a two-year annual follow-up on psychological and social variables and SUD and gender. In this respect, this thesis adds knowledge to SUD recovery mechanisms and mediators, which is highly needed according to previous research (Bjornestad et al., 2020; Vanderplasschen & Best, 2021).

Limitations

In the systematic review, some operationalisations may have been missed. Further, each operationalisation was analysed using narrative synthesis, which has methodological and conceptual limitations. Methodologically, the emerging themes represents only one out of several possible ways of grouping the operationalisations. Hence, replicating the tabulation of operationalisations might result in different themes. Conceptually, the synthesis was an empirical and descriptive investigation, not theory-driven, which might complicate applying the results for theory building.

In both of the quantitative studies, the sample size is a limitation. However, McNeish (2019) argues that small samples are common in most longitudinal research due to logistical and financial constraints when following individuals for an extended period. However, because of the small sample, we had to resort to counting for parts of our analyses in paper II. We also used bag imputation, which has limitations in line with other imputation methods. The lack of specificity in the phrase 'having other meaningful activity' and the fact that the self-report questionnaires used in this study have not been validated are both potential weaknesses. We neither know if the same individuals obtained recovery each year nor the exact numeric reduction represented by one standard deviation. As this study used dichotomous variables to assess clinical recovery, we cannot be certain which variables were answered 'no' or 'yes' to for symptomatic and functional remission. Thus, we cannot infer from our results which parts of clinical recovery participants did not attain. The participants may only have relapsed, yet they were in functional remission; they may have attained symptomatic but not functional remission or scored 'no' on both symptomatic and functional remission.

In paper III, our alcohol and drug use measures only yielded sum scores. The variable 'drug-free friendships' is dichotomous and does not yield information about the frequency and quality of drug-free friendships and participants' friendship assessments. Thus, the measure may not be sufficiently sensitive, which may be indicated by the high scores in the cross-sectional analysis. Furthermore, the findings are based on a small dataset, and perhaps a more extensive dataset would yield one or more significant associations between SUD and drug-free friendships. The results may also be due to minor variations in SUD and drug-free friendships, both at initial levels and in development. We have limited information about the participants' diagnostic assessment. Thus, we have limited information about the number of SUDs and the types of SUD they had. Our assessment of participants' PSUD is based on their AUDIT and DUDIT scores showing that they use more than one substance. However, our assessment is not based on the initial diagnostic evaluation, which is a drawback.

Longitudinal cohort studies on recovery may have shortcomings concerning the creation of variables, controlling for comorbidity, and length and type of treatment. The studies in this thesis are no exception. The outcome variables are created from the accessible data, not from definitions of the outcome variables made in advance. These variables might have represented the phenomenon better if they had been created from theoretical definitions. However, how to represent a phenomenon is a general problem for science (Canguilhem, 2000; Hacking, 1983). Furthermore, the chosen variables are assessed as relevant for recovery, both prior to the announcement of this PhD project and afterwards, preparing for statistical analyses.

There is a lack of consensus of what constitutes recovery (see paper I), which may be a challenge to establishing definitions beforehand. It may be argued that the use of predefined variables to assess clinical recovery is common in recovery research, i.e. using indirect measures or defining phenomena or concepts differently (Liberman & Kopelowicz, 2005; Slade et al., 2012). Thus, my clinical recovery variable does not stand out compared to previous research.

SUD patients tend to suffer from psychiatric and somatic comorbidity that may affect their ability to obtain and maintain recovery (Moe & Berg, 2022). As I neither controlled for psychiatric comorbidity, somatic diseases, nor genetic risk, as such information was unavailable, these parameters may have influenced my results.

The length of stay in SUD treatment (e.g. 12 months) has been associated with better treatment outcomes compared to patients who are in treatment for a shorter period (at 12 months follow-up) (Proctor & Herschman, 2014). Similar results are found for self-help groups or continuing care regarding abstinence. Higher attendance in self-help groups from the sixth to the twenty-fourth-month follow-up showed higher abstinence rates than those attending less frequently (Proctor & Herschman, 2014). As these variables were not included in my studies, I do not know to which degree they may have influenced my findings.

Although we cannot make firm conclusions, which is common in the social sciences, the analyses done in this thesis are good enough to generate hypotheses about recovery.

11 Implications for research and practice

As argued above, the different operationalisations may make it challenging to accumulate knowledge of the same construct since different terminology has been used to address similar phenomena (Hagger, 2014). However, this concerns most research fields (e.g. social psychology) and not SUD research in particular. The findings in paper I also suggest that relapse is viewed as a static phenomenon rather than as a part of a change process. Arguably, then, 'relapse' may not be integrated with the SUD cycle and recovery literature. This means that research risks neglecting that different stages of recovery may be related to different reasons for relapsing beyond substance use. It is a commonsensical assumption that being recovered for one year probably entails fewer changes across different life domains than being recovered for two years (see paper I for details). Even though recovery is a nonlinear process, this may imply that different treatment interventions should be used depending on when one relapses. The narrow focus on abstinence makes it hard to take into account how common relapse actually is, and that relapsing is dependent on when it happens. Thus, relapse, remission, and recovery cannot be assessed primarily from substance use, and assessment should also take into account the gradual and different behavioural changes.

The two quantitative studies indicate that long-term research extending over two years is necessary in order to depict the recovery process. Moreover, several recovery measures should be integrated, such as personal, social, and community measures. In paper III, the stability in alcohol and drug use trajectories across four years underline the need for more longitudinal research. A similar conclusion has been drawn in previous research, demonstrating that reduction in use takes several years (Dennis & Scott, 2007; Dennis, Scott, Funk, & Foss, 2005; Heyman, 2013). Higher temporal resolution between follow-ups may also prove to be useful. It may be opportune to investigate the frequency and quality of drug-free friendships, participant friendship assessment – including what study participants associate with having a friend – and whether the friendships are beneficial, detrimental, or both to participants' recovery.

Inevitably, these future research recommendations have implications for treatment in the sense that treatment should involve these three dimensions. Our findings suggest that it is simply not enough to rely on improved psychological functioning to obtain and maintain recovery. Thus, our results corroborate the need for comprehensive continuing care in SUD treatment (McLellan et al., 2000; McLellan, McKay, Forman, Cacciola, & Kemp, 2005; Nesvåg & McKay, 2018). Although our study suggests that treatment interventions that improve psychological functioning may be necessary to aid clinical recovery maintenance, it is by no means sufficient to maintain recovery across five years. This seems to imply that SUD treatment should include other treatment interventions, such as achieving employment/education and getting greater access to enjoyable or rewarding activities (Crutchfield & Guss, 2019; McKay, 2017). One may question to what degree functional remission promotes symptomatic remission. It may be the case that other features of the participants' community and social environment were of more importance, such as socioeconomic position, social capital, social justice, their experience of feeling valued and adding value to others, the self, work and the community (Alegría et al., 2018; Di Martino & Prilleltensky, 2020; Prilleltensky, 2020; World Health Organization, 2017).

In paper III, the stability in alcohol and drug use trajectories may suggest a need for long-term follow-up to reduce alcohol and drug use gradually over several years. This seems to be in agreement with previous research showing that alcohol and drug use reduction and abstinence takes many years (Dennis & Scott, 2007; Dennis et al., 2005; Heyman, 2013). Thus, the stability in alcohol and drug use, and not increasing recovery periods, suggests that planned and regular long-term follow-up including systematic assessments by treatment professionals may be beneficial (Arria & McLellan, 2012; Mertens, Flisher, Satre, & Weisner, 2008; Moe & Berg, 2022).

Our findings suggestively indicate that interventions other than drug-free friendships may be more relevant to facilitating recovery, such as employment or social networks (Ellis et al., 2004; McKay, 2017; Ness et al., 2014; Nesvåg & McKay, 2018; Nordfjærn, 2011; van Melick et al., 2013; Vigdal et al., 2022; Weisner et al., 2003). However, the literature suggests that drug-free friendships may be positive, negative or mixed (McCrady, 2004). More research than our study is needed before any definite conclusion on excluding drug-free friendships can be drawn, insofar as our results seem counterintuitive given previous research showing positive effects (see section 10 under *Limitations*). We suggest a similar conclusion for our results on debut age and gender. Studies suggest a relationship between gender and recovery, and that debut age is associated with adverse health-related and social outcomes. Consequently, SUD health services should probably focus on these factors in treatment.

12 Concluding remarks

Using a systematic review as a point of departure for the two subsequent studies was beneficial as it provided a sound foundation for the current knowledge base on relapse after long-term abstinence before conducting them. The review revealed that there is no differentiation between types of relapses, which may as such indicate that the recovery literature is not integrated into SUD research. Taken together with the finding that there are fewer long-term than short-term studies, this conjecture seems plausible. Furthermore, the review findings suggest that abstinence is favoured in operationalisations of relapse, remission, and recovery, which seems to disregard personal and social functioning and community factors. In summary, operationalisations of key concepts are inconsistent and knowledge about late relapse is scarce.

Our study on psychological functioning shows that improvement in this domain is important to obtain recovery but not sufficient to maintain it. We therefore argue that other social and municipal factors should be included. Additionally, we discuss the importance of social justice, equality, and mattering in relation to quality of life in SUD research and practice. This has been shown to be important for most human beings.

Our findings on gender, debut age, and drug-free friendships were contrary to previous research. In particular, our findings on gender and drug-free friendships appear to go in the other direction than both previous and current research and literature. Thus, we believe these findings warrant more research. The findings seem counterintuitive when considering how essential social relations are to humans and that gender may play a significant role in our preferences and needs.

This thesis is rooted in the perspective that humans are bodily and social beings living in a material and social world (Fjelland, 2020). We need others to survive and flourish in our everyday life. Caring and supportive relationships are essential for health and well-being (Von Heimburg &

Ness, 2021). Human beings are understood through a social context – in their relation to others and to their surroundings. This means that I in this thesis uphold a methodological collectivist stance which advocate that individuals do not exist as independent subjects independent of their contexts. Conversely, a methodological individualist would claim that social phenomena must be explained from individuals' actions alone or their rationality.

In the recovery literature and evidence, reduction in core symptoms is seen as expedient to recovery. However, there are few long-term studies extending two years on psychological and social factors. This thesis addresses this knowledge gap by investigating the psychological and social factors mentioned above in relation to late relapse, i.e. relapse happening after two years or more, in order to attain knowledge about recovery processes. Since there is less research on these recovery processes, we need valid and evidence-based knowledge on why some people experience late relapse while others do not. What are the differences and how may they increase or reduce relapse risk, quality of life, and functioning?

13 References

- Acock, A. C. (2008). *A gentle introduction to Stata*. College Station: TX: Stata press.
- Alegría, M., NeMoyer, A., Falgàs Bagué, I., Wang, Y., & Alvarez, K. (2018). Social Determinants of Mental Health: Where We Are and Where We Need to Go. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 20(11), 95. doi:10.1007/s11920-018-0969-9
- Amaro, H., Sanchez, M., Bautista, T., & Cox, R. (2021). Social vulnerabilities for substance use: Stressors, socially toxic environments, and discrimination and racism. *Neuropharmacology*, 188, 108518. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2021.108518
- American Psychiatric Association. (1994). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (IV ed.). APA: Washington, DC.: The American Psychiatric Association.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association.
- Andersen, F., Anjum, R. L., & Rocca, E. (2019). Philosophy of Biology: Philosophical bias is the one bias that science cannot avoid. *Elife*, 8, e44929. doi:10.7554/eLife.44929
- Andersson, C., Wincup, E., Best, D., & Irving, J. (2021). Gender and recovery pathways in the UK. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, 28(5), 454-464. doi:10.1080/09687637.2020.1852180
- Andersson, H. W., Wenaas, M., & Nordfjærn, T. (2019). Relapse after inpatient substance use treatment: a prospective cohort study among users of illicit substances. *Addictive behaviors*, 90, 222-228. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.11.008
- Andreas, J. B., Lauritzen, G., & Nordfjærn, T. (2015). Co-occurrence between mental distress and poly-drug use: a ten year prospective study of patients from substance abuse treatment. *Addictive behaviors*, 48, 71-78. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2015.05.001
- Arefjord, N., Morken, K., & Lossius, K. (2019). Mentalizing and substance use disorder. In A. Bateman & P. Fonagy (Eds.), *Handbook of mentalizing in mental health practice*. Washingthon DC, USA: American Psychiatric Publishing.

n	
D a = 1	01000000
πνι	$\nu n \nu m \nu c$
1101	
· J	

- Arria, A. M., & McLellan, A. T. (2012). Evolution of concept, but not action, in addiction treatment. *Substance Use and Misuse*, 47(0), 1041-1048. doi:10.3109/10826084.2012.663273
- Ashford, R. D., Brown, A. M., Canode, B., McDaniel, J., & Curtis, B. (2019). A Mixed-Methods Exploration of the Role and Impact of Stigma and Advocacy on Substance Use Disorder Recovery. *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly*, 37(4), 462-480. doi:10.1080/07347324.2019.1585216
- Babor, T. F., De La Fuente, J. R., Saunders, J., & Grant, M. (1992). AUDIT. The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test: Guidelines for use in primary health care. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Bandura, A. (1978). Social learning theory of aggression. *Journal of communication*, 28(3), 12-29.
- Bandura, A. (1999). A sociocognitive analysis of substance abuse: An agentic perspective. *Psychological Science*, 10(3), 214-217. doi:10.1111/1467-9280.00138
- Barbara, M. (2012). Structural equation modeling with Mplus: basic concepts, application, and programming. In: New York: Taylor & Francis Group.
- Barkley, R. A. (2014). The assessment of executive functioning using the Barkley Deficits in Executive Functioning Scales. In S. Goldstein & J. A. Naglieri (Eds.), *Handbook of executive functioning* (pp. 245-263): Springer Science + Buisness Media.
- Basedow, L. A., Kuitunen-Paul, S., Eichler, A., Roessner, V., & Golub, Y. (2021). Diagnostic Accuracy of the Drug Use Disorder Identification Test and Its Short Form, the DUDIT-C, in German Adolescent Psychiatric Patients. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 678819-678819. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2021.678819
- Basu, D., & Ghosh, A. (2018). Substance use and other addictive disorders in international classification of Diseases-11, and their relationship with diagnostic and statistical Manual-5 and international classification of Diseases-10. *Indian Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 34(5), 54-62. doi:10.4103/ijsp.ijsp_83_17
- Beeker, T., Mills, C., Bhugra, D., te Meerman, S., Thoma, S., Heinze, M., & von Peter, S. (2021). Psychiatrization of Society: A Conceptual Framework and Call for Transdisciplinary Research. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2021.645556
- Berg, H. (2021). Why Only Efficiency, and Not Efficacy, Matters in Psychotherapy Practice. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 1535. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2021.603211
- Berman, A. H., Bergman, H., Palmstierna, T., & Schlyter, F. (2005). Evaluation of the Drug Use Disorders Identification Test (DUDIT) in criminal justice and detoxification settings and in a Swedish population sample. *European Addiction Research*, 11(1), 22-31. doi:10.1159/000081413
- Best, D., Beckwith, M., Haslam, C., Alexander Haslam, S., Jetten, J., Mawson, E., & Lubman, D. I. (2016). Overcoming alcohol and other drug addiction as a process of social identity transition: The social identity model of recovery (SIMOR). *Addiction Research* & *Theory*, 24(2), 111-123. doi:10.3109/16066359.2015.1075980
- Best, D., & Hennessy, E. A. (2021). The science of recovery capital: Where do we go from here? *Addiction*. doi:10.1111/add.15732
- Best, D., Sondhi, A., Brown, L., Nisic, M., Nagelhout, G. E., Martinelli, T., . . . Vanderplasschen, W. (2021). The Strengths and Barriers Recovery Scale (SABRS): Relationships Matter in Building Strengths and Overcoming Barriers. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2021.663447
- Best, D., Vanderplasschen, W., & Nisic, M. (2020). Measuring capital in active addiction and recovery: the development of the strengths and barriers recovery scale (SABRS). *Substance abuse treatment, prevention, and policy, 15*(1), 1-8. doi:10.1186/s13011-020-00281-7
- Bjornestad, J., McKay, J. R., Berg, H., Moltu, C., & Nesvåg, S. (2020). How often are outcomes other than change in substance use measured? A systematic review of outcome measures in contemporary randomised controlled trials. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 39(4), 394-414. doi:10.1111/dar.13051
- Bjornestad, J., Svendsen, T. S., Slyngstad, T. E., Erga, A. H., McKay, J. R., Nesvag, S., . . . Moltu, C. (2019). "A Life More Ordinary" Processes of 5-Year Recovery From Substance Abuse. Experiences of 30 Recovered Service Users. *Frontiers Psychiatry*, 10, 689. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00689
- Bohn, M. J., Babor, T. F., & Kranzler, H. R. (1995). The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): validation of a screening

instrument for use in medical settings. *Journal of studies on alcohol*, 56(4), 423-432. doi:10.15288/jsa.1995.56.423

- Bollen, K. A., & Curran, P. J. (2006). *Latent curve models: A structural equation perspective*. Hoboken, New Jersey, USA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Booth, B. M., Curran, G., Han, X., Wright, P., Frith, S., Leukefeld, C., .
 Carlson, R. G. (2010). Longitudinal relationship between psychological distress and multiple substance use: Results from a three-year multisite natural-history study of rural stimulant users. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 71(2), 258-267. doi:10.15288/jsad.2010.71.258
- Bourdieu, P. (1977). *Outline of a Theory of Practice* (R. Nice, Trans.). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge university press.
- Brady, K. T., Gray, K. M., & Tolliver, B. K. (2011). Cognitive enhancers in the treatment of substance use disorders: clinical evidence. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 99(2), 285-294. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2011.04.017
- Brinkmann, S. (2015). Knausgård som forsker. In D. Bugge, S. Fauth, &O. Morsing (Eds.), *Knausgård i syv sind* (pp. 151-168).København, Danmark: Forlaget Anis.
- Brinkmann, S. (2016). *Diagnostic cultures: A cultural approach to the pathologization of modern life*. London and New York: Routledge.
- Brinkmann, S. (2017). *Philosophies of qualitative research*. NY, USA: Oxford University Press.
- Brown, T. A. (2015). *Confirmatory factor analysis for applied research*. New York and London: The Guilford Press.
- Bøe, T. D., Bertelsen, B., Larsen, I. B., & Topor, A. (2021). A qualitative fallacy: Life trapped in interpretations and stories. *Qualitative Research*, 0(0), 14687941211041916. doi:10.1177/14687941211041916
- Bøe, T. D., Larsen, I. B., & Topor, A. (2019). Nothing matters: the significance of the unidentifiable, the superficial and nonsense. *International journal of qualitative studies on health and wellbeing*, 14(1), 1684780. doi:10.1080/17482631.2019.1684780
- Calabria, B., Degenhardt, L., Briegleb, C., Vos, T., Hall, W., Lynskey, M., . . . McLaren, J. (2010). Systematic review of prospective studies investigating "remission" from amphetamine, cannabis,

cocaine or opioid dependence. *Addictive Behaviors*, 35(8), 741-749. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2010.03.019

- Campbell, C. E., & Maisto, S. A. (2018). Validity of the AUDIT-C screen for at-risk drinking among students utilizing university primary care. *Journal of American college health : J of ACH*, 66(8), 774-782. doi:10.1080/07448481.2018.1453514
- Canguilhem, G. (1991). *On the Normal and the Pathological* (C. R. Fawcett & R. S. Cohen, Trans. 1 ed.). New York, United States: Zone Books.
- Canguilhem, G. (2000). A Vital Rationalist: Selected Writings From Georges Canguilhem (A. Goldhammer, Trans. F. Delaporte Ed.). NY, New York: Zone Books.
- Carlsen, S.-E. L., Lunde, L.-H., & Torsheim, T. (2019). Predictors of quality of life of patients in opioid maintenance treatment in the first year in treatment. *Cogent Psychology*, *6*(1), 1565624. doi:10.1080/23311908.2019.1565624
- Carlsen, S.-E. L., Lunde, L.-H., & Torsheim, T. (2020). Opioid and Polydrug Use Among Patients in Opioid Maintenance Treatment. *Substance abuse and rehabilitation, 11, 9.* doi:10.2147/SAR.S221618
- Chappel, J. N. (1993). Long-term recovery from alcoholism. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, *16*(1), 177-187.
- Chung, T., & Maisto, S. A. (2006). Relapse to alcohol and other drug use in treated adolescents: Review and reconsideration of relapse as a change point in clinical course. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 26(2), 149-161. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2005.11.004
- Cloud, W., & Granfield, R. (2008). Conceptualizing Recovery Capital: Expansion of a Theoretical Construct. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 43(12-13), 1971-1986. doi:10.1080/10826080802289762
- Cohen, S., & Wills, T. A. (1985). Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *98*(2), 310.
- Collinson, B., & Hall, L. (2021). The role of social mechanisms of change in women's addiction recovery trajectories. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy,* 28(5), 426-436. doi:10.1080/09687637.2021.1929077
- Conrad, P. (1992). Medicalization and social control. *Annual review of Sociology*, *18*(1), 209-232.

- Cooper, R. E., Mason, J. P., Calton, T., Richardson, J., & Moncrieff, J. (2021). Opinion Piece: The case for establishing a minimal medication alternative for psychosis and schizophrenia. *Psychosis*, *13*(3), 276-285. doi:10.1080/17522439.2021.1930119
- Copello, A., Williamson, E., Orford, J., & Day, E. (2006). Implementing and evaluating social behaviour and network therapy in drug treatment practice in the UK: a feasibility study. *Addictive Behaviors*, *31*(5), 802-810. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2005.06.005
- Cornelius, J. R., Maisto, S. A., Pollock, N. K., Martin, C. S., Salloum, I. M., Lynch, K. G., & Clark, D. B. (2003). Rapid relapse generally follows treatment for substance use disorders among adolescents. *Addictive behaviors*, 28(2), 381-386.
- Crutchfield, D. A., & Guss, C. D. (2019). Achievement Linked to Recovery from Addiction: Discussing Education, Vocation, and Non-Addict Identity. *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly*, 37(3), 359-376. doi:10.1080/07347324.2018.1544058
- Davidson, L. (2016). The recovery movement: Implications for mental health care and enabling people to participate fully in life. *Health Affairs*, *35*(6), 1091-1097. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0153
- Davidson, L. (2020). Recovering a sense of self in schizophrenia. Journal of Personality, 88(1), 122-132. doi:10.1111/jopy.12471
- Davidson, L., & Roe, D. (2007). Recovery from versus recovery in serious mental illness: One strategy for lessening confusion plaguing recovery. *Journal of Mental Health*, *16*(4), 459-470. doi:10.1080/09638230701482394
- Davidson, L., Tondora, J., O'Connell, M. J., Kirk Jr, T., Rockholz, P., & Evans, A. C. (2007a). Creating a recovery-oriented system of behavioral health care: Moving from concept to reality. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 31(1), 23-31. doi:10.2975/31.1.2007.23.31
- Davidson, L., Tondora, J., O'Connell, M. J., Kirk Jr, T., Rockholz, P., & Evans, A. C. (2007b). Creating a recovery-oriented system of behavioral health care: Moving from concept to reality. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 31(1), 23. doi:10.2975/31.1.2007.23.31
- Davidson, L., White, W., Sells, D., Schmutte, T., O'Connell, M., Bellamy, C., & Rowe, M. (2010). Enabling or engaging? The role

of recovery support services in addiction recovery. *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly*, 28(4), 391-416. doi:10.1080/07347324.2010.511057

- De La Paz, G. (2012). Citizenship identity and social inequality. *Instituto Federal Electoral San Diego*, 1-10.
- Dennis, M., & Scott, C. K. (2007). Managing addiction as a chronic condition. Addiction Science & Clinical Practice, 4(1), 45. doi:10.1151/ascp074145
- Dennis, M. L., Foss, M. A., & Scott, C. K. (2007). An eight-year perspective on the relationship between the duration of abstinence and other aspects of recovery. *Evaluation Review*, 31(6), 585-612. doi:10.1177/0193841X07307771
- Dennis, M. L., Scott, C. K., Funk, R., & Foss, M. A. (2005). The duration and correlates of addiction and treatment careers. *Journal of substance abuse treatment*, 28(2), S51-S62. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2004.10.013
- Di Martino, S., & Prilleltensky, I. (2020). Happiness as fairness: The relationship between national life satisfaction and social justice in EU countries. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 48(6), 1997-2012. doi:10.1002/jcop.22398
- Domino, K. B., Hornbein, T. F., Polissar, N. L., Renner, G., Johnson, J., Alberti, S., & Hankes, L. (2005). Risk factors for relapse in health care professionals with substance use disorders. *Jama*, 293(12), 1453-1460. doi:10.1001/jama.293.12.1453
- Doroud, N., Fossey, E., & Fortune, T. (2018). Place for being, doing, becoming and belonging: A meta-synthesis exploring the role of place in mental health recovery. *Health Place*, *52*, 110-120. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2018.05.008
- Drake, R. E., O'Neal, E. L., & Wallach, M. A. (2008). A systematic review of psychosocial research on psychosocial interventions for people with co-occurring severe mental and substance use disorders. *Journal of substance abuse treatment*, *34*(1), 123-138. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2007.01.011
- Duncan, T. E., & Duncan, S. C. (2004). An introduction to latent growth curve modeling. *Behavior Therapy*, *35*(2), 333-363. doi:10.1016/S0005-7894(04)80042-X

Rei	ference	S
ncj	crence	

- el-Guebaly, N. (2012). The Meanings of Recovery From Addiction Evolution and Promises. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 6(1), 1-9. doi:10.1097/ADM.0b013e31823ae540
- Ellis, B., Bernichon, T., Yu, P., Roberts, T., & Herrell, J. M. (2004).
 Effect of social support on substance abuse relapse in a residential treatment setting for women. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 27(2), 213-221. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2004.01.011
- Enders, C. K. (2010). *Applied missing data analysis*. New York, USA: The Guilford press.
- Erga, A. H., Honsi, A., Anda-Agotnes, L. G., Nesvag, S., Hesse, M., & Hagen, E. (2020). Trajectories of psychological distress during recovery from polysubstance use disorder. *Addiction Research & Theory*, No Pagination Specified. doi:10.1080/16066359.2020.1730822
- Ersche, K., Fletcher, P., Lewis, S., Clark, L., Stocks-Gee, G., London, M., ... Sahakian, B. (2005). Abnormal frontal activations related to decision-making in current and former amphetamine and opiate dependent individuals. *Psychopharmacology*, *180*(4), 612-623.
- Fees, F. (2022). Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals. Retrieved from <u>https://www.icmje.org/icmje-</u> recommendations.pdf
- Felt, J. M., Depaoli, S., & Tiemensma, J. (2017). Latent Growth Curve Models for Biomarkers of the Stress Response. Frontiers in Neuroscience, 11. doi:10.3389/fnins.2017.00315
- Fjelland, R. (1991). The theory-ladenness of observations, the role of scientific instruments, and the Kantian a priori. *International studies in the philosophy of science*, 5(3), 269-280. doi:10.1080/02698599108573399
- Fjelland, R. (2002). Facing the problem of uncertainty. *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics*, 15(2), 155-169. doi:10.1023/A:1015001405816
- Fjelland, R. (2020). Why general artificial intelligence will not be realized. *Humanities and Social Sciences Communications*, 7(10), 1-9. doi:10.1057/s41599-020-0494-4

- Flaherty, M. T., Kurtz, E., White, W. L., & Larson, A. (2014). An interpretive phenomenological analysis of secular, spiritual, and religious pathways of long-term addiction recovery. *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly*, *32*(4), 337-356.
- Fleury, M.-J., Djouini, A., Huỳnh, C., Tremblay, J., Ferland, F., Ménard, J.-M., & Belleville, G. (2016). Remission from substance use disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 168*, 293-306.
- Frank, D. (2019). 'We're gonna be addressing your Pepsi use': How Recovery limits Methadone Maintenance Treatment's ability to help people in the era of overdose. *Journal of Extreme Anthropology*, 3(2), 1-20. doi:10.5617/jea.6737
- Friesen, P. (2019). Expanding outcome measures in schizophrenia research: Does the research domain criteria pose a threat? *Philosophy, Psychiatry, & Psychology, 26*(3), 243-260. doi:10.1353/ppp.2019.0039
- Galea, S., & Vlahov, D. (2002). Social determinants and the health of drug users: socioeconomic status, homelessness, and incarceration. *Public Health Rep, 117 Suppl 1*(Suppl 1), S135-145.
- Gioia, G. A., Isquith, P. K., Guy, S. C., Kenworthy, L., & Baron, I. S. (2000). Test review: Behavior rating inventory of executive function. *Child Neuropsychology*, *6*(3), 235-238. doi:10.1076/chin.6.3.235.3152
- Greenwood, C. J., Youssef, G. J., Betts, K. S., Letcher, P., McIntosh, J., Spry, E., . . Olsson, C. A. (2019). A comparison of longitudinal modelling approaches: Alcohol and cannabis use from adolescence to young adulthood. *Drug & Alcohol Dependence*, 201, 58-64. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.05.001
- Grella, C. E., Scott, C. K., Foss, M. A., & Dennis, M. L. (2008). Gender similarities and differences in the treatment, relapse, and recovery cycle. *Evaluation Review*, 32(1), 113-137. doi:10.1177/0193841X07307318
- Grella, C. E., & Shi, Y. (2011). Stability of Outcomes Following Residential Drug Treatment for Patients With Co-occurring Disorders. *Journal of Dual Diagnosis*, 7(1-2), 103-112. doi:10.1080/15504263.2011.566067

- Groh, D. R., Jason, L. A., & Keys, C. B. (2008). Social network variables in alcoholics anonymous: A literature review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 28(3), 430-450. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2007.07.014
- Gueta, K., Chen, G., & Ronel, N. (2021). Maintenance of long-term recovery from substance use: a mixed methods study of self- and treatment-changers. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, 28(5), 511-522. doi:10.1080/09687637.2020.1800592
- Hacking, I. (1983). *Representing and intervening: Introductory topics in the philosophy of natural science*. Cambridge: Cambridge university press.
- Hagen, E. (2018). Cognitive and psychological functioning in patients with substance use disorder; from initial assessment to one-year recovery. (PhD Doctoral). UiB, Skipnes Kommunikasjon / University of Bergen. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/1956/17408
- Hagen, E., Erga, A. H., Hagen, K. P., Nesvåg, S. M., McKay, J. R., Lundervold, A. J., & Walderhaug, E. (2017). One-year sobriety improves satisfaction with life, executive functions and psychological distress among patients with polysubstance use disorder. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 76, 81-87. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2017.01.016
- Hagen, E., Erga, A. H., Hagen, K. P., Nesvåg, S. M., McKay, J. R., Lundervold, A. J., & Walderhaug, E. J. J. o. S. A. T. (2016).
 Assessment of executive function in patients with substance use disorder: A comparison of inventory-and performance-based assessment. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 66, 1-8. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2016.02.010
- Hagen, E., Sømhovd, M., Hesse, M., Arnevik, E. A., & Erga, A. H. (2019). Measuring cognitive impairment in young adults with polysubstance use disorder with MoCA or BRIEF-A - The significance of psychiatric symptoms. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 97, 21-27. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2018.11.010
- Hagger, M. S. (2014). Avoiding the "déjà-variable" phenomenon: Social psychology needs more guides to constructs. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*, 52. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00052
- Harding, C. M., Brooks, G. W., Ashikaga, T., Strauss, J. S., & Breier, A. (1987). The Vermont longitudinal study of persons with severe

mental illness, II: Long-term outcome of subjects who retrospectively met DSM-III criteria for schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*, 144(6), 727-735. doi:10.1176/ajp.144.6.727

- Havassy, B. E., Hall, S. M., & Wasserman, D. A. (1991). Social support and relapse: Commonalities among alcoholics, opiate users, and cigarette smokers. *Addictive Behaviors*, 16(5), 235-246. doi:10.1016/0306-4603(91)90016-B
- Health Research Act. (2008). ACT 2008-06-20 no. 44: Act on medical and health research. In: The Norwegian Lovdata Foundation Oslo, Norway.
- Hegelstad, W. t. V., Larsen, T. K., Auestad, B., Evensen, J., Haahr, U., Joa, I., . . . Opjordsmoen, S. (2012). Long-term follow-up of the TIPS early detection in psychosis study: effects on 10-year outcome. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 169(4), 374-380. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11030459
- Hendershot, C. S., Witkiewitz, K., George, W. H., & Marlatt, G. A. (2011). Relapse prevention for addictive behaviors. *Substance abuse treatment, prevention, and policy, 6*(1), 17. doi:10.1186/1747-597X-6-17
- Hennessy, E. A. (2017). Recovery capital: a systematic review of the literature. *Addiction Research & Theory*, 25(5), 349-360. doi:10.1080/16066359.2017.1297990
- Heyman, G. M. (2013). Quitting drugs: quantitative and qualitative features. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *9*, 29-59. doi:10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032511-143041
- Hildebrand, M. (2015). The psychometric properties of the drug use disorders identification test (DUDIT): a review of recent research. *Journal of substance abuse treatment*, 53, 52-59. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2015.01.008
- Hiller-Sturmhoefel, S. (2021). People with SUDs have increased risk for COVID-19 and worse outcomes. NIDA Notes. <u>https://www.</u> drugabuse. gov/news-events/nidanotes/2021/01/people-withsuds-have-increased-risk-forcovid-19-worse-outcomes.
- Jin, H., Rourke, S. B., Patterson, T. L., Taylor, M. J., & Grant, I. (1998). Predictors of relapse in long-term abstinent alcoholics. *Journal* of Studies on Alcohol, 59(6), 640-646. doi:10.15288/jsa.1998.59.640

- Johannessen, D. A., Nordfjærn, T., & Geirdal, A. Ø. (2019). Change in psychosocial factors connected to coping after inpatient treatment for substance use disorder: a systematic review. *Substance abuse treatment, prevention, and policy, 14*(1), 16. doi:10.1186/s13011-019-0210-9
- Karadzhov, D. (2021). Personal recovery and socio-structural disadvantage: A critical conceptual review. *Health (London)*, 13634593211014250. doi:10.1177/13634593211014250
- Karterud, S. (2011). Manual for mentaliseringsbasert terapi (MBT) og MBT vurderingsskala: versjon individualterapi. Oslo: Gyldendal Akademisk.
- Kelly, J. F., Stout, R. L., Greene, M. C., & Slaymaker, V. (2014). Young adults, social networks, and addiction recovery: post treatment changes in social ties and their role as a mediator of 12-step participation. *PLoS ONE*, 9(6), e100121. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0100121
- Khadjesari, Z., White, I. R., McCambridge, J., Marston, L., Wallace, P., Godfrey, C., & Murray, E. (2017). Validation of the AUDIT-C in adults seeking help with their drinking online. Addiction Science & Clinical Practice, 12(2), 1-11. doi:10.1186/s13722-016-0066-5
- Kim, H., Ku, B., Kim, J. Y., Park, Y.-J., & Park, Y.-B. (2016). Confirmatory and Exploratory Factor Analysis for Validating the Phlegm Pattern Questionnaire for Healthy Subjects. *Evidencebased complementary and alternative medicine : eCAM, 2016*, 2696019-2696019. doi:10.1155/2016/2696019
- Kougiali, Z. G., Pytlik, A., & Soar, K. (2021). Mechanisms and processes involved in women's pathways into alcohol dependence and towards recovery: a qualitative meta-synthesis. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy, 28*(5), 437-453. doi:10.1080/09687637.2021.1904836
- Kuhar, M. J., Unnerstall, J. R., & De Souza, E. B. (1985). Receptor mapping in neuropharmacology by autoradiography: some technical problems. *NIDA Res Monogr*, 62, 1-12.
- Kuhn, M., & Johnson, K. (2019). *Feature engineering and selection: A practical approach for predictive models*. USA: CRC Press.
- Kverme, B., Natvik, E., Veseth, M., & Moltu, C. (2019). Moving Toward Connectedness – A Qualitative Study of Recovery Processes for

People With Borderline Personality Disorder. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00430

- Lancaster, K., Duke, K., & Ritter, A. (2015). Producing the 'problem of drugs': A cross national-comparison of 'recovery'discourse in two Australian and British reports. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 26(7), 617-625. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2015.04.006
- Larsen, I. B., Friesinger, J. G., Strømland, M., & Topor, A. (2021). You realise you are better when you want to live, want to go out, want to see people: Recovery as assemblage. *Int J Soc Psychiatry*, 207640211019452. doi:10.1177/00207640211019452
- Laudet, A. B., Morgen, K., & White, W. L. (2006). The role of social supports, spirituality, religiousness, life meaning and affiliation with 12-step fellowships in quality of life satisfaction among individuals in recovery from alcohol and drug problems. *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly*, 24(1-2), 33-73. doi:10.1300/J020v24n01 04
- Laudet, A. B., & White, W. L. (2008). Recovery capital as prospective predictor of sustained recovery, life satisfaction, and stress among former poly-substance users. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 43(1), 27-54. doi:10.1080/10826080701681473
- Laurita, C. (2018). The colour of emptiness: addiction and the drive. In Y. Baldwin, K. Malone, & T. Svolos (Eds.), *Lacan and addiction: An anthology* (pp. 131-144). London, UK: Karnac.
- Leamy, M., Bird, V., Le Boutillier, C., Williams, J., & Slade, M. (2011). Conceptual framework for personal recovery in mental health: systematic review and narrative synthesis. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 199(6), 445-452. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.110.083733
- Li, X., Caprioli, D., & Marchant, N. J. (2015). Recent updates on incubation of drug craving: a mini-review. Addiction Biology, 20(5), 872-876. doi:10.1111/adb.12205
- Liberman, R. P., & Kopelowicz, A. (2005). Recovery from schizophrenia: a concept in search of research. *Psychiatric services*, *56*(6), 735-742.
- Liberman, R. P., Kopelowicz, A., Ventura, J., & Gutkind, D. (2002). Operational criteria and factors related to recovery from schizophrenia. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 14(4), 256-272. doi:10.1080/0954026021000016905

n	c
Par	LOVON OOG
NPI	PIPILIPS
1.01	CICICCO

- Lookatch, S. J., Wimberly, A. S., & McKay, J. R. (2019). Effects of Social Support and 12-Step Involvement on Recovery among People in Continuing Care for Cocaine Dependence. Substance Use & Misuse, 54(13), 2144-2155. doi:10.1080/10826084.2019.1638406
- Maddux, F., & Desmond, D. P. (1986). Relapse and recovery in substance abuse careers. In F. M. Tims & C. Leukefeld (Eds.), *Relapse and recovery in drug abuse* (Vol. 72, pp. 49-72). USA: NIDA research monograph.
- Maddux, J. E. (2017). Subjective well-being and life satisfaction: an introduction to conceptions, theories, and measures. In J. E. Maddux (Ed.), *Subjective Well-Being and Life Satisfaction*: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Madsen, O. J. (2018a). *Generasjon Prestasjon: hva er det som feiler oss*. Norway: Universitetsforlaget.
- Madsen, O. J. (2018b). *The psychologization of society: on the unfolding of the therapeutic in Norway*. London and New York: Routledge.
- Maisto, S. A., Hallgren, K. A., Roos, C. R., & Witkiewitz, K. (2018). Course of remission from and relapse to heavy drinking following outpatient treatment of alcohol use disorder. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 187, 319-326. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.03.011
- Maisto, S. A., Witkiewitz, K., Moskal, D., & Wilson, A. D. (2016). Is the construct of relapse heuristic, and does it advance alcohol use disorder clinical practice? *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 77(6), 849-858. doi:10.15288/jsad.2016.77.849
- Martinelli, T. F., Nagelhout, G. E., Bellaert, L., Best, D., Vanderplasschen, W., & van de Mheen, D. (2020). Comparing three stages of addiction recovery: long-term recovery and its relation to housing problems, crime, occupation situation, and substance use. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy, 27*(5), 387-396. doi:10.1080/09687637.2020.1779182
- Martinelli, T. F., van de Mheen, D., Best, D., Vanderplasschen, W., & Nagelhout, G. E. (2021). Are members of mutual aid groups better equipped for addiction recovery? European cross-sectional study into recovery capital, social networks, and commitment to sobriety. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy, 28*(5), 389-398. doi:10.1080/09687637.2020.1844638

Re	fe	re	n	се	S
/					

- McCrady, B. S. (2004). To have but one true friend: implications for practice of research on alcohol use disorders and social network. *Psychol Addict Behav*, 18(2), 113-121. doi:10.1037/0893-164x.18.2.113
- McKay, J. R. (2017). Making the hard work of recovery more attractive for those with substance use disorders. *Addiction*, *112*(5), 751-757. doi:10.1111/add.13502
- McKay, J. R., & Hiller-Sturmhofel, S. (2011). Treating Alcoholism As a Chronic Disease: Approaches to Long-Term Continuing Care. *Alcohol Research & Health*, *33*(4), 356-370. Retrieved from <Go to ISI>://WOS:000288105600009
- McKay, J. R., & Hiller-Sturmhöfel, S. (2011). Treating alcoholism as a chronic disease: approaches to long-term continuing care. *Alcohol Research & Health*, *33*(4), 356-370.
- McKay, J. R., Lynch, K. G., Shepard, D. S., & Pettinati, H. M. (2005). The effectiveness of telephone-based continuing care for alcohol and cocaine dependence: 24-month outcomes. *Archives of general psychiatry*, 62(2), 199-207. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.2.199
- McKay, J. R., Van Horn, D. H., Lynch, K. G., Ivey, M., Cary, M. S., Drapkin, M. L., . . . Plebani, J. G. (2013). An adaptive approach for identifying cocaine dependent patients who benefit from extended continuing care. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 81(6), 1063. doi:10.1037/a0034265
- McLellan, A. T., Lewis, D. C., O'brien, C. P., & Kleber, H. D. (2000). Drug dependence, a chronic medical illness: implications for treatment, insurance, and outcomes evaluation. *Jama*, 284(13), 1689-1695. doi:10.1001/jama.284.13.1689
- McLellan, A. T., McKay, J. R., Forman, R., Cacciola, J., & Kemp, J. (2005). Reconsidering the evaluation of addiction treatment: from retrospective follow-up to concurrent recovery monitoring. *Addiction*, 100(4), 447-458. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2005.01012.x
- McNeish, D. (2019). Two-Level Dynamic Structural Equation Models with Small Samples. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 26(6), 948-966. doi:10.1080/10705511.2019.1578657

Ref	erences	

- Meneses-Gaya, C. d., Zuardi, A. W., Loureiro, S. R., & Crippa, J. A. S. (2009). Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): An updated systematic review of psychometric properties. *Psychology & Neuroscience*, 2(1), 83-97. doi:10.3922/j.psns.2009.1.12
- Mericle, A. A., Cacciola, J., Carise, D., & Miles, J. (2014). Supporting recovery in the community: six-month outcomes of clients participating in the Phoenix house Bronx community recovery center (BCRC). *Journal of Community Psychology*, 42(5), 509-518. doi:10.1002/jcop.21633
- Mertens, J. R., Flisher, A. J., Satre, D. D., & Weisner, C. M. (2008). The role of medical conditions and primary care services in 5-year substance use outcomes among chemical dependency treatment patients. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 98(1-2), 45-53. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2008.04.007.
- Meyers, R. J., Roozen, H. G., & Smith, J. E. (2011). The community reinforcement approach: An update of the evidence. *Alcohol Research & Health*, *33*(4), 380.
- Mezzina, R., Davidson, L., Borg, M., Marin, I., Topor, A., & Sells, D. (2006). The Social Nature of Recovery: Discussion and Implications for Practice. *American Journal of Psychiatric Rehabilitation*, 9(1), 63-80. doi:10.1080/15487760500339436
- Miller, L. (1985). Neuropsychological assessment of substance abusers: review and recommendations. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 2(1), 5-17. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3900432
- Miller, W. R. (1996). What is a relapse? Fifty ways to leave the wagon. *Addiction*, *91*(12s1), 15-28.
- Moe, F., & Berg, H. (2022). Treating equivalent cases differently: A comparative analysis of substance use disorder and type 2 diabetes in Norwegian treatment guidelines. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice, n/a*(n/a). doi:10.1111/jep.13693
- Moe, F., Moltu, C., McKay, J., Nesvaag, S., & Bjornestad, J. (2021). Is the relapse concept in studies of substance use disorders a 'one size fits all' concept? A systematic review of relapse operationalisations. *Drug and Alcohol Review*. doi:10.1111/dar.13401

References	

- Moe, F. D. (2020). Den opiatavhengiges streben etter uavhengighet [The opiate dependent patient's striving for independence]. *Matrix nordisk tidsskrift for psykoterapi*, 36(1).
- Moe, F. D., & de Cuzzani, P. (2022). The normativity in psychiatric nosology. An analysis of how the DSM-5's psychopathology conceptualisation can be integrated. *Philosophical Psychology*, 1-26. doi:10.1080/09515089.2022.2130745
- Moos, R. H., & Moos, B. S. (2006). Rates and predictors of relapse after natural and treated remission from alcohol use disorders. *Addiction*, 101(2), 212-222. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01310.x
- Mueller, A. S., Abrutyn, S., Pescosolido, B., & Diefendorf, S. (2021). The Social Roots of Suicide: Theorizing How the External Social World Matters to Suicide and Suicide Prevention. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2021.621569
- Muller, A. E., Skurtveit, S., & Clausen, T. (2019). Performance of the WHOQOL-BREF among Norwegian substance use disorder patients. *BMC medical research methodology*, 19(1), 44. doi:10.1186/s12874-019-0690-3
- Myers, D. G., & Smith, S. M. (2012). *Exploring social psychology*. New York: McGraw-Hill
- Mørland, J. (2017). [Rusmidler og dopaminerge atferdsregulerende systemer].
- Mørland, J., & Waal, H. (2016). *Rus og avhengighet*. Oslo: Universitetsforl.
- NESH. (2022). Forskningsetiske retningslinjer for samfunnsvitenskap, humaniora, juss og teologi. *De nasjonale forskningsetiske komiteene Oslo*.
- Ness, O., Borg, M., & Davidson, L. (2014). Facilitators and barriers in dual recovery: a literature review of first-person perspectives. *Advances in Dual Diagnosis*. doi:10.1108/ADD-02-2014-0007
- Nesvåg, S., & McKay, J. R. (2018). Feasibility and effects of digital interventions to support people in recovery from substance use disorders: Systematic review. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 20(8), e255. doi:10.2196/jmir.9873
- Nordfjærn, T. (2011). Relapse patterns among patients with substance use disorders. *Journal of Substance Use*, *16*(4), 313-329. doi:10.3109/14659890903580482

- Nørgaard, B., Draborg, E., Andreasen, J., Juhl, C. B., Yost, J., Brunnhuber, K., . . . Lund, H. (2022). Systematic reviews are rarely used to inform study design - a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Epidemiol, 145, 1-13. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2022.01.007
- Polcin, D., Korcha, R., Gupta, S., Subbaraman, M. S., & Mericle, A. A. (2016). Prevalence and Trajectories of Psychiatric Symptoms Among Sober Living House Residents. *Journal of Dual Diagnosis*, 12(2), 175-184. doi:10.1080/15504263.2016.1172910
- Popay, J., Roberts, H., Sowden, A., Petticrew, M., Arai, L., Rodgers, M., . . . Duffy, S. (2006). Guidance on the conduct of narrative synthesis in systematic reviews: A product from the ESRC methods programme Version. doi:10.13140/2.1.1018.4643
- Popper, K. (2014). *The myth of the framework: In defence of science and rationality* (M. A. Notturno Ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Price-Robertson, R., Obradovic, A., & Morgan, B. (2017). Relational recovery: beyond individualism in the recovery approach. *Advances in Mental Health*, 15(2), 108-120. doi:10.1080/18387357.2016.1243014
- Prilleltensky, I. (2020). Mattering at the intersection of psychology, philosophy, and politics. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 65(1-2), 16-34. doi:10.1002/ajcp.12368
- Prilleltensky, I. (2021). *The role of mattering in society*. Paper presented at the Nordic Conference on Relational Welfare, Online presentation.
- Proctor, S. L., & Herschman, P. L. (2014). The continuing care model of substance use treatment: what works, and when is "enough," "enough?". *Psychiatry J*, 2014, 692423. doi:10.1155/2014/692423
- Quinn, N., Bromage, B., & Rowe, M. (2020). Collective citizenship: From citizenship and mental health to citizenship and solidarity. *Social Policy & Administration*, 54(3), 361-374. doi:10.1111/spol.12551
- Ramon, S. (2018). The Place of Social Recovery in Mental Health and Related Services. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 15(6). doi:10.3390/ijerph15061052

- Rehm, J., & Shield, K. D. (2019). Global burden of disease and the impact of mental and addictive disorders. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 21(2), 1-7. doi:10.1007/s11920-019-0997-0
- Riley, A. L., Hempel, B. J., & Clasen, M. M. (2018). Sex as a biological variable: Drug use and abuse. *Physiology & behavior*, 187, 79-96. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.10.005
- Room, R. (2005). Stigma, social inequality and alcohol and drug use. *Drug* Alcohol Rev, 24(2), 143-155. doi:10.1080/09595230500102434
- Roszak, T. (2001). *The voice of the earth: An exploration of ecopsychology*. USA: Phanes Press.
- Roth, R. M., Isquith, P. K., & Gioia, G. A. (2005). Behavior rating inventory of executive function-adult version (BRIEF-A). *Lutz, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.*
- Roth, R. M., Isquith, P. K., & Gioia, G. A. (2014). Assessment of executive functioning using the Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function (BRIEF). In *Handbook of executive functioning* (pp. 301-331). New York, NY: Springer.
- Rowe, M., & Davidson, L. (2016). Recovering citizenship. Israel Journal of Psychiatry and Related Sciences, 53(1), 14-21.
- Salom, C. L., Betts, K. S., Williams, G. M., Najman, J. M., & Alati, R. (2016). Predictors of comorbid polysubstance use and mental health disorders in young adults—a latent class analysis. *Addiction*, 111(1), 156-164. doi:10.1111/add.13058
- Savov, S., & Atanassov, N. (2012). Deficits of affect mentalization in patients with drug addiction: Theoretical and clinical aspects. *ISRN Addiction*, 2013. doi:10.1155/2013/250751
- Scharff, D. E. (1996). *Object relations theory and practice: An introduction*. New York, NY, US: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Scott, C. K., Dennis, M. L., Laudet, A., Funk, R. R., & Simeone, R. S. (2011). Surviving drug addiction: The effect of treatment and abstinence on mortality. *American Journal of Public Health*, 101(4), 737-744. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2010.197038
- Shi, D., DiStefano, C., Zheng, X., Liu, R., & Jiang, Z. (2021). Fitting latent growth models with small sample sizes and non-normal missing data. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 45(2), 179-192. doi:10.1177/0165025420979365

```
References
```

- Skinner, E. A. (1996). A guide to constructs of control. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 71(3), 549. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.71.3.549
- Slade, M. (2009). *Personal recovery and mental illness: A guide for mental health professionals.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Slade, M., Leamy, M., Bacon, F., Janosik, M., Le Boutillier, C., Williams, J., & Bird, V. (2012). International differences in understanding recovery: systematic review. *Epidemiology and psychiatric* sciences, 21(4), 353-364. doi:10.1017/S2045796012000133
- Sliedrecht, W., de Waart, R., Witkiewitz, K., & Roozen, H. G. (2019). Alcohol Use Disorder relapse factors: a systematic review. *Psychiatry Research*, 278, 97-115. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2019.05.038
- Sobell, L. C., Ellingstad, T. P., & Sobell, M. B. (2000). Natural recovery from alcohol and drug problems: Methodological review of the research with suggestions for future directions. *Addiction*, *95*(5), 749-764. doi:10.1046/j.1360-0443.2000.95574911.x
- Statistisk sentralbyrå. (2020). Livskvalitet i Norge 2020. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ssb.no/sosiale-forhold-og-kriminalitet/artikler-og-publikasjoner/_attachment/433414?_ts=17554096418</u>
- Statistisk sentralbyrå. (2021). Livskvalitet i Norge 2021. Retrieved from https://www.ssb.no/sosiale-forhold-ogkriminalitet/levekar/artikler/livskvalitet-i-norge-2021/_/attachment/inline/c2d3a9a8-5dad-4745-ac05e5f2417ffec0:b844119bf0cfaaf253f214b7ac75c316792b4624/R APP2021-27_web.pdf
- Stavanger University Hospital. (2020). The National Quality Register for Substance Abuse Treatment. Retrieved from <u>https://helsestavanger.no/seksjon/KORFOR/Documents/kvarus/2022_03_02</u> <u>KvarusEngelsk_lv.pdf</u>
- Svendsen, T. S., Bjornestad, J., Slyngstad, T. E., McKay, J. R., Skaalevik, A. W., Veseth, M., ... Nesvaag, S. (2020). "Becoming myself": how participants in a longitudinal substance use disorder recovery study experienced receiving continuous feedback on their results. *Substance abuse treatment, prevention, and policy*, 15(1), 8. doi:10.1186/s13011-020-0254-x

n	c
$\boldsymbol{\nu}$	tomon oog
np	PIPILIPS
1101	CICICCO
/	

- Svendsen, T. S., Erga, A. H., Hagen, E., McKay, J. R., Njå, A. L. M., Årstad, J., & Nesvåg, S. (2017). How to maintain high retention rates in long-term research on addiction: a case report. *Journal of Social Work Practice in the Addictions*, 17(4), 374-387. doi:10.1080/1533256X.2017.1361831
- Svendsen, T. S., Veseth, M., McKay, J. R., Bjornestad, J., Erga, A. H., Moltu, C., & Nesvåg, S. (2021). Securing Participant Engagement in Longitudinal Substance Use Disorder Recovery Research: A Qualitative Exploration of Key Retention Factors. *Journal of Psychosocial Rehabilitation and Mental Health*, 8(3), 247-259. doi:10.1007/s40737-021-00222-y
- Terracciano, A., Löckenhoff, C. E., Crum, R. M., Bienvenu, O. J., & Costa, P. T. (2008). Five-Factor Model personality profiles of drug users. *BMC Psychiatry*, 8(1), 1-10. doi:10.1186/1471-244X-8-22
- The Betty Ford Institute Consensus Panel. (2007). What is recovery? A working definition from the Betty Ford Institute. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 33(3), 221-228. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2007.06.001
- Thirioux, B., Harika-Germaneau, G., Langbour, N., & Jaafari, N. (2020).
 The Relation Between Empathy and Insight in Psychiatric Disorders: Phenomenological, Etiological, and Neuro-Functional Mechanisms. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 10. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00966
- Thompson, T. P., Horrell, J., Taylor, A. H., Wanner, A., Husk, K., Creanor, S., . . . Wallace, G. (2020). Physical activity and the prevention, reduction, and treatment of alcohol and other drug use across the lifespan (The PHASE review): A systematic review. *Ment. Health Phys. Act.*, 19, 100360. doi:10.1016/j.mhpa.2020.100360
- Tiffany, S. T., Friedman, L., Greenfield, S. F., Hasin, D. S., & Jackson, R. (2012). Beyond drug use: a systematic consideration of other outcomes in evaluations of treatments for substance use disorders. *Addiction*, 107(4), 709-718. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03581.x
- Topor, A., Boe, T. D., & Larsen, I. B. (2022). The Lost Social Context of Recovery Psychiatrization of a Social Process. *Frontiers in Sociology*, 7. doi:10.3389/fsoc.2022.832201

- Topor, A., Borg, M., Di Girolamo, S., & Davidson, L. (2011). Not just an individual journey: Social aspects of recovery. *International journal of social psychiatry*, 57(1), 90-99. doi:10.1177/0020764009345062
- Topor, A., Bøe, T. D., & Larsen, I. B. (2018). Small Things, Micro-Affirmations and Helpful Professionals Everyday Recovery-Orientated Practices According to Persons with Mental Health Problems. *Community Ment Health J*, 54(8), 1212-1220. doi:10.1007/s10597-018-0245-9
- UK Drug Policy Commission. (2008). The UK Policy Commission Recovery Consensus Group. A Vision of Recovery. July 2008: UK Drug Policy Commission.
- van Melick, M., McCartney, D., & Best, D. (2013). Ongoing Recovery Support and Peer Networks: A Preliminary Investigation of Recovery Peer Supporters and Their Peers. *Journal of Groups in Addiction & Recovery*, 8(3), 185-199. doi:10.1080/1556035X.2013.785211
- van Olphen, J., Eliason, M. J., Freudenberg, N., & Barnes, M. (2009). Nowhere to go: How stigma limits the options of female drug users after release from jail. *Substance abuse treatment*, *prevention, and policy*, 4(1), 10. doi:10.1186/1747-597X-4-10
- Van Steenberghe, T., Vanderplasschen, W., Bellaert, L., & De Maeyer, J. (2021). Photovoicing interconnected sources of recovery capital of women with a drug use history. *Drugs: Education*, *Prevention and Policy*, 28(5), 411-425. doi:10.1080/09687637.2021.1931033
- VandenBos, G. R. (2007). APA dictionary of psychology (G. R. VandenBos Ed.): American Psychological Association.
- Vanderplasschen, W., & Best, D. (2021). Mechanisms and mediators of addiction recovery. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, 28(5), 385-388. doi:10.1080/09687637.2021.1982521
- Veseth, M., Moltu, C., Svendsen, T. S., Nesvåg, S., Slyngstad, T. E., Skaalevik, A. W., & Bjornestad, J. (2019). A Stabilizing and Destabilizing Social World: Close Relationships and Recovery Processes in SUD. Journal of Psychosocial Rehabilitation and Mental Health, 6(1), 93-106. doi:10.1007/s40737-019-00137-9
- Veseth, M., Svendsen, T. S., Nesvaag, S., Moltu, C., Davidson, L., & Bjornestad, J. (2021). "And then the rest happened"—A

qualitative exploration of the role that meaningful activities play in recovery processes for people with a diagnosis of substance use disorder. *Substance Abuse*, 1-7. doi:10.1080/08897077.2021.1941506

- Vigdal, M. I., Moltu, C., Bjornestad, J., & Selseng, L. B. (2022). Social recovery in substance use disorder: A metasynthesis of qualitative studies. *Drug and Alcohol Review*. doi:10.1111/dar.13434
- Voluse, A. C., Gioia, C. J., Sobell, L. C., Dum, M., Sobell, M. B., & Simco, E. R. (2012). Psychometric properties of the Drug Use Disorders Identification Test (DUDIT) with substance abusers in outpatient and residential treatment. *Addictive behaviors*, 37(1), 36-41. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2011.07.030
- Von Heimburg, D., & Ness, O. (2021). Relational welfare: a socially just response to co-creating health and wellbeing for all. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 49(6), 639-652. doi:10.1177/1403494820970815
- von Peter, S., Bergstrøm, T., Nenoff-Herchenbach, I., Hopfenbeck, M. S., Pocobello, R., Aderhold, V., . . . Heumann, K. (2021). Dialogue as a Response to the Psychiatrization of Society? Potentials of the Open Dialogue Approach. *Frontiers in Sociology*, 6. doi:10.3389/fsoc.2021.806437
- Weisner, C., Ray, G., Mertens, J. R., Satre, D. D., & Moore, C. (2003). Short-term alcohol and drug treatment outcomes predict longterm outcome. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 71(3), 281-294. doi:10.1016/S0376-8716%2803%2900167-4
- Weller, B. E., Bowen, N. K., & Faubert, S. J. (2020). Latent Class Analysis: A Guide to Best Practice. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 46(4), 287-311. doi:10.1177/0095798420930932
- West, R., & Brown, J. (2013). Theory of addiction. UK: Wiley & Sons.
- Whitaker, R. (2010). Anatomy of an epidemic: Magic bullets, psychiatric drugs, and the astonishing rise of mental illness in America. USA: Broadway Books.
- White, W., & Cloud, W. (2008). Recovery capital: A primer for addictions professionals. *Counselor*, 9(5), 22-27.
- White, W. L. (2007). Addiction recovery: Its definition and conceptual boundaries. *Journal of substance abuse treatment*, *33*(3), 229-241. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2007.04.015

- White, W. L. (2009). The mobilization of community resources to support long-term addiction recovery. *Journal of substance abuse treatment*, 36(2), 146-158. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2008.10.006
- White, W. L., & Schulstad, M. (2009). Relapse following prolonged addiction recovery: Time for answers to critical questions. *Counselor*, 10(4), 36-39.
- Witkiewitz, K., Montes, K. S., Schwebel, F. J., & Tucker, J. A. (2020). What is recovery? *Alcohol research: current reviews*, 40(3), 01. doi:10.35946/arcr.v40.3.01
- Witkiewitz, K., & Tucker, J. A. (2020). Abstinence not required: Expanding the definition of recovery from alcohol use disorder. *Alcoholism, clinical and experimental research, 44*(1), 36. doi:10.1111/acer.14235
- Witkiewitz, K., Wilson, A. D., Pearson, M. R., Montes, K. S., Kirouac, M., Roos, C. R., . . . Maisto, S. A. (2019). Profiles of recovery from alcohol use disorder at three years following treatment: can the definition of recovery be extended to include high functioning heavy drinkers? *Addiction*, 114(1), 69-80. doi:10.1111/add.14403
- World Health Organization. (1993). The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders: diagnostic criteria for research (Vol. 2): World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. (2014). Mental health: A state of well-being. Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/facts-in-pictures/detail/mental-health</u>
- World Health Organization. (2017, 01.12.21). Social determinants of health. Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/social-determinants-of-health#tab=tab_1</u>
- Xie, H. Y., Drake, R. E., McHugo, G. J., Xie, L., & Mohandas, A. (2010). The 10-year course of remission, abstinence, and recovery in dual diagnosis. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 39(2), 132-140. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2010.05.011
- Young, D., & Borland, R. (2011). Conceptual challenges in the translation of research into practice: it's not just a matter of "communication". *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 1(2), 256-269. doi:10.1007/s13142-011-0035-1
- Zakiniaeiz, Y., & Potenza, M. N. (2018). Gender-related differences in addiction: a review of human studies. *Current opinion in*

References	
./	

behavioral sciences, 23, 171-175. doi:10.1016/j.cobeha.2018.08.004

- Ziliak, S., & McCloskey, D. N. (2008). *The cult of statistical significance: How the standard error costs us jobs, justice, and lives*: University of Michigan Press.
- Aakerholt, A., & Nesvåg, S. (2012). Stortingsmelding om den nasjonale rusmiddelpolitikken–Forløp og kunnskapsoppsummering: Tilgjengelighet, kontinuitet og individualisering (White paper on the national drug policy–Progress and knowledge report: Availability, continuity and individualisation). KORFOR, Norway: Stavanger University Hospital.
- Aanesen, K. H. (2021). Bourdieu om kapitalformer og habitus [Bourdieu on forms of capital and habitus]. Retrieved from <u>https://ndla.no/nb/subject:1:fb6ad516-0108-4059-acc3-</u> <u>3c5f13f49368/topic:1:f77c8919-a904-41b3-88a4-</u> <u>34281c13627c/topic:1:b5a3b203-17cc-41d5-95b0-</u> <u>64f44b8700fc/resource:aff36be6-c79d-41e0-927f-</u> <u>3903c7b21c15</u>

14 Figure 1 – flow chart

Time	Baseline assessment (N	l=164)
	Sample cha	racteristics
Drop out (N=15)	Characteristic	N
	In a self-help group	58
Died (N=0)	Outpatient versus inpatient	57/90
Withdrew (N=10)	Therapy sessions per week	0 = 10 / ≥ 1 = 47
Lost to follow up	In treatment last three months	Yes = 147 / No = 17
(N=5)	Motivation for treatment	Inner motivation = 84
Other (N=0) ;		
	1 year assessment (N=	.149)
Drop out (N=12)	Sample ch	aracteristics
Died (N=3)	In a celf help group	N
Withdrew (N=8)	Outpatient versus inpatient	53 62 / 36
	Therapy sessions per week	0-16/>1-47
(N=1)	In treatment last three months	Ves = 98 / No = 48
Other (N=0)	Motivation for treatment	Inner motivation = 7
		outer motivation = 61
	2 year assessment (N=	:137)
	Sample ch	aracteristics
	Characteristic	N
Died (N=2)	In a self-help group	28
Withdrew (N=2)	Outpatient versus inpatient	57 / 25
Lost to follow up	Therapy sessions per week	0 = 15 / ≥ 1 = 26
(N=3)	In treatment last three months	Yes = 66 / No = 60
Other (N=0)	Motivation for treatment	Inner motivation = 7 outer motivation = 66
	3 year assessment (N=	130)
	Sample ch	aracteristics
Drop out (N=4)	Sample ch	aracteristics
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group	aracteristics N 21
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient	aracteristics
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week	aracteristics
Drop out (N=4) - Died (N=1) - Withdrew (N=3) - Lost to follow up (N=0)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months	aracteristics
Drop out (N=4) Orea out (N=3) Used to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment	aracteristics
Drop out (N=4) - - Withdrew (N=3) - Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment	N 21 $32/19$ $0 = 14 / \ge 1 = 20$ Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N=	N 21 $32/19$ $0 = 14 / \ge 1 = 20$ Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49 126
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0) Drop out (N=2)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N= Sample ch	aracteristics N 21 $32/19$ $0 = 14 / \ge 1 = 20$ Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49 :126)
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0) Drop out (N=2)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N= Sample ch Characteristic	aracteristics N 21 32 / 19 32 / 19 0 = 14 / ≥ 1 = 20 Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 Inner motivation = 49
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Unit drew (N=3) Unit drew (N=3) Unit drew (N=0) Other (N=0) Drop out (N=2) Died (N=0)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N= Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group	N 21 32 / 19 0 = 14 / ≥ 1 = 20 Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49 :126) aracteristics N 15 15
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0) Drop out (N=2) Died (N=0) Withdrew (N=0)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N= Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Threese reach	N 21 32 / 19 0 = 14 / ≥ 1 = 20 Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49 :126) aracteristics N 15 19 / 21 0 - 12 / 21 - 25
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0) Drop out (N=2) Uited (N=0) Uithdrew (N=0) Lost to follow up (N=2) Uited (N=0) Uited (N=0)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N= Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week	N 21 32 / 19 $0 = 14 / \ge 1 = 20$ Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49 126 aracteristics N 15 19 / 21 $0 = 13 / \ge 1 = 15$ Yes = 50 / Iter = 52
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0) Drop out (N=2) Uited (N=0) Uithdrew (N=0) Lost to follow up (N=2) Other (N=0)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N= Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment	N 21 32 / 19 $0 = 14 / \ge 1 = 20$ Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49 126 aracteristics N 15 19 / 21 0 = 13 / ≥ 1 = 15 Yes = 31 / No = 52 Inner motivation = 1
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0) Ure (N=0) Withdrew (N=0) Use to follow up (N=2) Use to follow up (N=2) Other (N=0)	Sample ch. Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N= Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment	N 21 32 / 19 $0 = 14 / \ge 1 = 20$ Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49 :126) aracteristics N 15 19 / 21 0 = 13 / ≥ 1 = 15 Yes = 31 / No = 52 Inner motivation = 1 outer motivation = 39
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0) Other (N=0) Urop out (N=2) Urop out (N=2) Urot to follow up (N=2) Other (N=0) Urot to follow up (N=2) Other (N=0) Other (N=0)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N= Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 5 year assessment (N=	N 21 32 / 19 0 = 14 / ≥ 1 = 20 Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49 ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0) Drop out (N=2) Died (N=0) Uthdrew (N=0) Lost to follow up (N=2) Other (N=0) Other (N=0)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N= Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 5 year assessment (N= Sample che	aracteristics N 21 32 / 19 $0 = 14 / \ge 1 = 20$ Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49 126) aracteristics N 15 19 / 21 0 = 13 / $\ge 1 = 15$ Yes = 31 / No = 52 Inner motivation = 1 outer motivation = 39 :124)
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0) Other (N=0) Urop out (N=2) Other (N=0) Uthdrew (N=0) Uthdrew (N=0) (N=2) Other (N=0) Other (N=0)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N= Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 5 year assessment (N= Sample che Characteristic	N 21 $32 / 19$ $0 = 14 / \ge 1 = 20$ Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49 .126) aracteristics N 15 19 / 21 0 = 13 / ≥ 1 = 15 Yes = 31 / No = 52 Inner motivation = 1 outer motivation = 39
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0) Other (N=0) Uithdrew (N=0) Uithdrew (N=0) Uithdrew (N=0) Other (N=2) Other (N=0) Other (N=0) Other (N=0)	Sample ch. Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N= Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 5 year assessment (N= Characteristic In a self-help group	N 21 32 / 19 0 = 14 / ≥ 1 = 20 Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49 :126) aracteristics N 15 19 / 21 0 = 13 / ≥ 1 = 15 Yes = 31 / No = 52 Inner motivation = 1 outer motivation = 39
Orop out (N=4) Oted (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0)	Sample ch. Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N= Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 5 year assessment (N= Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient	N 21 32 / 19 0 = 14 / \geq 1 = 20 Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49 :126) aracteristics N 15 19 / 21 0 = 13 / \geq 1 = 15 Yes = 31 / No = 52 Inner motivation = 1 outer motivation = 39 :124) aracteristics N 9 4 / 33
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0) Other (N=0) Uniddrew (N=0) Uniddrew (N=0) Other (N=0) Other (N=0) Other (N=0) Other (N=0)	Sample ch. Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N= Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 5 year assessment (N= Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment	N 21 32 / 19 $0 = 14 / \ge 1 = 20$ Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49 .126) aracteristics N 15 19 / 21 0 = 13 / ≥ 1 = 15 Yes = 31 / No = 52 Inner motivation = 1 outer motivation = 39 .124) aracteristics N 9 4 / 33 0 = 9 / ≥ 1 = 18
Drop out (N=4) Died (N=1) Withdrew (N=3) Lost to follow up (N=0) Other (N=0) Other (N=0) Uniddrew (N=0) Uniddrew (N=0) Other (N=0) Other (N=0) Other (N=0) Other (N=0)	Sample ch Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 4 year assessment (N= Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment 5 year assessment (N= Characteristic In a self-help group Outpatient versus inpatient Therapy sessions per week In treatment last three months Motivation for treatment	N 21 32 / 19 0 = 14 / \geq 1 = 20 Yes = 50 / No = 70 Inner motivation = 4 outer motivation = 49 .126) aracteristics N 15 19 / 21 0 = 13 / \geq 1 = 15 Yes = 31 / No = 52 Inner motivation = 1 outer motivation = 39 .124) aracteristics N 9 4 / 33 0 = 9 / 2 1 = 18 Yes = 6 / No = 1 buscent theorematicance

15 Papers



COMPREHENSIVE REVIEW

Is the relapse concept in studies of substance use disorders a 'one size fits all' concept? A systematic review of relapse operationalisations

FREDRIK D. MOE¹ ⁰, CHRISTIAN MOLTU² ⁰, JAMES R. McKAY^{3,4,5} ⁰, SVERRE NESVÅG^{5,6} ⁰ & JONE BJORNESTAD^{1,2,7} ⁰

¹Department of Social Studies, Faculty of Social Sciences, University of Stavanger, Stavanger, Norway, ²Department of Psychiatry, District General Hospital of Førde, Førde, Norway, ³Department of Psychiatry, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, USA, ⁴Philadelphia VA Medical Center, Philadelphia, USA, ⁶Centre for Alcohol and Drug Research, Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger, Norway, ⁶Department of Public Health, Faculty of Health, University of Stavanger, Stavanger, Norway, and ⁷TIPS—Network for Clinical Research in Psychosis, Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger, Norway

Abstract Issues. Relapse is a theoretical construct and empirical object of inquiry. It is unclear how relapse is operationalised with regard to the various phases in substance use disorders (SUD). The aim was to investigate relapse operationalisations in SUDs studies after short- and long-term abstinence and remission, recovery and sliplapse. Approach. Systematic review using the following databases: Epistemonikos, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL and DARE), MEDLINE, EMBASE, Google Scholar, CINAHL, Web of Science and PsycINFO. Search returned 3426 articles, with 276 meeting the following inclusion criteria: empirical study published in English in a peer-reviewed journal; samples meet diagnostic criteria for dependence syntheme or nuclear use disorder or alcohol use disorder; reports relapse, absti-nence, recovery, remission, slip or lapse. Review protocol registration: PROSPERO (CRD42020154062). Key Findings. Thirty-two percent of the studies had no definition of 'relapse'. Most relapse operationalisations were defined according to mea-sure (26%), time (17%), use (26%) ontained a definition of 'long-term abstinence'. Of the 64 studies with a follow-up duration of more than 2 years, four (6%) contained a definition of 'long-term abstinence'. Of those, one (2%) mentioned 'early relapse' and one (2%) mentioned 'late relapse'. Implications, Future research is needed to explore the possible difference between early and late relapse. Moreover, working to increase consensus on relapse operationalisations is VLD research is to arranted. Conclu-sions. We identified no consensus on relapse operationalisations nor agreement on the differentiation between early and late relapse. The clinical utility of current relapse operationalisations nor agreement on the difference early and late relapse. The clinical utility of current relapse operationalisations seems low and may compromise knowledge accumulation relapse. The clinical utility of current relapse operationalisations seems for and may compromise knowledge accumulation about relapse and implementation of research into treatment. [Moe FD, Moltu C, McKay JR, Nesvåg S, Bjornestad J. Is the relapse concept in studies of substance use disorders a 'one size fits all' concept? A systematic review of relapse operationalisations. Drug Alcohol Rev 2021]

Key words: systematic review, substance use disorder, relapse, long-term abstinence, recovery.

Introduction

Substance use disorder (SUD) is most often defined as a chronic illness [1,2] involving a common repeating cycle of abstinence and relapse [3]. 'Relapse' refers to a return to a previous level of substance use after a period of considerable reduction or abstinence from substance use

Miller [4] argues that the dichotomous classification of abstinence and relapse is too simple for such complex phenomena. He shows that the definition of the 'relapse' concept is elusive and does not adequately reflect how behaviour change occurs in SUD. For example, research shows that recovery and remission include periods of abstinence with gradual

Fredrik D. Moe PhD Fellow, Christian Moltu PhD, Professor, James R. McKay PhD, Professor, Sverre Nesväg PhD, Head of Research, Professor II, Jone Bjornestad PhD, Professor. Correspondence to: Mr Fredrik Moe, Department of Social Studies, Faculty of Social Seciences, University of Stavanger, PO Box 6800 FORUS, 4036 Stavanger, Norway, Tel: +474 4679 1163; B-mail: fredrik..dmoe@uisn.no

Received 18 May 2021; accepted for publication 4 October 2021.

© 2021 The Authors. Drug and Alcohol Review published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drugs. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

2 F. D. Moe et al.

improvement in substance use and other psychosocial areas [4,5]; where periods of substance use and abstinence are common (for some people but not all). Thus, a binary distinction between abstinence and relapse does not capture that recovery is an ongoing dynamic behaviour change process, including diverse pathways, to attain and maintain recovery [6]. In this regard, Miller [4] shows how the 'relapse' concept is related to recovery and remission, and in turn, they are dynamic phenomena rather than static. Likewise, a common definition of relapse might be challenging to pinpoint, and thus specific definitions might be more useful. For example, a relapse might differ depending on the type of substance misuse, population character-istics and context. Additionally, a binary definition of relapse may leave out the subtle difference between a relapse and a slipe or lapse, that is, a minor set-back not as severe as a relapse.

Moreover, research on relapse, remission and recovery, both in SUD and in related fields, demonstrates that there is a plausible difference in causal factors between early and late relapse. In the long term, positive changes in functioning, including social and professional functioning, as well as a sense of community belonging and identity change, are more protracted processes than symptomatic relief or symptomatic remission [7-10]. Research by Martinelli et al. [11] shows that recovery is a gradual, long-term process that includes distinct phases involving various life domains beyond abstinence. Such results indicate that recovery is an ongoing dynamic process of behavioural change [6]. Individuals in long-term recovery typically have fewer problems related to housing, criminality and substance use, and they are more likely to have work or attend education than individuals early in recovery [11]. Thus, late relapse plausibly involves other challenges in social behaviours and functioning compared to early relapse. Further, studies on first-year abstinence suggest that cognitive functioning and learning ability are significantly reduced during the first year of abstinence, likely making these factors more prominent in early relapse [12,13]. Moreover, the early physical demands induced by symptoms of withdrawal [14] and the need for change in nutrition and physical exercise are more prominent in early relapse [15]. Hence, early relapse will plausibly involve reduced cognitive and physical capacity. In sum, these findings underscore that early and late relapses seem related to different life domains and are hence different phenomena.

Relapse after short-term abstinence (hereafter: early relapse) is associated with depressive emotions, mental illness, unemployment and lack of social support [16–18]. Relapse after extended abstinence (hereafter: late relapse) is associated with the use of avoidant coping style, low self-efficacy and not considering problematic substance use as a problem [19].

However, there is no consensus on operationalisations of relapse [9], nor on the application of time criteria. For early relapse, some studies used 2–6 months [17] while others used 3–12 months [16]. For late relapse, some studies used 18 months [20] while others used 3 years [19]. Hence, the existing literature makes it difficult to determine whether a relapse is in fact early or late. Previous research [21] suggests that the concept of

relapse in alcohol use disorder (AUD) has low heuristic value because it is operationalised differently in different studies. A suggested solution to this problem is to define 'relapse' as an absence of abstinence [22]. However, a too narrow or too broad definition of 'relapse' may hide phase-specific needs and challenges during the course of recovery and thus make it more difficult to implement well-timed and tailored treatment efforts. Furthermore, without a coherent operationalisation of relapse, there will be a risk that the phenomenon is inadequately represented, which makes it difficult to compare study results and implementing relapse prevention. Such risk bears similarities to what Hagger [23] denotes as the 'déjà-variable' phenomenon and the 'jingle' fallacy. When these concepts are taken together, they refer to the presumption that the same construct has similar meaning across studies when, in fact, different terminology has been applied to the same construct. This might lead reviewers to conclude that findings of relapse are inconsistent when, in fact, it is due to inconsistent terminology.

Aim

The aim of this study is to systematically review operationalisations of relapse after short-term and long-term abstinence and remission, recovery and slip.

Method

This review followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA) guidelines [24–26]. The protocol was registered in the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO) in October 2019 (registration number: CRD42020154062) (Appendix 1).

Search strategy

Two researchers (FM and JB) independently searched the literature using the following databases: Epistemonikos, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled

© 2021 The Authors. Drug and Alcohol Review published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australiasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drugs.

Trials (CENTRAL and DARE), MEDLINE, EMBASE, Google Scholar, CINAHL, Web of Science and PsycINFO. Variations and combinations of terms targeting five main concepts were used in the search: relapse, abstinence, remission, recovery and slip (See Appendix 2 for model search). An information scientist reviewed the search queries and safeguarded that the literature search was conducted correctly. A manual literature search was also performed using reference lists of reviews and metaanalyses identified in the main search. In cases of doubt, the full-text paper was read to determine eligibility. There was no time limit for the included studies. The last search was conducted on 8 January 2021.

Eligibility criteria

The included articles had to meet all of the following criteria:

- Empirical study published in English in peerreviewed journals.
- Study sample meets diagnostic criteria for dependence syndrome in International Classification of Diseases, 10th revision [27], dependence syndrome in Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) IV [28], or moderate-severe drug use disorder or AUD in DSM-5 [29].
- Reports relapse, abstinence, recovery, remission, short- or long-term, slip or lapse.

Exclusion criteria

- Studies reporting on smoking or smoking and alcohol/AUD only.
- 2. Animal studies.
- 3. Case studies.

Data collection

All potential studies were exported into a reference citation manager (Endnote) before duplicates were removed. Two reviewers (FDM and JB) independently performed the screening of titles and abstracts and full-text analysis. In cases of doubt, the full-text paper was read to determine eligibility. The synthesis of the operationalisations (Table 1) and selection of outcomes were developed during 11 consensus meetings. Disagreements were resolved through discussion until consensus was reached. A third reviewer (JRM) was available to resolve disagreements and provide critical feedback.

Operationalisations of relapse in SUD 3

Analytic methods and data extraction procedure

A narrative synthesis was performed for the included articles. A narrative synthesis is a textual approach seeking to 'tell a story' about the findings from the included studies focusing on questions beyond the effectiveness of a particular treatment [30]. The purpose was to assess different levels of detail in operationalisations and discuss the implications of comparing and implementing studies deploying different operationalisations of the same concepts. We aimed to use this analytic approach for mapping the diversity in the field. Hence, the synthesis focused on the separate elements building up the whole of the empirically based operationalisation.

The first step for each included article was to assess sample description and substance type; length of follow-up; study aim; frequency of measuring points; operationalisations of abstinence, remission, recovery, relapse and slip; measuring instruments and other relevant information for relapse assessment. The second step was to tabulate the articles' primary findings, focusing on the operationalisations of abstinence, remission, recovery, relapse and slip. In step 3, we conducted a step-by-step thematic classification of each of the five groups of operationalisations, and operationalisations were subdivided into separate categories/themes based on similarity; for example, every operationalisation of relapse that primarily used urine analysis, breathalyser or blood sample to assess relapse was grouped under the theme 'biomarker'. In step 4, we grouped themes from step three into overarching themes. Thus, operationalisations of relapse that used biomarkers or other measuring instruments, such as Drug Use Disorder Identification Test or Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test, were grouped together under the overarching theme measure. The rationale was that measuring was a primary theme in the operationalisation of relapse (see Limitations for further elaboration).

Since each operationalisation was divided into several themes, the result was more themes than operationalisations. For example, *relapse* operationalisations often contained different time criteria and use criteria for assessing a relapse, and these criteria were subdivided into separate themes. This process led to several themes of both time criteria and use criteria. For example, when grouping time criteria together, we assessed similarity in length. Further, we determined which subdivided themes were more frequent than others. As there were several subdivided themes relating to time, time was chosen as an overarching theme, based upon agreed similarities. The rationale for subcategorising the operationalisations was to obtain a thorough overview of the relevant components of each operationalisation.

© 2021 The Authors. Drug and Alcohol Review published by John Wiley & Som Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australiasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drugs.

4 F. D. Mor et al.

Results Search results

in Figure 1.

Table 1. Number of sub-themes of the overarching themes from the operationalisations of abstinence, remission, recovery, relapse and slip from the 276 studies

Operationalisations	Abstinence, n (%)	Remission, n (%)	Recovery, n (%)	Relapse, n (%)	Slip, n (%)
Use [®]	39 (42)	12 (22)	5 (29) ^b	47 (26) ^e	9 (31) ^d
Frequency and amount of use				49 (27)	
Amount					14 (44)
Time	43 (47)	18 (33)	5 (29)	30 (17)	6 (19)
Measure	9 (9)			47 (26)	
Diagnostic criteria		20 (37)			
Psychosocial			3 (18)		
Other	2 (2)	4(7)	3 (18)	9 (5)	2 (6)

"No or some use. "Some or any use, and not previous level of use. "No or some use. "Any use.

To assess long-term studies and the frequency of To assess long-term studies and the frequency of measuring points that were used to define 'relapse' after long-term abstinence, the cut-off was set to stud-ies with a follow up of at least 2 years. Following cut-offs in remission according to diagnostic guidelines in DSM-5 and International Classification of Diseases, 11th revision (12 months) [29,31] and research (3 years) 11th revision (12 months) [29,31] and research (3 years) [32,33], our 2year criterion may be regarded as a practi-cal tool and a minimum criterion for identifying long-term studies. To determine factors relevant for defining "late relapse," we investigated time criteria for abstinence, remission and recovery since these factors are used to define periods of non-use and may be used to distinguish early from late relapse.

Operationalisations of abstinence. Three overarching Operationalisations of abstinence. Three overarching themes emerged from the tabulation of the operation-alisation of abstinence. Those were *Time* (47%), *Mea-sure* (9%) and *Use* (42%), and included 98% of the included studies. Excluded criteria were diagnostic criteria and binary statements of yes/no, because they appeared infrequently. Time reflects varying ways of operationalising time length, such as a specific number of weeks/months for early, intermediate and long-term/ sustained abstinence

sustained abstinence. Operationalisation of remission. Three overarching themes emerged from the tabulation of the operation-alisations of remission. Those were Diagnotic criteria (37%), Use (22%) and Time (33%), and included 92% of the included studies. The criteria of 'not hospitalised', into missed work' and 'no drinking problem' were excluded because they were infrequent. Diagnotic criteria reflect to what extent specific symptoms were used to assess remission. Some operationalisations stated that 0 symptoms of SUD or AUD counted as remission (50%), while others counted some but not all symptoms as indicative of remission (19%). Such operation-disations were often termed 'partial remission'. Use denotes both no use and any use of a given substance, but also some use or some specified [34], but a specified amount was often stated as a particular level of use (e.g. three counces) with a particular frequency (e.g. per day, week or month) [35,36]. Some of these operationalisations included non-use, while others used diagnostic criteria (e.g. no Research Diagnostic Criteria symptoms [37]). Time reflects the different usage of tem-poral criteria to assess remission. For example, the operationalisation of remission as abstinent for 1 to 36 months was categorised under Time.

Operationalisation of recovery. Three overarching themes emerged from the tabulation of the operation-alisation of recovery. Those were Psychosocial (18%),

Operationalisations of abstinence, remission, recovery, relapse and slip

The electronic search returned 3426 articles. After

The electronic search returned 3426 articles. After duplicates were removed, 1981 articles remained. A hand search of reference lists from reviews and meta-analyses returned a further 17 articles. We screened the title/abstract of the 1998 articles. A full-ext evalua-tion was conducted for 366 articles, of which 276 met the inclusion criteria and were included in the final synthesis. Details of the search results are summarised in Winner 1.

What follows is a descriptive presentation of our results. In the discussion part, we will elaborate on the intersection between the five concepts. Details of the included operationalisations of abstinence, remission, recovery, relapse and slip are summarised in Table 1.

© 2021 The Authors. Drug and Alcohol Review published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australiasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drug

Papers



Operationalisations of relapse in SUD 5

Figure 1. PRISMA diagram of study selection process. SUD, substance use disorder.

Time (29%) and Use (29%) and included 76% of the included studies. Excluded criteria were in treatment, no intoxication, measure and substance problems, as they were infrequent. Time specifications were more frequent than specific measures of recovery. *Psychoso-cial* reflects improvements in other areas of adjustment or functioning than substance use (e.g. housing, income, drug-free friendships and work/school [38]). However, not all of the studies specified the content of *psychosocial* [39]. *Time* and *Use* denote a specific time criterion (i.e. length of abstinence) and substance use

(i.e. either non-use or some use). Two studies included some use [40,41].

Operationalisation of relapse. Four overarching themes emerged from the tabulation of the operationalisation of relapse. Those were *Measure* (26%), *Time* (17%), *Use* (26%) and *Amount and frequency* (27%), and included 96% of the included studies. One operationalisation of 'relapse' used illegal behaviour as a criterion. This crite-rion was excluded from the tabulation of relapse since it

© 2021 The Authors. Drog and Alcohol Review published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drugs.

6 F. D. Mor et al.

was infrequent. Measure reflects different measuring instruments used to assess relapse. The measures used were self-reports (e.g. Drug Use Disorder Identification Test), biomarkers, interviews with family or close fri-ends, surveys and diagnostic criteria (e.g. DSM). Time ends, surveys and inagnostic criteria (e.g. DSM). *Linie* reflects the different usage of temporal criteria to assess relapse. For example, one study stated that 1 week or more of substance use counted as a relapse [42]. *Use* denotes any use of a given substances to assess relapse. *Amount and frequency* represents a specified amount of a given substance and a specified frequency of use when operationalising a relapse. For example, substance use on a semilar lof disa for more than one-prive of disa staron a regular basis on more than one-third of days from on a regular basis on more than one-third of days from first use to follow up counted as a relapse [43]. The overarching themes Measure, Use and Amount and fre-quency overlap. All three are related to consumption. However, they represent different levels of detail in operationalising relapse. Whether a study operationalises relapse as any use [44] or 60/48 g of alcohol intake for a male/female on at least one drinking occasion [45] entails different levels of detail in the conceptualisation and meanving features. and measuring of relapse.

Operationalisations of slip or lapse. In this study 'slip' Operationalisations of site or lapse. In this study 'slip and 'lapse' are considered synonyms and are used inter-changeably. Three overarching themes emerged from the tabulation of the operationalisations of slip. Those were Use (31%), Time (19%) and Amount (44%), and included 94% of the included studies. Excluded criteria were biomarker, treatment and health since they appeared infrequently. Use denotes any use, or some use, and not using a given substance at the previous level appeared mirequently. Or denotes any use, or some use, and not using a given substance at the previous level before achieving abstinence. Time represents a specified temporal criterion, such as drinking for 1 day or using a substance and then not using it for a week. Amount denotes a specified quantity of the substance used.

No operationalisation of relapse, follow-up duration and frequency of measuring points

Eighty-nine (32%) studies mentioned relapse but pro-Eighty-nine (32%) studies mentioned relapse but pro-vided no definition. One hundred and ninety-five (71%) studies had a follow-up duration of less than 2 years, while 81 studies had 2 years or more. Sixteen (6%) studies had a maximum follow-up duration of 2 years and 65 (24%) studies had more than 2 years.

2 years and 65 (24%) studies had more than 2 years. Thus, there were more studies on short-term absti-nence than on long-term abstinence. The frequency of measuring points for studies with a maximum follow-up duration of 2 years ranged from 2 to 24 (see Table 2 for details). Forty-seven of the 65 studies with longer follow-up than 2 years con-tained 0–6 measuring points during follow-up. Fifteen

© 2021 The Authors. Drug and Alcohol Review published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australiasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drug

of the 65 studies contained more measuring points. In total, 38 (47%) of the 81 studies did not provide an operationalisation of 'relapse'.

The time criteria in abstinence, remission and recovery

Forty-seven (17%) of the studies had definitions of 'abstinence' involving a time criterion specifying the duration of abstinence needed to be assessed as absti-nence. See Table 2 for details. Of these studies, 28 (10%) contained a definition of 'long-term absti-nence' or 'sustained' or 'protracted abstinence'. There were 15 different time criteria. Some of these defini-tions used *time range* as a criterion (e.g. 3-12 months). We reported the lowest number (i.e. three in 3-12 months). We also did not include a study that reported the average long-term abstinence [83]. Twenty-two (8%) studies included a definition of 'remission'. Seven studies used 26 weeks as the time criterion for abstinence to be considered remitted. Seven studies used 12 months. One study used 1-36 months. Two included moderate drinking 135,72]. Two (9%) studies contained several definition of Forty-seven (17%) of the studies had definitions of

Two (9%) studies contained several defin

Two (9%) studies contained several definitions of 'remission' [e.g. 74]. Seven (3%) studies included a definition of 'recov-ery' and five (2%) studies included a specific time cri-terion. Three studies used 12 months. One study used 2 years, while another study used 5 years. These descriptive results show different use of time criteria within and between abstinence, remission and recovery operationalisations.

Relapse after long-term abstinence

Of the studies with a follow-up duration of 96 weeks, one (6%) contained a definition of 'long-term absti-nence'. Of the studies with a follow-up duration of more than 96 weeks, four (6%) contained a definition more than 96 weeks, four (6%) contained a definition of long-term abstinnec?; one (2%) subty reported on late relapse and long-term abstinnec? one (2%) reported on early relapse and long-term abstinnec. One (6%) study with a follow-up duration of 96 weeks did not report relapse or any other definition [84]. Seventeen (27%) studies with a follow-up duration of more than 96 weeks did not report relapse or any other definition (see Table 3 for details). The remaining studies protend definitions of either 'abstingence' admittion (see Table 5 for defaults). The remaining studies reported definitions of either "abstinance", 'remission' or 'recovery', or a combination of these. In total, there were six (8%) studies mentioning long-term abstinence, of which one (1%) included early relapse and one (1%) included late relapse.

Papers

Operationalisations of relapse in SUD 7

	Time criteria			
Study	Abstinence	Remission	Recovery	
Marchesi et al. [46]	28 days			
Zou, Durazzo and Meyerhoff [47]	4-28 weeks ⁹			
Davis et al. [48], Gazdzinski, Durazzo and	24 weeks			
Meyerhoff [49], Li et al. [50]				
Currie et al. [51]	48 weeks			
Huang et al. [52], Li et al. [53]	64 weeks			
Elsheikh [54]	3 months			
Ghita et al. [55]	<4 months			
Chen et al. [56]	6-8 months			
Su et al. [57]	8 months			
Litt et al. [58]	11 months			
Trabut et al. [59]	12 months			
Yang et al. [60]	15 months			
Daig et al. [61], Prosser et al. [62]	18 months			
He et al. [63]	1 year			
Bartels et al. [64], Boulze, Launay and Nalpas [65]	2 years			
Carroll et al. [66], Zou et al. [67]	3 years			
Zhu et al. [68], Weisner et al. [69]	5 years			
Hasin, Endicott and Keller [37], Hasin et al. [70],		26 weeks		
Samet et al. [71]				
Moos and Moos [35], Moos and Moos [72],		6 months		
Xie et al. [73], Xie et al. [39].				
Dawson et al. [41], Torgersen et al. [74],		12 months		
Rumpf et al. [75], Husky et al. [76],				
Dunlop and Tracy [77]				
Thoma et al. [78], Yeh, Che and Wu [79]		1 year		
Anthenelli et al. [80]		1-36 months ^b		
Dawson et al. [41]			12 months	
Best et al. [81], Xie et al. [39]			1 year	
Bjornestad et al. [38]			2 years	
Hser [82]			5 years	

^aLong-term abstinence defined as 4-28 weeks of abstinence. ^bRemission defined as 1-36 months of abstinence.

Conceptualising relapse

Discussion

Discussion The most important finding in the present study is the detailed field description of the different operation-alisations of key concepts for understanding relapse in SUD. Such variance is a challenge to the accumulation of knowledge, which is a central aspect of normal science [150]. Time and use appeared in all operationalisations. Other overarching themes were measure, diagnostic criteria, psychosocial and amount and frequency, thus indicating that time and use are the most common fac-tors used to operationalise abstinence, remission, recov-ery, relapse and slip. However, the operationalisations varied. There were more short-tem studies than long-term studies. Among the long-term studies, one reported on early relapse and long-term abstinence. Con-sequently, this suggests that SUD research does not con-sistently differentiate between early and late relapse.

Conceptualizing relapse We find that the operationalisation of relapse varies, and it revolves around the four categories measure, time, use and amount and frequency. The four overarching themes vary across operationalisations stated that any use counted as a relapse, while others specified the amount and frequency of using a given substance needed to count as relapse. Consequently, there are different levels of detail in relapse operationalisations. Operationalisations using any use of a substance or acloch are probably comparable with each other [44,107]. However, defining 'relapse' as any use makes relapse challenging to separate from a slip. Operationalisations using reinstatement or return to the previous substance use level [151] may be more adequately categorised as *relapse* is the return of symptoms of a dis-case after a period of improvement [152].

© 2021 The Authors. Drog and Alcohol Review published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drugs.

Papers

8 F. D. Moe et al.

 Table 3. Frequency of measuring points for studies with follow up of 2 years and more than 2 years, including operationalizations of abstinence, remission, recovery, relapse and slip

Study and follow up	Frequency of measuring points	Operationalisations
Dolsen and Harvey [84] (varies), ⁸ 96 weeks	2	No ^b
Rumpf et al. [75], 96 weeks	2	Remission
McKee, Bonn-Miller and Moos [85], 96 weeks	3	Relapse
Hasin, Endicott and Keller [37], 96 weeks	4	Relapse and remission
Costa et al. [86], 96 weeks	4	Abstinence
Bartels et al. [64], 96 weeks	5	Long-term abstinence
Kopak, Haugh and Hoffmann [87], 96 weeks	5	Relapse
Loosen, Dew and Prange [88], 96 weeks	5	Abstinence and relapse
Schmidt, Helten and Soyka [89], 96 weeks	5	Abstinence
Besson et al. [90], 96 weeks	6	Relapse
Burtscheidt et al. [91], 96 weeks	6	Abstinence, lapse and relapse
Harned et al. 1921, 96 weeks	7	Relapse and remission
Corrao et al 1931, 96 weeks	8	Relapse
Scott, Dennis and Foss [94], 96 weeks	9	Recovery
Chen at al [95], 96 weeks	24	Relance
Wang et al [06] 06 maaks	25	Relapse
Tananan at al [74] 284 marks ⁰	Varian	Relapse Balance and ampianian
Torgersen et al. [74], 584 weeks	Varies	Early adapted and remission
raoure ar. [39], 200 weeks	varies	isariy relapse and long-term
Providence of 1971, 144 months	,	abstinerice
Bootn et al. [97], 144 weeks	1	NO
Decker et al. [98], 240 weeks	1	No
Dore et al. [99], 108 weeks	1	Relapse
Lloyd [100], 1008 weeks	1	Relapse and abstinence
Lucey et al. [101], median of 252 weeks	1	Relapse
Merlo et al. [102], 240 weeks	1 (retrospective chart)	No
Mutschler et al. [103], more than 200 weeks	1, not specified	Relapse
Onishi et al. [104], mean follow up 245 weeks	1, retrospective	No
Pfitzmann et al. [105], median of 356 weeks	1, retrospective	No, lapse
Wu et al. [106], 240 weeks	1	Relapse
Brecht and Herbeck [107], 240 weeks	2	Relapse and abstinence
Cushman Jr. [108], 384 weeks	2	Relapse
de Soto, O'Donnell and de Soto [109], 192 weeks	2	Relapse
Depuytter et al. [110], mean follow up of 220 weeks	2	Relapse and slip
Evans et al. [111], 480 weeks	2	No
Fernandez-Hermida et al [112], 384 weeks	2	Relapse
Haller et al. [113]. 480 weeks	2	Remission and long-term recover
Han et al. [114] 1440 marks	2	Palance
Channess Courses Adams et al [115] 128 modes	2	Ma
Marel Mills et al [116] 480 E08 marks	2	No
Marei, Mills et al. [116], 480-528 weeks	2	INO D. C. C.
Frice, Risk and Spitzhagei [117], 1200 weeks	2.	Remission
Tan et al. [118], 120 weeks	2	No
Fiser [82], 1584 weeks	3	Long-term recovery
Haastrup and Jepsen [119], 528 weeks	3	No
Lavee and Altus [120], 144 weeks	3	Late relapse and long-term
		abstinence
Rosenbloom, Pfefferbaum and Sullivan [121], 192 weeks	3	Relapse and abstinence
Li et al. [122], 240 weeks	3	Relapse
Weisner et al. [69], 240 weeks	3	Long-term abstinence
He et al. [123], 720 weeks	4	Long-term abstinence
Muller, Znoj and Moggi [124], 240 weeks	4	Abstinence
Schmeding et al. [125], 144-480 weeks	4	Recurrent
Scott, Foss and Dennis [126], 144 weeks	4	Relapse
Vanderplasschen, Bloor and McKeganey [127], 132 weeks	4	No
Finney and Moos [36], 480 weeks	5	Remission and relapse
Gual et al. [128], 960 weeks	5	Abstinence
Moos and Moos [35], 768 weeks	5	Relapse (remission)
Moor and Moor [72] 768 make	5	Non-remitted, remission
Contraction and the contraction of a state of the state o		

© 2021 The Authors. Drug and Alcohol Review published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australiasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drugs.

Operationalisations of relapse in SUD 9

Table 3. (Continued)			
Study and follow up	Frequency of measuring point	s Operationalisations	
Grella et al. [40], 288 weeks	6	Recovery	
Rubio et al. [130], 288 weeks	6	Relapse	
Vaillant et al. [131], 384 weeks	6	Remission and abstinence	
Zhu et al. [68], 240 weeks	6	Long-term opioid abstinence	
Maisto, McKay and O'Farrell [132], 120 weeks	7	Abstinence	
Kassani et al [133], 192 weeks	9	Relapse	
O'Farrell, Choquette and Cutter [134], 120 weeks	9	No	
Brunette et al. [34], 480 weeks	10	Relapse and remission	
Ge et al. [135], 240 weeks	11	Relapse	
Hasin, Endicott and Keller [136], 240 weeks	11	Relapse and remission	
Xie et al. [39], 480 weeks	11	Remission and recovery	
Mueller et al. [137], 576 weeks	15	Recurrence and recovery	
Dong and Kerr [138], 1008 weeks	16	No	
Dennis et al. [139], 192 weeks	17	No	
Hosseini et al. [140], 192 weeks	17	Relapse	
Genberg et al. [141], 960 weeks	20	Cessation	
Xie et al. [142], 480 weeks	21	Remission and relapse	
Maremmani et al. [143], 144 weeks	36	Relapse and slip	
Berlakovich et al. [144], 552 weeks	72	No	
Maisto et al. [145], 480 weeks	4	Relapse	
Huh, Kim and Hong [146], 432 weeks	1 (retrospective)	No	
Stephens et al. [147], 136 weeks	6	Abstinence	
Webb et al. [148], 192 weeks	3 (cross-sectional)	No	
Bruguera et al. [149], 336 weeks	1 (retrospective)	Lapse, relapse, abstinence	

"Some were measured more. "No means that there were no definition/operationalisation. "Expressed in weeks to show variation. This is done for all the 'more than two years' studies in the table.

Moving to the overarching theme, amount and fre-quency, specifying previous substance use makes it possible to include all levels of previous substance use and to assess the degree of a relapse. The amount and frequency of use should reflect sub-stance use levels before reduced use or non-use for he current episode of use to be classified as a relapse. In this way, one could state that the individ-all had returned to a level of previous use. However, one challenge encountered when using such a crite-rion arises from the fact that individuals who use a different substance than previously would not be classified as relapsed. Further, focusing too much on the amount and frequency may give priority to sub-stance use over other symptoms used to assess relapse, which is significant since SUD involves other factors than substance use, including social and professional functioning and other comprehen-sive and stable behavioural changes [11,153]. The operationalisation of *time* should reflect the spip. *Time* should also be related to amount and *fre-quency*, since how long a person uses, and with what frequency, gives information about the severity of the relapse. Using a *measure* to operationalise relapse was Moving to the overarching theme, amount and fre-

common. However, different measuring procedures were applied [38,154]. Measuring relapse solely by biomarkers [155] may be more useful with *any use* than with *amoust and frequency*, since biomarkers often yield binary results. However, 'relapse' defined as *any use* and measured with biomarkers cannot differentiate between relapses. Such operationalisations sustain the focus on substance use or abstinence as the most immortant near of recoverv.

between relapses. Such operationalisations sustain the focus on substance use or abstinence as the most important part of recovery. The results show that there is no consensus on the operationalisation of relapse and that operationalisations focus mostly on substance use without considering behav-ioural changes over time, such as personal and social func-tioning [9,11]. In this regard, our results are on par with Miller [4] that the 'relapse' concept is mostly perceived as a binary judgement of either abstinent or relapsed. Operationalising relapse in fibi way appears to overlook how common relapse is in SUD recovery [4]. Further, omitting that the protracted behavioural changes occurring in personal and social functioning are heterogeneous and have different pathways [6]. Conceptualising 'relapse' in a binary fashion might substantiate 'relapse' as a static phe-nomenon that is the same whenever it happens in recov-ery. As such, the 'relapse' concept may neglect the relevance of behavioural change to maintain abstinence by

© 2021 The Authors. Drug and Alcolod Review published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drugs

Papers

10 F. D. Moe et al.

focusing too much on substance reduction. Further-more, a binary conceptualisation hides that 'relapse' is a dynamic phenomenon influenced by the duration of abstinence and behavioural changes. Thus, a relapse is influenced by when it happens in the recovery process [11]. One possible consequence of viewing 'relapse' as static is that treatment studies and guidelines might differentiate poorly between early and late relapse. The various operationalisations of abstinence, remission, recovery, relapse and slip make it difficult to compare studies. Construct validity is accordingly low. Construct validity concerns the relatedness of a construct to its validity concerns the relatedness of a construct to its theoretical meaning [156]. For example, different operationalisations of remission' and recovery' indi-cate that the operationalisations are partially not related to their constructs theoretical meaning. Differ-ent operationalisations imply that different criteria are used to conceptualise and thus measure, for example, 'remission'. Since different operationalisations are used to refer to the same construct, it suggests that the operationalisations partially reflect the construct's the-oretical meaning. A similar phenomenon has been acknowledged in social psychology, where inconsistent terminology about the same construct suggests impeding the accumulation of scientific findings of the particular construct [23]. Further, since the operationalisations dif-fer about the same phenomena, their representations of validity concerns the relatedness of a construct to its fer about the same phenomena, their representations of reality differ. Thus, the same approaches may be used to prevent early and lare relapse, implying poor differentia-tion and sub-optimal treatment.

The affinity between remission, recovery and relapse

Because SUD is characteristically cyclical in nature [2,3] remission, recovery and relapse are interrelated. We find that the operationalisations of remission and recovery mainly focused on use, time, psychosocial factors and diagnostic criteria. For remission, the differences in the use criteria mainly revolved around some use or no use of a subtracter a reduce momenterencement. use criteria mainly revolved around some use or no use of a substance or other symptomatology (i.e. diagnostic criteria) [36,41,75]. Some operationalisations of remis-sion stated that 'some use' was defined as partial remis-sion [92]. An operationalisation of this kind presumes that abstinence is the primary goal in approaches to SUD. However, this operationalisation appears not to take into consideration that SUD is often a cyclic process [3]. Some of the operationalisation of recovery also more [3]. Some of the operationalisation of recovery also pre-[3]. Some of the operationalisation of recovery also pre-sumes that abstinence is the primary goal in approaches to SUD which is contrary to the theoretical meaning of recovery [6]. Thus, current operationalisations of remis-sion and recovery give precedence to abstinence. As such, they do not properly observe the degree to which personal [7,8] and social [10] functioning are seen as

© 2021 The Authors. Drug and Alexhol Review published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australiasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drug

paramount to the maintenance of stable substance reduc-tion or abstinence [9]. Moreover, remission and recovery is attainable with and without substance reduction [157,158]. Consequently, these definitions fail to capture the multidimensional and heterogenic aspect of recovery [6] and that people in recovery may function well in spite of incbirely [5]. Further, relapse is not incorporated as a common aspect of SUD recovery and remission [4] since abstinence is given precedence in research operation-alisations. Since relapse research influences SUD practice, the preference for abstinence in research operationalisations may influence clinicians' under-standing of relapse in practice. The practical implica-tion of this approach may be that a relapse is viewed as both common and a failure to recover rather than ead to poor motivation for patients in recovery, as transferring from 'full' remission or recovery to 'partial' indicates a failure in treatment, even though a relapse is expected to happen more times than not relapse is destined. a relapse is expected to happen more times than not [2,19,159,160]. Thus, overlooking that recovery involves more than abstinence and remission from competence [161].

[2,19,159,160]. Thus, overlooking that recovery involves more than abstinence and remission from symptoms [161]. There were various time criteria in the operation-alisation of remission and recovery [70,76,81,82]. The time criterion for remission was often 6 months, while for recovery, it was often 1 year. However, these time criteria appear to be too short when considering the vast behavioural changes SUD recovery requires [11]. The operationalisations of remission and recovery give priority to the ability to maintain abstinence over time while simultaneously minimising the behavioural changes needed for such maintenance [7,8,10,11]. The scope of this review was to investigate operationalisations in research, which overlaps with and influence clinical thinking. The narrow focus on abstinence makes it hard to take into account how common relapse actually is, and that relapsing is dependent on when it happens. Thus, relapse, remission and recovery cannot be assessed primarily from substance use and assessment should also take into account gradual and different behavioural changes. changes.

Future research

Pulter relearsh One approach to improving operationalisations of relapse is to interview service users about personal challenges related to short-term versus long-term absti-nence. In-depth interviews with service users may pro-vide relevant information about constituents belonging to relapse and may increase ecological validity. Such studies may guide measure development and deter-mining which time criteria to use in relapse research.

Operationalisations of relapse in SUD 11

Conflict of Interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest.

References

- Jappe in long-term abutinent slochalite. J Stud Alcohol 1998;59: 640-6.
 Mains SA, Wildsreint R, Mohal D, Wilsen AD. Is the construct of relayer herroristic, and does it abures alcohol use disorder clinical prac-tice? J Stud Alcohol Drogs 2016/77:440-58.
 Slindrecht W, der Wart R, Winkerier R, Storem HG. Alcohol use dis-order relayer factors: a systematic review. Psychiatry Res 2019;2718: 67-115.

© 2021 The Authors. Drug and Alcolod Review published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drugs

relating to personal and social recovery. By dividing SUD service users into two categories, early and late relapse, it may be possible to analyse differences in relapse patterns. Another possibility is to investigate if the 'relapse' concept could be specified according to substance type or population, hence resulting in a more specific conceptualisation of relapse rather than a global all-encompassing one. In this regard, Skinner's [162] guide to the construct of control may be used as a foundation to mitister the inconsistent terminology. a foundation to mitigate the inconsistent terminology applied to the same concept, such as relapse. Strengths and limitations re are two notable strengths of the current study.

For example, separating short-term and long-term abstinence at 1 year could be a useful starting point. Precision in conceptualisation may also increase the focus on aspects other than substance use reduction.

Thus, emphasising that other aspects than a reduction

Thus, emphasising that other aspects than a reduction of substance use are important in remission and recov-ery. Since long-term abstinence involves a long time period of refraining is important. Future studies in sta-tistical modelling could investigate change in factors relating to personal and social recovery. By dividing SUD service users into two actenories early and late

Acknowledgements

study.

There are two notable strengths of the current study. PROSPERO registration ensured that the study moto-col was publicly available before the study was con-ducted. Secondly, the review was conducted using the PRISMA guidelines. Additionally, two raters indepen-dently determined what studies were included. The incorporation of broad inclusion criteria to investigate all possible to investigate the uniformity of relapse operationalisations related to the topic made it possible to investigate the uniformity of relapse operationalisations may have been missed. Further, each operationalisation was analysed using narrative synthesis, which has methodological and conceptual limitations. Methodologically, the emerging themes were only one way of grouping the operationalisations. Hence, replicating the tabulation of operationalisations. Hence, replicating the tabulation of unvestiga-tion, not theory-driven, which might complicate apply-ing the results for theory building. Th

A special thanks to the staff at the Medical Library of Stavanger University Hospital for assistance with the literature search. No funding was received for this
12 F. D. Moe et al.

- Hagger MS. Arosking the "diji-ourishle" phenomenon: social psychology areads more guides to constructs. Front Psychol 2014;5:52.
 Hattnes R. Sahani G. Galdwell DM at al. The PRESMA extensions instemment for reporting of systematic nerview incorporating motive meta-transmitter analyses of health area thereareas incorporating at the systematic nerview and presentation of the systematic review and presentation of the systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statemmen. Systematic nerview and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statemmen. Systematic nerview and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 share-ments mut Systematic nerview and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 submontion and technological disorders. INIC 2015;140; prior.
 World Health Organization. In: IEC 20-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders. Guidees, NV als. Washinges, DC: The American Psychiatric Association, Disparsion, 1074.
 American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of metal and Artifician Via American Psychiatric Association, Diagnostic and statistical manual of metal. 2015 and artifician production (PRISMA) and the conduct of metal and production producting the production approximation and psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of metal. 2013 (2014) and a classification of a metal displacement. Note the systematic and training a psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of metal. 2013 (2014) and a classification psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of metal. 2015 psychiatric Association, 2013.

- Anneciation, 1994.
 [29] Amricine prephatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 5th eds. Arkington, YA: American Psychiatric Association, 2013. S. 5500 eds. A et al. Guidance on the candidact of annetary problems in systematic review: a product from the ESRC methods in systematic review: a product from the ESRC methods and statistical Manual-5 and international classification of Disorder-10. Ind J Sci Psychiatry 2018;15:45-462.
 [20] Zathen B, Dapanhara L, Enzigdo C et al. Systematic review of product from the test of the systematic review. Advances of the statistic of the systematic review. Advances of the systematic review of product Sci Psychiatry 2018;15:45-462.
 [21] Cataben B, Dapanhara L, Enzigdo C et al. Systematic review of product systematic review of production optical systematics and meta-malysis. Drog Alcohol Depend 2016;16:8:293-366.
 [23] Breary MJ, Divini A, Huybh C et al. Remains from machance use and relapses of mobiliance use disorders. Science B, 2016;16:8:293-366.
 [34] Breary MJ, Divini A, Huybh C et al. Systematic review of product disorders and advance and advances. Science B, 2016;16:8:293-366.
 [35] Moon RH, More BE. Protective resources and lang-term recovery from declored meta-malysis. Drog Alcohol Depend 2016;16:8:293-366.
 [36] Moon RH, More BE. Protective resources and lang-term recovery from declored meta-malysis. Drog Relation 11. In morthly, clappes and reminism rates and comparisons with commonity centres. J Stati Alcohol 1991;52:44-45.
 [37] Haim DS, Edinost J, Kalte N, RD, Koholikan is patients with commonity centres. J Stati Alcohol 1991;52:44-45.
 [38] Braney TW, Moos RH, The long-term course of treated alcoholism is maintained and theorem theory of the statistic resource of treated alcoholism in the advance and resource of the statistic resource of theorem a

- [40] Grella CE, Sorti CK, Fons MA, Dennis ML, Gender Hummers and differences in the treammert, relapse, and recovery cycle. Iroit Rev 2006; 32:113–37.
 [41] Dawon DA, Grenz HF, Simson FS, Chou PS, Hamig B, Ram W, Recovery freem DSM-IV alouhol dependence: United States, 2004–2002. Addition 2005;10:2018–0.2.
 [42] Alaramorich E, Lin XH, Samet S, Ninne R, Waxman R, Hasin D. Possibilitaries commission and in tertalionship to cocinic, Ratholt, and Possibilitaries commission and and interalismithy to cocinic, Ratholt, and Manuer H, Black DS. Moment-by-assement in Wenney's recovery: ran-domized controlled vital proceed to too the effections of a mindfunc-sion in revisionity arcmance in two distances and and intervention in revisionity arcmances for a distance and anong women in revisionity arcmances for a distance and anong women in revisionity arcmances for all opticational approach (24) Barze LD. Schemichol J, Chotenso M et al. Dynaticinal approach to the strength of the strength of the strength of the strength resonance of the strength of the strength of the strength resonance of the strength of the strength of the strength distance of the strength distance of the strength of the st

- [47] Zeo XW, Durzero TC, Meychoff DJ, Regional husin volume changes in alcohol-dependent individuals during short-strem and long-term alwinness. Alcohol Clin Bay Res 2018;42:1002–72.
 [48] Dova AK, Barogia JP, Winnham Fernma AM, Jauch M, Polanco M, Subjective effectiveness of hospins treatment for problematic apoid communitorities and angle-term advances and concentration in their and ingress moderness and concentration processors from alcohol dependence. Drag Alcohol Dynam 2005;78:263–73.
 [50] L Q, Wang YP, Zhang Y et al. Ansexing co-inducide brain response in a function of abiliance duration in hore-in-dependent individuals in a creat-effectiveness. The Alexsing co-inducide brain response in a function of abiliance duration in hore-in-dependent individuals in a creat-effectiveness. The Alexsing co-inducide brain response in a function of abiliance duration in hore-in-dependent individuals with advance in the contrast individual with many barries. The Alexsing and the analyst co-inducide brain response in a function of abiliance duration in hore-in dispersion of the analyst individual with many barries. The Alexsing and the analyst contrast individual with many barries and visual costs in individual with many barries many dispersion. The Alexsing 10:006–010–1.
 [50] Xiany L, Ziang Y, Ziany Y, Ziang W, Ying X, Shan NW. Decision-making difficitive are different and prevaled 2015/10:001–0.
 [51] Xiany L, Ziang Y, Ziany Y, Ziang Y, Zi

© 2021 The Authors. Drug and Alcohol Review published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drugs.

- Hanin D, Liu X, Nunes E, McCloud S, Samet S, Endicott J. Effects of major depression on remaining and relayer of solvance' dependence. Arch Gen Physicals 2020;29:275–40.
 Stanet S, Fenton MC, Nanes E. Grennstein E, Alasonorich E, Hanin D. Effects of independent and solvabance-induced mojor depre-sent distance. Addiction 2013;10:1115–33.
 Moos BH, Moon BS. Tratest and muterical advahches. devide solvabance 2013;20:429-43.
 Moos BH, Moon BS. Tratest and muterical advahches. Brail Rev 2007;311: 594–84.
- Hain D. Effects of malependrat and substance-induced mays depressive disorder an erasistion and strips of 3. Molecular costant and herein service and endoced and the service of the service of

- Operationalisations of relapse in SUD 13

- <page-header><page-header><list-item><list-item><list-item><list-item><list-item><list-item><list-item><list-item><list-item><list-item><list-item><list-item><table-row>
- Iong-term struktures alter.cc. Clin Neuropharascel 2011;18:4195-8.
 Ioli Quoisti Y, Kumura H, Hun T e Ai Risk of alcoholis use relapse after liver transplantation for alcoholic liver disease. World J Gastrometers12017; 23:860-75.
 Pitternam R, Schwenzer J, Reyes N, Stechofer D, Neuhas R, Nusker KL. Lang-term survival and predictors of relapse after architectic liver disease. Journal 10:1011; 20:1011-2011; 20:1011; 20:1011-2011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011-2011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:1011; 20:101; 2
- relapse to narcotics addiction an event-history analysis. Eval Rev 1995;10:123-40. [115] Johnson-Greene D, Adams KM, Gilman S et al. Effects of abstinence and relapse upon neuropsychological function and cerebral glucose

© 2021 The Authors. Drug and Alcolod Review published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drugs

14 F. D. Moe et al.

- metabolism in severe chronic akoholism. J Cam nay 1907;19:378-85. [10] Marel C, Mulik KL, Sakel T, Darke S, Ross J, Teesson M. Modelling [10] Marel C, Mulik KL, Sakel T, Darke S, Ross J, Teesson M. Modelling long-term joint trajectories of heavisu use and treatment utilisation. find-ings from the Australian Treatment Outcome Study. EclinicalMedicine and the Australian Streatment Outcome Study. EclinicalMedicine severe chronic alcoholism. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol metholiam in severe chronic skoholiam. J Clin Exp Neuropyshol 1097, 1278-85.
 Manel C, Milis KJ, Salo T, Darke S, Rou J, Tessson M. Modelling of the Antraham Teristment Outcome Study. EChnicalMedian Diagnoff and Diagnof

- [199] Dennin ML, French MT, McGolliter RE, Sont CK. The communic costs of quarterly monitoring and recovery management checkups for adults with chemic substance use disorders. J Subst Abase Trees 2011; 41:205-7.
 [104] Howskin S, Maghimbeigi A, Roshnards G, Momeniarbet F, Evolution of dug glubac relipses core use for adult with ymodel. Oneog Public E Health Res Perspect 2014;5:92-8.
 [114] Tashong BL, Gange SJ, Mow JL, Cowe JD, Park GD, Malan SH. Tarset JL, Chang CJ, Kan ML, Dark REJ, Soreni CJ, Malan SH. Tarset JL, Market JL, Kan JL, Kalkago GJ, Fest MR, Drake REJ, Sreeni section on relapse prevention: unbitance abase relapse in a tensyne prospecial follow-2005 of 61282-7.
 [113] Macemannial AGI, Bacciandi S, Rovis L *et al.* Site-month outcome in the tensor in the strenge properties follow-2005 of 61282-7.
 [124] Berkhavich GA, Steininger R, Herbie F, Barlen M, Medlack MJ, Halgmer KJ, Roux CG, Stom JL, Wilferstu K, Puttern of transitions and compliance. Transplantation 199(4):5150-5.
 [126] Maless SA, Hallgure KJ, Roux CG, Stom JL, Yong YM, Hallgure KJ, Roux CK, Stom JL, Yong YM, Hallang KJ, Roux CK, Stom JL, Yong YM, Hallang KJ, Hallang KJ, Hallang KJ, Hallang KJ, Hallang KJ, Hallang KJ, Rankot CA, Porge TM, Yong YM, Hallang KJ, Hallang KJ, KM, KHang Y, Hange KJ, Hallang KJ, Hange KJ, Hallang KJ,

© 2021 The Authors. Drug and Alcohol Review published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drugs.

Papers

Operationalisations of relapse in SUD 15

Appendix 1

Medline search for replication

Database(s): Ovid MEDLINE(R) ALL 1946 to 7 January 2021 Search Strategy: relapse update

#	Searches	Result
1	substance-related disorders/ or amphetamine-related	
	disorders/ or cocaine-related disorders/ or heroin	
	dependence/ or inhalant abuse/ or marijuana abuse/ or	
	opioid-related disorders/ or morphine dependence/ or opium	
	dependence/ or phencyclidine abuse/ or psychoses,	
	substance-induced/ or substance abuse, intravenous/ or	
	substance abuse, oral/	
2	((heroin or marijuana or marihuana or hashish or cannabis*	
	or amphetamine* or opioid* or cocaine or opiate* or opium*	
	or morphine* or ecstasy or methamphetamine* or polydrug*	
	or 'poly-drug*' or 'poly substance*' or 'polysubstance*' or	
	multidrug* or 'multi drug*' or solvent or inhalant* or	
	narcotic* or drug* or substance*) adj2 (abus* or misus* or	
	addict* or dependen* or 'use*' or usage* or disorder*)).	
	hw,kf,ti,ab.	
3	(sud or suds or sniff* or narcotism or addicts or addiction).	
	hw,kf,ti,ab.	
4	Alcohol-Related Disorders/ or alcoholism/	
5	(alcohol* adj2 (abus* or misus* or addict* or dependen* or	
	"use*" or usage* or disorder*)).hw,kf,ti,ab.	
6	(problem adj2 drinking).kf,ti,ab.	
7	(aud or auds).kf,ti,ab.	
8	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7	
9	((recovery or recovering or autorecovery or remission or	
	sober or sobriety or abstinen* or abstained or "drug free" or	
	'alcohol free') adj3 (full or longterm* or 'long term*' or	
	prolong* or 'long last*' or longlast* or lengthy or stable)).	
	kr,n,*a0.	
10	alconol abstinence/	
11	(run or tongterm* or tong term* or protong* or tong last*	
12	or ionglast* or lengthy or stable).kt,n,ab.	
12	10 and 11	
13	9 of 12 (minute an exercise and an investigation) but it who	
15	(remps' or recurrence" or mpse, or supj.m,n,ab.	
16	14 or 16	
17	14 01 13 8 and 13 and 16	
18	s and 15 and 10	
10	renove dupicates from 17	
20	tabasso m titl	
21	constion to title	
22	nicotina m tit	
23	19 or 20 or 21 or 22	
24	18 not 23	
25	exp animals/ not humans sh	
26	24 not 25	353
27	limit 26 to $(dt = 20.200.304 - 20.210.108 \text{ at } rd = 20.200.304 - 20.200.3000 - 20.200.3000 - 20.2000 - 20.200000000000000000000$	77

© 2021 The Authors. Drug and Alcohol Review published by John Wiley & Soms Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drugs.

16 F. D. Moe et al.

Appendix 2

Deviation from the study protocol

- Debuation from ne snacy protocol
 Change of title and aim: focus shifted to investigating operationalisations of relapse after short-term and long-term abstinence and remission, recovery, and slip rather than focusing on relapse and lapse patterns and related trajectories.
 Included studies with alcohol use disorder or alcohol detoxification.
 Excluded studies with moking, and smoking and alcohol.
 Completion date was extended. The reason was that the review process took longer time.
 A fifth co-author was included, which was not mentioned during PROSPERO registration.

© 2021 The Authors. Drug and Alcohol Review published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Australiasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drugs.

List of Publications

Paper I – Is the relapse concept in studies of SUD "A one size fits all" concept? A systematic review of relapse operationalisations

Paper II – The predicting role of psychological functioning in remission and recovery in substance use disorder across 5 years

Paper III – Changes in the trajectories of drug-free friendships and substance use among a cohort of individuals with multiple substance use disorders